
Cabinet

Wednesday 23 November 2022 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

Item Discussion Portfolio

1 Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence.

Leader of the 
Council

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 16)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 2022 
(minutes attached).

Leader of the 
Council

3 Declarations of Interest 

To  declare any pecuniary or personal interests relating to specific 
matters on the agenda.

Please see information note (1) at the end of the agenda

Leader of the 
Council

4 Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Written questions 

To answer any written questions from a County Councillor, (or any 
person living or working in the county, or is affected by the work of the 
County Council), about any matter which relates to any item on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

The closing date for the receipt of written questions is 4.00 pm on 
Thursday 17 November 2022.

Please submit any questions to 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

A written answer will be provided for each written question received (to 

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


23 November 2022

be presented to the questioner and to Cabinet (in advance of the 
meeting). The questions and answers will be taken as read and will not 
be read out at the meeting. At the discretion of the Leader of Council, 
each questioner ( in attendance at the meeting) will be allowed to ask 
one supplementary question (in response to the answer given to the 
original question). 

A copy of all written questions and written answers circulated at the 
meeting will be attached to the signed copy of the minutes of the 
meeting.

Urgent questions

An urgent written question may be asked by a member of the public 
about any item on the Cabinet agenda for that meeting which the 
Chairperson considers could not have been reasonably submitted by the 
deadline for the receipt of written questions, provided he or she gives 
notice of the question to the Chief Executive by 12 noon the day before 
the meeting.

Key Decisions

5 28-Day Emergency Fostering, PACE and Remand Beds (Pages 
17 - 28)

Cabinet Member - 
Children's 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

6 Children & Families Capital Programme Update (Pages 29 - 36) Cabinet Member - 
Education, Skills 
and Bus Transport

7 Home to School and Social Care Transport (Pages 37 - 50) Cabinet Member - 
Education, Skills 
and Bus Transport

8 Support to Refugees on the Homes for Ukraine (HFU) Scheme 
(Pages 51 - 70)

Cabinet Member - 
Adult Social Care 
Delivery

9 Gloucestershire Road Safety Policy (Pages 71 - 160) Cabinet Member - 
Fire, Community 
Safety and 
Libraries



23 November 2022

10 Library Strategy 2023-2028 (Pages 161 - 220) Cabinet Member - 
Fire, Community 
Safety and 
Libraries

11 Financial Monitoring Report 2022/23 (Pages 221 - 232) Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member - Finance 
and Change

Cabinet
Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr David Gray, Cllr Philip Robinson, Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, 
Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Cllr David Norman MBE, Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cllr Kathy Williams 
and Cllr Dom Morris

NOTES
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to 

make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance ( 01452 328506 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the 
meeting.

2. INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or reports 
relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the meeting, please 
contact: Stephen Bace, Head of Democratic Services :01452 324204/e-mail: 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

3. DEFINITION OF A KEY DECISION - A ‘Key Decision’ is one that is, if implemented, is likely to
 Result in significant additional expenditure or savings to the value of £500,000 or more, or
 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or more electoral divisions.

4.

5. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS - Members are required to sign the attendance list.

PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS is permitted 
subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions. Please contact Democratic 
Services (01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting. If you are 
a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the 
Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please 
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point located outside the 
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


23 November 2022



CABINET

21 September 2022

Gloucestershire
County
Council

Minutes

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE - Leader of Council
Cllr Lynden Stowe – Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Finance and Change
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning
Cllr Dave Norman – Cabinet Member for Fire, Community Safety and Libraries
Cllr Phil Robinson – Cabinet Member for Education, Skills and Bus Transport
Cllr Nick Housden – Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities
Cllr David Gray – Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning
Cllr Dom Morris – Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood

Attendance via Video Conference:

 Cllr Stephen Davies – Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years

-

Apologies:

Cllr Kathy Williams – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery

1. Apologies 

See above

2. Minutes 

The minutes were agreed as a correct record.

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations were made at the meeting.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 1 -

4. Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Two member questions were received. No supplementary questions were asked.

No public questions had been received.

5. Restoring our Rivers Scrutiny Task Group 

Cllr Phil Awford, Chair of the Scrutiny Task Group presented the report, thanking 
the officers for their support. It was a substantial piece of work originating from the 
September 2020 motion at Full Council.

The Leader thanked Cllr Awford and the task group for the work they had carried 
out.

Cllr David Gray responded that this was a welcome report and that the members 
were to be commended. He agreed broadly with the conclusions within the report 
and the importance of joined up cooperative thinking. The County Council had 
limited ability to directly influence on this issue, but could have a strong voice 
alongside residents and community groups. The recommendation around the 
County Council estate was noted and he felt there was an opportunity for the 
Council to take the lead with regards to that. 

Cabinet noted the report.

6. Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Duty report 2022 

Cllr Stephen Davies, sought Cabinet approval for Gloucestershire’s Childcare 
Sufficiency Duty report (2022)

Interim analysis carried out in 2022 outlined that there were currently 677 childcare 
settings, comprising 310 childminders, 155 day nurseries, 198 pre-school, 14 
nursery units in independent schools. There were 15,209 childcare places available 
for children aged 0-5 years in Gloucestershire. Since the data in the previous 
sufficiency report (end Feb 2021) to the end of May 2022, there had been a 2.8% 
decrease in the number of early years’ providers and a 1.2% increase in the overall 
number of places

Areas of immediate concern were Stroud and Dursley. This was being addressed 
and it was anticipated that additional childcare places would be available in both 
areas by the end of the year.  Work was underway to further assess supply and 
demand of childcare provision for children with SEND and children of Asylum-
seeking families and to ensure that all childcare provision could meet the cultural 
needs of all children.

The quality of childcare in Gloucestershire was high:  88.5% of child minders and 
91.9% of day care providers are graded ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’. 2.6% (14) were 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

currently rated as Requires Improvement and 1.7% (5) as Inadequate Safeguarding 
knowledge and practice had been a common theme leading to judgements of 
‘Inadequate’.  In acknowledgement of this, an audit of safeguarding knowledge, 
practice and processes in the Early years’ sector has been undertaken and a 
subsequent improvement plan developed.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Approve the Childcare Sufficiency Duty report 2022 and delegate authority to the 
Executive Director of Children’s Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Children's Safeguarding and Early Years to make any final changes prior to 
publication.

7. 2-year option to extend community and accommodation-based support 
contracts 

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin sought Cabinet approval to exercise the first 2-year 
option to extend the existing Community and Accommodation Based Support 
(CABS) call-off contracts described in Appendix 1 following the expiry of their initial 
3-year terms on 31st March 2023.

The Community and Accommodation Based Support (CABS) Framework was 
established in 2019. Community and Accommodation Based Support contracts 
were ‘called off’ the CABS Framework in April 2020 for a term of three years in the 
first instance with options to extend for a further two periods of two years each.

The Council was seeking to action the first two-year extension period which would 
run between April 2023 and March 2025. The combined value of the contracts was 
£6,285,833.  

Community Based Support Services assisted people in any form of accommodation 
and across a continuum of need from early intervention and prevention through to 
intensive support for people in crisis with high level and complex needs. 
Accommodation Based Support provided short term accommodation for homeless 
individuals who had a range of complex needs. On-site support enabled individuals 
to develop the living skills to enable them to move on to live independently in the 
community. 

CABS services supported the countywide homelessness pathway and help to 
prevent escalation of need and unplanned demand on services such as children 
and adult social care and mental health.  They also contributed to the county’s 
Ending Rough Sleeping Plan 2022 – 2025. Rough Sleeping numbers have fallen by 
around 50% since 2019.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

RESOLVED to:

Approve a 2-year extension to the term of the council’s call-off contracts described 
in Appendix 1 under the council’s Multi Provider Framework Agreement for the 
provision of Community and Accommodation Based Support Services for 
Homelessness and People in Vulnerable Circumstances that was awarded 
pursuant to a decision by Cabinet dated 30th January 2019. Such extensions shall 
commence on 1st April 2023 and be effected in accordance with the extension 
option provisions of such call-off contracts.

8. Extension of the contract for Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Support 
Service 

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin sought Cabinet approval to extend the term of a call off 
contract relating to the provision of the Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Support 
Service (GDASS) for a further period of two years on the expiry of the initial five-
year contract term.

GDASS was a countywide service providing specialist support to all victims of 
domestic abuse (female and male) aged 16 plus. Support was tailored to victims 
based on their level of need/risk with the aim of supporting their safety and the 
safety of their family. The contract extension would secure continuity of support for 
victims/survivors of domestic abuse in the county; and support delivery of the 
County Council’s new statutory duties for domestic abuse under the Domestic 
Abuse Act 2021. 

The estimated value of the two-year extension would be c. £2.2 million. The 
contract was funded from the Council’s Supporting People budget with contributions 
from Children and Families Commissioning, and the Office of Police and Crime 
Commissioner. The contract also included Domestic Abuse grant funding from the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC).

The commissioning of GDASS supported delivery of the Council’s new statutory 
duties for Domestic Abuse under the 2021 Domestic Abuse Act; and the strategic 
priorities identified in Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Strategy (2021-24). 
Approving the extension would also provide stability to wider system partners 
working on the shared domestic abuse agenda, and preserve established referral 
pathways into safeguarding, social care, health, criminal justice, and housing. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Approve the exercise of a two-year extension option (commencing 1st July 2023) 
under the council’s call off contract with GreenSquareAccord Ltd for the provision of 
the Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Support Service (GDASS).

Such call-off contract was awarded under Lot 1 of the Council’s existing 
Gloucestershire Framework Agreement for Domestic Abuse (pursuant to a decision 
by Cabinet dated 27th September 2017). The extension will be effected in 
accordance with the extension option provisions of the contract.

9. Procurement of a mental wellbeing helpline for adults, incorporating support 
for self-harm 

Cllr Nick Housden sought Cabinet approval to conduct a competitive procurement 
process for the purpose of awarding a contract for the provision of a mental 
wellbeing helpline for adults, which will incorporate support for self-harm.

The promotion of good mental health and wellbeing is a priority in the 
Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Strategy and need for mental health support 
has increased nationally and locally. 

The proposed new service would continue some of the temporary mental health 
support which the Council commissioned to help respond to the impact of the 
pandemic on mental health. Additional funding was approved for this purpose in the 
council budget. The funding would be used to provide open access support to 
people experiencing mild-moderate mental health issues, like anxiety or stress. It 
would address a gap in the county in the provision of early intervention mental 
health support which can be accessed anonymously without the need for a referral 
or appointment. 

Some of the funding had already been invested in a new mental health helpline for 
children and young people (CYP) called TIC+Chat. Cabinet approval was sought to 
invest the remainder of the new funding in a new mental wellbeing helpline for over 
18s. 

The Council already commissioned a similar helpline to provide support for self-
harm. The contract for the ‘Gloucestershire Self-Harm Helpline’ (SHHL) would  end 
in March 2023. The stand-alone service for self-harm would not be recommissioned 
and instead it was proposed that support for self-harm would be integrated into the 
new adult mental wellbeing helpline to provide a single joined up offer.  

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

There was strong support in the public consultation. 569 people responded and 
c.90% agreed with the proposed new helpline. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Director of Public Health in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Public Health and Communities to:

1. conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a contract for the 
supply of a mental wellbeing helpline for adults, incorporating support for selfharm. 
The proposed contract shall continue for an initial period of 3 years and include 
options to extend its term for two further periods of up to 2 years on each of its third 
and fifth anniversaries;

2. award such contract to the preferred tenderer;

3. determine whether to exercise the option to extend the term of such
contract for a further period of not more than 2 years on the expiry of the
initial 3-year term;

4. determine whether to exercise the option to extend the term of such
contract again for a further period of not more than 2 years on its fifth
anniversary.

10. Children and Young People's Healthier Lifestyles Programme 

Cllr Nick Housden sought Cabinet approval to conduct a competitive procurement 
process for the delivery of a community-based children and young people’s 
healthier lifestyles programme, from 1st April 2023. This service would work closely 
with children with obesity, and their families, to support them to make sustainable 
changes to their eating and physical activity habits, to achieve a healthier weight.

The contract for the current pilot children and young people’s weight management 
service would come to an end on the 31st March 2023. This meant that if the 
Council were to continue to provide weight management support for children and 
young people in Gloucestershire, they must tender for future provision. 

Pending Cabinet approval, it was the intention of the PWC Directorate to publish 
the tender by the end of September to enable a basic service offer to commence on 
1st April 2023. This service would work closely with children with obesity, and their 
families, to support them to make sustainable changes to their eating and physical 
activity habits and achieve a healthier weight.  It would work alongside other 
providers of weight management, wider children and family services (including 
family hubs) and community provision to provide an integrated weight management 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

offer which would comprise a range of activities and support including, for example, 
cooking / budgeting skills, parenting support, peer support etc. 

In February 2022 the Council committed to investing £160k annually into children’s 
weight management from April 2022 onwards. The remaining funding for children’s 
weight management (£290k) would be met annually from within the ring-fenced 
Public Health grant.

In response to a question the Cabinet Member explained it was difficult to work out 
return on investment precisely, but the impact of the service would save large sums 
of money in the long term. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Delegate  authority to the Director of Public Health, in consultation with the Lead 
Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities to:

1. Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a contract
for the supply of a children and young people’s healthier lifestyles
programme. The proposed contract shall continue for an initial period
of five years and include an option to extend its term for a further
period of not more than three years,

2. Award such contract to the preferred tenderer, and

3. Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the contract for a
further period of not more than three years on the expiry of the initial
five-year period

11. Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services 
(HMICFRS) Update 

Cllr Dave Norman sought Cabinet approval for the Improvement Plan developed in 
response to the inspection of Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue (published 27th July
2022), prior to its submission to Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabularies
and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) by 14th October 2022.

It was outlined that this was now His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and 
Fire and Rescue Services. 

This was an ongoing improvement plan and the Cabinet Member outlined the 
recommendations within the report. 

Members commented on the comprehensiveness of the report and sought 
reassurance that there was sufficient clarity amongst the detail to ensure wider 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

cultural change. This piece of work had been developed since the beginning of the 
year and the detail was required for the inspectorate. Cultural change would take 
time but was high priority and would be monitored. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:
 Acknowledge & accept the finding of the HMICFRS Report (Appendix

1)
 Approve the GFRS Improvement Plan at Appendix 2,
 Delegate authority to the Director of Fire and Community Safety to make any 

final changes to the Improvement Plan, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Fire, Community Safety and Libraries, prior to its submission to 
HMICFRS by 14th October 2022.

 Approve additional funding of £338,757, from Reserves to support the 
establishment of the Programme Management Team for a period of 18 
months, as set out in Appendix 3, to support the delivery of the Improvement 
Plan.

12. Procurement of Various GFRS Light Fleet Vehicles 

Cllr Dave Norman sought approval to procure 41 multiple type new Light Fleet Fire 
Vehicles to for Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue over the 2 year period 
commencing September 2022

£1.160 million of capital funding for the procurement of 41 light fleet vehicles, was 
secured through the MTFS process and approved at the February 2022 Full 
Council meeting. The vehicles would be procured using the Crown Commercial 
Services (CCS) Vehicle Purchase RM6060 Framework

The GFRS Light Fleet was ageing and Fire was increasing its staff capacity to 
deliver the objectives of the HMICFRS Improvement Plan The GFRS workforce 
used vehicles in order to deliver the vision and priorities of the Community Risk 
Management Plan

New vehicles would be purchased taking into account whole life cost considerations 
to ensure they are best value for money, the most fit for purpose vehicle, while 
adhering to Gloucestershire ULEV and climate change strategy. 

This included a transition of most of the vehicles from combustion engines to 
electric.  Funding for electric charging infrastructure at GFRS stations is not 
covered by this paper and is through the council’s approved budgets for EV 
infrastructure and Climate Action Fund.”

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Economy, Environment & 
Infrastructure, in consultation with Chief Fire Officer and the Cabinet Member for 
Fire, Community Safety and Libraries to:

1. Conduct a series of mini-competition processes under the Crown Commercial 
Services (CCS) Vehicle Purchase RM6060 Framework Agreement in respect of a 
series of call-off contracts for the supply of 41 various type light fleet vehicles to 
meet the business requirements, ensuring that the replacement of vehicles is 
economically advantageous and meets the requirements of the Council’s Climate 
Change Strategy during the two-year period commencing September 2022.

2. Award such call-off contracts to any preferred tenderer(s) as required.

13. Procurement of Specialist Vehicles GFRS 

Cllr Dave Norman sought approval to procure up to 3 new specialist vehicles for 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue (GFRS) over the 2-year period commencing 
September 2022.

£1.250 million of capital funding for the procurement of 3 specialist vehicles, was 
secured through the MTFS process and approved at the February 2022 Full 
Council meeting.   The vehicles would be procured using a combination of the 
NFCC Emergency Response Vehicle Framework Agreement (managed by Devon 
and Somerset FRS) and the YPO 960 Specialist Vehicle Framework Agreement.

The 3 specialist vehicles to which the report related included equipment such as 
Aerial Ladder Platform (Aerial), Incident Command Unit (ICU), Hiab Crane Unit 
(HIAB) to include chassis, bodywork, and equipment. 

New vehicles would be purchased taking into account whole life cost considerations 
to ensure they were best value for money, the most fit for purpose vehicle, while 
adhering to Gloucestershire ULEV and climate change strategy. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Economy, Environment & 
Infrastructure, in consultation with Chief Fire Officer and the Cabinet Member for 
Fire, Community Safety and Libraries to:

1. Conduct two mini-competition processes under the National Fire Chiefs Council 
Emergency Response Vehicle Framework Agreement (managed by Devon and 
Somerset FRS) in respect of two call-off contracts. Each such contract shall be for 
the supply of one specialist vehicle (HIAB Vehicle & Aerial Ladder platform) with a 
Euro 6 and greener technology engines which will be used to replace the current 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

fleet of more polluting Euro 3/4/5 engine vehicles during the two-year period 
commencing September 2022.

2. Conduct a mini competition process under the YPO 960 Specialist Vehicle 
Framework Agreement in respect of a call-off contract for the supply of a full 
specification Incident Command Unit (ICU) vehicle. Such vehicle shall be equipped 
with a Euro 6, greener technology engine which will be used to replace the current 
polluting Euro 3/4/5 engine ICU vehicle during the two-year period commencing 
September 2022.

3. Award such call-off contracts to the preferred tenderer(s).

14. Parking ICT Contracts 

Cllr Dom Morris sought Cabinet approval for the award of a parking and 
enforcement related ICT contract, divided into three separate contracts, to replace 
the council’s existing parking and enforcement related ICT services contracts.

The Parking team managed the council’s parking and enforcement activities. To 
support this the council utilised three key ICT systems, namely: A PCN Back office 
management system (including correspondence management), cashless parking 
(pay and display) system and a virtual permit management system.

The current contracts that were in place expire at the end of August 2023 and the 
council had a requirement for new contracting arrangements for these systems after 
this date.

It was proposed that Cabinet approved, without further competition, the award of 
the following three separate Call-Off Contracts under Lot 4 of the Eastern Shires 
Procurement Organisation Framework Agreement to the preferred tenderer to 
replace the council’s existing parking and enforcement related ICT services 
contracts

Each of the proposed Call-Off Contracts should continue for an initial period of 7 
years and include an option to extend their terms for a further period of not more 
than 3 years. The proposal had been arrived at following a detailed options 
appraisal and extensive market testing. The costs of the contracts could be met 
from existing parking revenue budgets. Full costs are outlined under the Resource 
Implications section of the report. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

1. Approve, without further competition, the award of the following three
separate Call-Off Contracts under Lot 4 of the Eastern Shires
Procurement Organisation (ESPO) Framework Agreement to the
preferred tenderer, namely Chipside Limited, in accordance with the direct
award criteria thereunder, for the purpose of replacing the council’s

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

existing parking and enforcement related ICT services contracts:

(a) Call-Off Contract 1: Relating to the supply of an ICT back-office endto-
end Penalty Charge Notice (PCN) management system;

(b) Call-Off Contract 2: Relating to the supply of PCN correspondence
management services;

(c) Call-Off Contract 3: Relating to the supply of a cashless parking and
permit management system.

Each of the proposed Call-Off Contracts shall continue for an initial period
of 7 years and include an option to extend their terms for a further period
of not more than 3 years.

2. Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Economy, Environment
and Infrastructure to determine whether to exercise the option to extend
the term of each of the said Call-Off Contracts for a further period of not
more than 3 years on the expiry of the initial 7-year terms.

15. The Introduction of Moving Traffic Enforcement 

Cllr Dom Morris sought Cabinet approval for the council to apply for a Designation 
Order in relation to enforcing moving traffic offences such as yellow box junctions,
prohibition of driving, gate streets, banned turns, cycle lanes, no entry, one way 
streets and weight limits from the Department for Transport (DfT) depending on the 
outcome of a statutory consultation process.

The Department for Transport had recently announced that local authorities would 
be empowered to enforce moving traffic restrictions as outlined in Part 6 of the 
Traffic Management Act 2004. It was intended that enforcement of restrictions could 
play a part in delivering corporate objectives such as improved road safety, cutting 
congestion, enabling more walking, cycling, improving public transport and creating 
more pleasant places to live.

Should the council proceed with applying for a Designation Order, and it be 
approved, he asked that Cabinet approve the enforcement of moving traffic 
restrictions at locations around the county with a focus on road safety, managing 
non-compliance, active travel and improved public transport services. 

Fourteen sites were surveyed to assess compliance of the highway restrictions in 
place, of those, five had been selected to form the basis of the application to the 
Department for Transport. The locations were detailed in the report.

It was forecast that income received from penalty charge notices would fund the 
cost of enforcement at the locations and the additional staff required to administer 

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

the process. Any surplus generated would be invested in the service or other areas 
of highways, transport or environmental improvement as outlined in the new 2022 
legislation.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

a) Approve the principle of the County Council undertaking civil enforcement of 
moving traffic restrictions utilising powers available to highway authorities under 
Part 6 of the Traffic management Act 2004

(b) Authorise a 6 week public consultation on the detail of planned civil enforcement 
of moving traffic contraventions.

(c) Authorise the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Highways and Flooding to submit an application to the Department for Transport for 
making a Designation Order for the County of Gloucestershire to enforce Moving 
Traffic Contraventions by camera under part 6 of the Traffic Management Act 2004.

(d) Authorise the delegation of all operational decisions in respect of the 
recommendations set out in paragraphs (b) and (c) above to the Executive Director 
of Economy, Environment and Infrastructure in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Highways and Flooding.

16. Financial Monitoring Report 2022/23 

Cllr Lynden Stowe provided an update on the year-end forecast for the 2022/23 
County Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets

The forecast revenue year end position based on July 2022 (Period 4) forecasts for 
the 2022/23 financial year was an overspend of £7.029 million all of which is non 
Covid-19 related.

A balanced position was forecast in relation to Covid-19 expenditure and income.

The largest non-Covid-19 variance is the £7.944 million forecast overspend in 
Children and Families and £1.35 million forecast overspend In Economy, 
Environment & Infrastructure, partially offset by the £2.618 million underspend in 
Technical & Countywide.  This continued to be primarily against the external 
placements budget, due to increasing numbers of children in care and the cost of 
placements due to limited market availability, both of which are national issues. 
Social care staffing and disability services are also over-spending

Cabinet noted the forecast capital year end position of £161.050 million.

Since approval of the 2021/22 Outturn position by Cabinet 22nd June 2022, The 
Council have subsequently been notified of the amendments to the Business Rate 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

grant funding and reported pool surpluses for 2021/22. As a result of these 
amendments the Council’s earmarked revenue reserves for 2021/22 totalled 
£202.545 million, an increase of £5.595 million from that previously reported to 
Cabinet in June 2022.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position based on July 2022 (Period
4) forecasts for the 2022/23 financial year, which is an overspend of £7.029
million all of which relates to non-Covid-19 expenditure. The Covid-19
related expenditure and income outturn is forecast to be a balanced
position.

2. Note  delivery of the £5.283 million of savings against a target of £10.987
million in 2022/23 or 48.08% of target.

3. Note  the final revised Reserves Position for 2021/22 as detailed in
Annex 1 following amendments to the Business Rate grant funding and
reported pool surpluses for 2021/22.

4. Note the forecast capital year end position as at the end of June 2022,
forecast made in July 2022 (P4) of £161.050 million against the current
budget of £163.659 million.

5. Note a virement of £600k within the Landslip programme, from the
Badgeworth Road (Reddings Bridge) Slip project to the A435 Charlton Hill
phase 2 project.

6. Approve the £734k increase to the capital programme as detailed in
Section C.

17. Proposed relocation of Gloucester Library to the former Debenhams Building 
and entering into a lease 

Cllr Lynden Stowe asked Cabinet to consider the proposal to re-locate Gloucester 
Library to the Former Debenhams building in the centre of Gloucester.

Prior to the discussion, members were advised that, should Cabinet wish to discuss 
the contents of the exempt information reported in the  Appendix 2 of the report, 
consideration would need to be given as to whether the press and public should be 
excluded from the meeting in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012.
 
Cabinet agreed to consider this item without having to refer to the exempt 
information.

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

The recommendation to relocate Gloucester Library would enable the service to 
move to a more centralised location with better visibility and accessibility which, it is 
anticipated, will lead to an increase in library use. 

It would also support the regeneration of this important building in the heart of the 
city as part of the wider plans for the creation of a new campus for teaching, 
learning and community partnerships, having been purchased by the University of 
Gloucestershire.  The move also provided opportunities for partnership working 
between the Public and University libraries which would enhance opportunities for 
the general public and University students.

Cllr Dave Norman outlined that this was a fantastic opportunity to offer a much 
improved location for these library services.  He referred to the innovation lab and 
the benefits of the new building. The move could happen at the beginning of 2024. 
The current library would remain fully operational until that point. 

Members commented that this would present many opportunities for joined up 
community service provision with the university and other partners. This was part of 
the wider regeneration work going on in the heart of the city and was a good use of 
an iconic building. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

1. Approve the relocation of the library in Gloucester from the current
location at Brunswick Road to the proposed location in the former
Debenhams building.

2. Delegate the authority to the Head of Library and Registration Services
to undertake public engagement on the detailed proposals to finalise
plans.

3. Delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Asset Management and
Property Services, in consultation with the Deputy Leader and Cabinet
Member for Finance and Change, to enter into a 25-year lease for the
property with the University of Gloucestershire.

4. Delegate authority to the Head of Library & Registration Services, in
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Fire, Community Safety and
Libraries, to :

a. conduct a competitive procurement process(es) in respect of
contract(s) for

i. the design of the public library space and to award such
contract to the preferred tenderer for the duration of up to
12 months, with an extension for up to 6 months

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

ii. the supply and installation of furniture and associated
fittings for the library and to award such contract(s) to the
preferred tenderer(s) for the duration of up to 1 year

b. award such contract(s) to the preferred tenderer(s)

c. determine whether to exercise the option to extend the contract for
the design of the public library space for a further period of not more
than 6 months on the expiry of the initial 12 month term.

18. Schedule of Proposed Disposals 

Cllr Lynden Stowe, sought Cabinet approval for the proposed Schedule of 
Disposals in order to meet capital receipts targets.

Cabinet were being asked to approve the Schedule of Disposals Appendix A 
(Exempt) which was previously declared surplus by Cabinet in March 2022, and 
confirmed that those sites not yet disposed of remained surplus to requirements

Prior to the discussion, members were advised that, should Cabinet wish to discuss 
the contents of the exempt information reported at Appendix A of the report, 
consideration would need to be given as to whether the press and public should be 
excluded from the meeting in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012.
 
Cabinet agreed to consider this item without having to refer to the exempt 
information.

Approval of the Schedule of Disposals and the declaration of these sites as surplus 
to requirements, would deliver future capital receipts.

Capital receipts received and sales agreed to date for 2022/23 currently totalled 
£2.106 million with further sales being negotiated. 

Capital receipts generated from the disposal of property would be used for overall 
financing of the capital programme. Without those receipts the cost of borrowing 
would go up and the council would incur additional revenue costs. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

1. Confirm that those sites described at Appendix A (Exempt) which have
previously been declared surplus by Cabinet in March 2022 and not yet
disposed of, continue to be declared surplus to requirements.

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

2. Delegate authority to the Assistant Director – Asset Management and
Property Services to dispose of these sites in consultation with the
Deputy Leader/Cabinet Member for Finance and Change and Council’s
Chief Financial Officer.

Leader of Council

Meeting concluded at 10:50am

Page 16



REPORT TITLE: 28-Day Emergency Fostering, PACE and Remand Beds 

Cabinet Date 23rd November 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Stephen Davies
Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years

Key Decision Yes 

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval to initiate a tendering process for a new contract or 
(as appropriate) contracts for the provision of the following three categories of 
service: (1) a 28-day same day/emergency placement service for Looked 
After Children; (2) a PACE (Police and Crime Evidence Act 1984) bed 
fostering service; and (3) a Remand Fostering service. 
This will allow a new contract or contracts to be awarded as part of 
Gloucestershire’s Sufficiency Strategy.

Recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director of Children’s 
Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early Years to:

1. Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a contract or 
(as appropriate) contracts divided into the following lots:

Lot 1: supply of up to twelve (12) emergency/28 days or fewer foster 
placements; and 

Lot 2: supply of up to three (3) Police and Criminal Evidence (PACE) 
beds to meet the needs of young people who have been arrested. 
Additionally, this lot will include the supply of up to another three (3) 
Remand foster carers for young people on remand to the Police or the 
courts. (i.e., to supply both 3 PACE beds and 3 Remand beds) 

Such lots may be awarded to the same tenderer under a single 
contract or awarded to two separate tenderers under two separate 
contracts. The proposed contract(s) shall continue for an initial period 
of five years and include an option to extend its/their terms for a further 
period of not more than two years. 

2. Award such contract(s) to the preferred tenderer(s); and 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



3. Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the term of such 
contract(s) for a further period of not more than two years on the expiry 
of the initial five-year term.

Reasons for 
Recommendations

This is to update the current arrangements, and part of implementing 
Children Services Sufficiency Strategy.

In terms of the background for resources, there is a clear need to have a 
contract given that the current arrangements have expired.  This proposal will 
achieve that goal
Our procurement strategy that we have identified is that the service will be 
procured through a single stage open tender with two lots. This approach 
allows more time for submission for a complex procurement and more time 
for evaluation of the responses.
The key resource implication and benefit is that this contract will provide a 
less expensive option than a more expensive residential provision

Resource 
Implications

The cost of the contract(s) is estimated to be a maximum of £672k per 
annum, equating to an estimated maximum value of £4.704 million over the 
lifetime of the contract (including the 2-year extension option if exercised). 
The cost of the contract(s), including an inflationary increase option (if 
deemed appropriate) will be met from within existing children’s 
commissioning budgets, specifically the External Fostering Placement 
Budget. We will consider a flexibility clause in the contract allowing a lower 
level of occupancy to reduce costs.  It is worthy of note that these are usually 
emergency placements and the alternative of which may well be more 
expensive residential provision. 

Background 
Documents

Sufficiency Strategy Children Services “Right Placement First Time” 2018 -
2021 
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1221

Statutory Authority Children Act 1989; Children and Families Act 2005

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

Countywide

Officer Wendy Williams, Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning
01452 328526
07796611068
wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 18

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1221
mailto:wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Timeline • January Tender advertised
• March Tender closing date
• April Tender awarded
• July 2023 start of contract

Page 19



Background 

1. There are three types of fostering identified in this report. Firstly, the purpose of 28-
day Fostering/ Emergency Placements is to provide a safe family home. This is on a 
short-term basis whilst there is a search for a more suitable matched placement. 
The second type of fostering identified is when a family provide a Police and 
Criminal Evidence (PACE) bed. The third type of placement is Remand fostering 
and is provided to ensure a young person can live with an approved foster family 
whilst being on remand to the Police or the courts.

2. In general terms, emergency 28-day fostering schemes provide children and young 
people with a supportive, stable home for a period of 28 days, to allow a search for 
longer-term carers.

3. When a child unexpectedly enters the care system, an emergency foster home can 
meet need whilst there is a search for a permanent home. This may include finding 
the right permanent foster carer, or reunification with the family. It is important that 
the child is in a safe, temporary home within familiar surroundings. Emergency 28-
day Fostering allows the child to stay within the boundaries of their local authority, 
ensuring that they can continue to attend their current school during the 28-day 
period and have regular access to their social worker, with whom they are familiar, 
and their family if required.

4. The 28-day window allows appropriate long-term arrangements that may include 
finding permanent foster carers who are right for that child, limiting the risk of 
multiple placements, and causing any further unnecessary distress. 28-day foster 
carers must be prepared to care for a child within a short space of time, have space 
in their home to do so, and commit to the 28-day care of that child. They must be 
compassionate and patient, and able to provide stability, at an unstable time.

5. The demands placed on the care services to meet the needs of children who come 
into care have been under pressure nationally. The purpose of fostering is to 
provide a family home for children that can meet their needs which can take days or 
weeks. 

6. The second type of fostering in this report is fostering to provide a Police and 
Criminal Evidence Act (PACE) bed. This is known as a fostering PACE bed. This 
type of service used across the country by different Local Authorities. The fostering 
PACE bed for a one-night only resource when requested by the police for a young 
person who would otherwise be in police cells overnight until they appear in court 
the next day. The main purpose of this service is to provide a familiar family home 
for a young person in distress and difficulty with the law. The alternative is a 
residential PACE bed or custody. This type of foster home has specially trained 
carers to meet the needs of young people who have been arrested. The duration of 
the placement is usually 24 hours. 

7. The third type of fostering in this report is Remand Fostering.  This is a specifically 
approved foster home. Like PACE foster carers, Remand Foster carers have 
received specific training and are keen to work with teenage young people who 

Page 20



have issues with the law.  These placements can last several weeks or months as 
guided by the Police or a remand order made by the courts.

8. The aim in this report is to ensure that these types of fostering are commissioned 
through Independent Fostering Agencies, who can meet the need across the 
county. 

9. A contract has been in place for several years to provide short term, 
emergency/same day foster placements. This contract was used to address the 
increased use of spot purchased placements often at premium costs. The capacity 
for one fostering PACE (Police and Crime Evidence Act 1984) bed was set up. This 
was based on the actual demand at that time. In 2009 the contract, and the number 
of placements identified a maximum of six at any one time. The last contract lapsed 
during the Covid pandemic, as foster carers were shielding. We are now bringing a 
new contract process to the Cabinet to take this provision to the market. 

10.The evidence of the service to date is that the provision is effective and well used. 
Our demand for Children in Care services has increased and the opportunity in this 
report is that we have the potential to meet need locally by expanding the service, 
through an inexpensive family-oriented provision. This programme would potentially 
be able to reduce the pressure on in-house fostering provision to respond to 
emergencies – therefore, supporting that team to be able to focus on long term 
matching, stability, and permanency.

11.OFSTED has recognised Gloucestershire’s improvement journey - Most children are 
living in homes with carers who understand their needs. Children are appropriately 
matched to carers, including family members, with viability assessments of family 
and friends completed promptly. However, there is not a sufficiently wide range and 
choice of placements available to meet the needs of all children in care. As a result, 
a small minority of children in larger family groups continue to live in unsuitable 
arrangements while the right home is sought. To address this issue identified by 
Ofsted the aim of this contract will be to double the availability of 28 Fostering 
Placements, also it will increase the availability of PACE and Remand Fostering 
placements which we intend will be more local to our community.

12.Over the last twelve years, there has been a significant increase in the numbers of 
children who become looked after. In 2010 the figure was approximately 450 
whereas in February 2022 the figure was 850. This is an increase of 89% in that 
period. This has stretched existing capacity, even in the last two years the growth of 
Looked After children has risen by two hundred to the current figure. 

13.Our 2022 Sufficiency Strategy called “Homes@Heart” notes that; Together with the 
high number of children starting to be in care, the number of moves has added to 
the volume of requests being dealt with by the fostering services and the Placement 
Team. This has inevitably made it harder to match children to appropriate homes 
with short-term arrangements often used which inevitably bring a subsequent move. 
Emergency and same day requests pose a particular challenge to the Placements 
Team. During the calendar year 2020 there were 254 such requests, around one in 
four of the total, and equivalent to around five per week on average. The aim of the 

Page 21



Strategy and this contract is to reduce the number of short term moves which will 
contribute to improved stability for children. It also allows the often traumatised 
young people to calm and settle.  This, in turn, allows a search where a more settled 
young person can by considered by other providers for a longer term placement.

14.The council’s contract for emergency/same day foster placement services awarded 
in 2009, has secured a localised, specialised service provided by an Independent 
Fostering Agency through their foster carers living in Gloucestershire. Excellent 
partnership collaborating with the current provider has allowed us to develop the 
service to pilot this approach. 

15.This background information informs the need for an increased provision of short-
term foster carers who can meet either 28 Day Emergency Fostering, PACE bed 
fostering and Remand fostering locally. 

Options

Option 1 – do nothing - The current arrangements

16.The council’s current arrangement for the provision of emergency/28 days or fewer 
foster placements does not contain any extension options. 

17.Without a contract in place, the council would have to spot purchase such 
placements which would be an expensive solution and lose the benefits gained 
through an innovative pilot approach that was developed by the council with the 
current service provider.  A spot purchase approach would prevent the council from 
being able to continue the development of its own innovative approach with a 
contracted partner given that it would have to constantly compete with other Local 
Authorities for available placements, hence resulting in a loss of control regarding                                
referrals. 

18.The current measures were set up when demand was half the current level of need. 
Within the service currently we have no Remand Fostering beds, we only have 
access to one PACE fostering bed in the county; the number of 28-day foster 
placements available is up to six at any one time. They are often full. 

19. In terms of Remand fostering, we currently have no commissioned provision and 
spot purchase remand fostering if it is available from an external provider.  We 
would benefit from an additional provision in the contract to have available Remand 
fostering placements.

20.We are currently unable to achieve range and choice in either placements or 
location. In terms of equity, doing nothing would exclude a potential set of new 
providers into the market. 

Option 2 – use current framework agreements

21.The Council uses a range of fostering framework agreements for procuring long and 
short-term fostering which we partner with other commissioners across the 
Southwest. These are our shared resources. These frameworks do not apply to this 
contract proposal which do not make provision for the commissioning, or the training 

Page 22



of neither Emergency Foster places, PACE beds nor Remand fostering. The 
provision of each requires specific commitments from the carers and training which 
is not part of the wider framework. We need a local contract to meet this need.

Option 3 - to procure the contract(s) proposed in the above Recommendations
22.Securing emergency provision can be a challenge and experience suggests that a 

specific, specialist service is necessary and avoids extremely high, ad hoc 
expenditure for foster placements. The council’s ‘in house’ fostering service has 
increased its provision. The in-house fostering service has a remarkably high 
occupancy rate of approximately 94%, giving little capacity or flexibility to provide for 
a designated 28-day emergency, PACE provision or remand beds. 

23.The council’s contract for emergency/same day foster placement services awarded 
in 2018 demonstrated the value of this service in terms of placement availability for 
a specified period and flexibility of placements to meet changes in demand through 
good working relationships with the providers. The benefits of the 28-day service 
include:

1) Increased capacity (for short term accommodation) which can meet spikes in 
demand. 

2) Through Trauma informed commissioning - we want our children to know they 
have stability while we find the right home for them, having 28-days provides this 
stability. 

3) An effective response is available to children and their families at the point of 
family crisis/ safeguarding concerns resulting in the need for emergency action

4) A relationship-based commissioning approach with improved working 
relationships and negotiations with the selected providers

5) 24-hour access to provision, with stability of placement for 28 days. (N.B., Prior 
to the current arrangements, young people could sometimes have emergency 
provision for only a day or two then had to move to another carer).

6) Satisfying the requirements in the Children and Young Person’s Act 2008 
regarding the local authority making available local provision to meet need using 
our sufficiency data

7) Managing costs in relation to emergency and PACE provision

24. Therefore, we propose to initiate a competitive procurement process to secure 
emergency foster, Remand and PACE placements provision over the next five years 
(with the option to extend for a further two years). We intend to ensure the 
availability of suitable placements to Looked After Children and young people. 
Initiative-taking planning and good support will also be necessary for our aim to 
continue to improve outcomes.

25.The proposed contract shall be divided into the following two. lots:
Lot 1: supply of up to twelve (12) emergency/28 days or fewer foster placements; 
and 

Lot 2: supply of up to three (3) Police and Criminal Evidence (PACE) beds in 
order to meet the needs of young people who have been arrested and up to 
three (3) remand foster placements.

Page 23



Such lots may be awarded to the same tenderer under a single contract or awarded 
to two separate tenderers under two separate contracts. The proposed contract(s) 
shall continue for an initial period of five years and include an option to extend 
its/their terms for a further period of not more than two years
Our procurement strategy that we have identified is that the service will be procured 
through a single stage open tender with two lots. This approach allows more time for 
submission for a complex procurement and more time for evaluation of the 
responses.
The estimated total contract value is up to £ 4.704 million spread over 7 years (that 
is, if the council elects to exercise its 2-year extension option).  Upon conclusion of 
the competitive tender process, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Services we intend to enter a contract arrangement with the preferred 
tenderer(s). We will determine whether to exercise the option to extend the contract 
for a further period of not more than two years on the expiry of the initial five-year 
term.

Risks 

26.There are four significant risks identified. We have reviewed the risks and identified 
mitigations to address and resolve the issues found.

a) Risk: No Provider  

Mitigation: We will undertake market management to encourage and promote 
the opportunity. With our pilot programme we know that the current provider 
is positive about the project, we hope that this provider and others may apply 
to increase capacity in this area.

b) Risk: failure to expand the provision, we may not get a second provider. The 
market is under pressure and the demand on the foster carers is high for this 
type of short-term work.

Mitigation:  this will be actioned through good market management and 
promotion. We will promote this initiative in the hope that the tender will 
produce a range and choice of providers for the council to consider. The 
support for the foster carers for this demanding role will be actioned within 
the tender as part of the contract. 

c) Risk: The PACE and Remand Fostering provision can be very demanding on 
foster carers who must be retained, and specifically trained for this type of 
service.

Mitigation: This is a highly specialised service. We will have a specific lot for 
PACE provision as some IFA’s may not wish to tender for this aspect of 
service. A specific lot about PACE will allow this to be promoted. Foster 
carers who accept this work will have a retainer and additional training which 
will be within the tender as part of the contract. This is because they will have 
to provide accommodation and a service for young people in considerable 

Page 24



distress and may have been challenging to the public. They will need to be 
providers who have no other children or vulnerable people in their property.

d) Risk: a lack of service. If a PACE, 28 Day Emergency or Remand Fostering 
service were to be unavailable children would be sent to a children’s home 
provision across the country. If a PACE or Remand bed were unavailable 
young people would be placed in a Young Offenders Institution

Mitigation: the evidence is that this model works. Our emergency provision is 
in place and is popular with the provider staff and children. The PACE 
provision has allowed young people to be away from areas restricted by the 
police whilst being safe within a family home. We will encourage new 
suppliers into the market to increase the number of providers and thereby 
increase capacity.

Financial implications

27. The cost of the contract(s) is estimated to be up to £672k per annum, equating to an 
estimated maximum value of £4,704 million over the lifetime of the 
contract(s)(including the 2-year extension if exercised). We note that any decisions 
about inflation during the contract will be met from within the Council’s allowance 
decisions for inflation. The cost of this contract will be met from within existing 
children’s commissioning budgets, specifically the Fostering Placement Budget. 
These are usually emergency placements and the alternative of which may well be 
more expensive residential provision. 

28.Whilst this initiative’s purpose is not focussed on savings and is a premium fostering 
service it remains cheaper than the residential equivalent. It would, overall, reduce 
the costs for provision for these young people where it is used. It is difficult to 
estimate take up of the provision and children move on from the premium 28-day 
service into mainstream fostering. As an example, a random case study comparison 
for the costs of three children in a 28-day fostering placement for a 6 month period 
compared to the same children being in residential during the same period could 
save up to £269k in that period. 

29.The financial implications flow from the current statistics which are as follows:
a) There has been a total of 39 Emergency/ 28Day Placements provided during the 

last full budget year. 
b) The range of 28-day fostering provision is up to seven. This changes constantly 

with different monthly totals. We note that there were no 28-day foster beds 
provided in September 2021, whilst the highest number is seven in one month 
provided in May 2021.

c) The average number of Emergency/ 28 Day Placements is 3.3 per month and 
the current demand for emergency/ PACE provision constantly exceeds 
demand. This is because we are unable to match families with young people. 
Capacity over the most recent 6-month period has been 83%. This is effectively 
at capacity and reduces our choice when making placements. The purpose of 
expansion (in line with the doubling of the number of children in care over a ten-
year period) is to increase the number of foster carers and increase range and 
choice, whilst avoiding residential costs wherever possible.

Page 25



30.The financial cost of the service today is set up to be £231k per year. A doubling of 
the service would require money from another part of the Placements 
Commissioning Budget, specifically the Fostering Placement Budget. On this basis 
a doubling of the 28 day provision would provide up to 12 Emergency 28-day foster 
homes and up to 3 PACE Fostering Beds and 3 Remand Fostering Beds to £672K 
per year. This is subject to inflation over future years. This estimate of provision is 
based on the doubling of demand within the county over the last 10 years. In 2010 
the number of children in care was approximately 450, whereas the current figure is 
just over 870. The assessment made is that a doubling of emergency fostering 
would match the increase in demand over a ten-year period. We also know that 
demand, nationally and locally, is likely to increase on current trends.

31.The proposal is to increase the PACE beds from one to three. This is to provide a 
range of provision and we plan that these beds will be across the county giving 
choice.

32.The implications of expanding this service would mean a reduction in more 
expensive residential provision. We know that the average residential provision is 
approximately £4800 per week compared to the average independent fostering cost 
is £876 per week. The 28-day/Fostering, PACE and Remand fostering provision is a 
premium of £1350 per week. This increase in emergency fostering and pace 
provision means that young people can be in foster care rather than residential care, 
bringing a weekly saving of £3,450 per week for that child. 

33.We do not anticipate that this provision will be always full, and there will be periods 
when the numbers are smaller. On this basis it is worthy of note that the risk can be 
mitigated if there is a reduction in demand, in agreement with the provider and 
subject to the terms and conditions that will be proposed in the contract, they will 
arrange to reduce the number of placements available, allowing for flexible provision 
and a cost saving.

Climate change implications

34.This initiative has implications for climate change. A local provider who can meet 
immediate short term emergency placements in Gloucestershire will provide a 
service which is convenient and in the vicinity. This will reduce the mileage and 
carbon usage by avoiding placing out of county.

35.The idea behind the 28-day emergency fostering is to provide an opportunity search 
for a local fostering placement during that period, reducing the need outside the 
county.

Equality implications

36.Cabinet Members should read the Equalities Impact Assessment to satisfy 
themselves, as decision makers, that there has been due regard to the issues.

Page 26



Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

37.  Due to the level of Personal and Special Category Data needed as part of this 
project, a Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) is a legal requirement. A DPIA 
assessment has commenced to identify the personal data risks, these will be 
actioned within the tender and mitigated within the contract terms. The current 
assessment shows that the Cyber Essentials Plus accreditation will be required, 
which will be included in the contract terms. During the contract mobilisation and 
implementation, we shall continue to review the DPIA and ensure that the providers 
are compliant with the legal duties and our expectations.

Social value implications

38.The social value implications for this 28-Day Fostering and PACE proposal is that it 
will be a service provided by local families for local people. In terms of employment 
local foster carers provide an invaluable service to the community and our most 
vulnerable young people. The intention is to expand the service by promoting 
provision using not- for-profit for fostering providers who can meet the local need.

Consultation feedback

39.There is a recent engagement which is relevant to this proposal. Key messages 
from June 2021 with young people in care have voiced that they wish to feel valued, 
feel safe and know about what is happening to them. Young people want to ensure 
that their views are actioned. Also, young people want to develop the right skills for 
their journey. 

40.Also, the engagement identified that young people thought there could have been 
better matching between themselves and the foster carers to find the right 
placement. They often reported frequent moves; and not understanding ‘why’ i.e., 
how this squared with what they hoped to gain. They became frustrated by 
continually having to repeat their story.

41. In terms of the foster carers, the feedback from the same engagement exercise 
(June 2021) noted that good partnerships are based on four related values: a 
reasonable level of demands, recognition of role, appropriate remuneration and 
feedback which assists continuous learning.

42.These key messages have informed the Sufficiency Strategy and the Fostering 
Strategy and will influence the recruitment and selection of the potential providers 
for the 28-day Fostering and PACE service. These recommendations make a 
commitment for stability and certainty for when young people come into care on a 
short term or emergency basis. They will reduce unnecessary moves for these 
young people.

Officer recommendations

43.

Page 27



That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director of Children Service’s, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years 
to pursue the proposals set out in the above Recommendations. 

Performance Management/Follow-up 

44. Performance management metrics for these tendered services will be submitted 
by providers and reviewed by the council. The performance data will be subject 
to regular review and will include engagement with children, young people and 
their parents/carers who will inform oversight meetings.

Page 28



REPORT TITLE: Children & Families Capital Programme Update

Cabinet Date 23rd November 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Philip Robinson, Cabinet Member for Education, Skills and Bus 
Transport

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To approve changes to the previously approved Children & Families Capital 
Programme.

Recommendations

To approve the changes to the Children & Families Capital Programme as 
set out in the report: 

1. An addition of £4.600 million for the High School Leckhampton funded 
by £3.520 million from unallocated basic need and £1.080 million s106 
contribution. 

2. An addition of £441k developer contributions and a transfer of £441k 
grant to unallocated Basic Need Grant.

3. An addition of £18k s106 contribution towards the Dursley C of E 
Primary capital project.

Reasons for 
recommendations

County Council approved the Children & Families Capital Programme for 
2022/23 on 16th February 2022.  This paper provides an update of individual 
schemes within this programme.

Resource 
Implications

All proposed changes to the Children and Families Capital Programme are 
fully funded by capital grant, developer contributions and revenue 
contributions.

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



Background 
Documents

 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) - Council Budget 2022/23

 Gloucestershire County Council’s School Places Strategy 2021-2026

 Gloucestershire County Council’s SEND Commissioning Strategy 
2019-24

Statutory Authority Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990

The Department for Levelling up, Housing and Communities Guidance:  
Planning Obligations: Use of planning obligations and process for changing 
obligations available from: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations

Department for Education Guidance: Securing Developer Contributions for 
Education (2019) available from: Securing developer contributions for 
education (publishing.service.gov.uk)

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

Councillor Emma Nelson, Councillor Rebecca Halifax, Councillor Andrew 
Miller, Councillor Wendy Thomas.

Officer Name:  Gareth Vine / Clare Medland, Joint Head of Commissioning for 
Learning 
Tel. no: 01452 328686 
Email: clare.medland@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Email: Gareth.Vine@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Timeline Cabinet meeting 23rd November 2022 - Updates to Cabinet on further 
changes to the programme as required.

Page 30

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/909908/Developer_Contributions_Guidance_update_Nov2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/909908/Developer_Contributions_Guidance_update_Nov2019.pdf
mailto:clare.medland@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Gareth.Vine@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 

1. County Council approved the 2022/23 Children’s & Families Capital programme at its 
meeting on 16th February 2022.  This report provides an update to various schemes agreed in 
this programme.

Proposed changes to the approved capital programme

2. High School Leckhampton 

Further to the update report at the June Cabinet meeting the cost exercise for the delivery of 
the new High School, Leckhampton, has been completed.  The total cost for the scheme 
which includes the additional costs associated with a number of external works, offsite 
highways works, utility connections and the possible re-routing of a public right of way across 
the site, is £34.600 million.

There is a £1m S106 contribution from the Farm Lane Leckhampton development secured to 
be used towards capital works to extend remodel upgrade and improve capacity and suitability 
of Bournside Secondary School, Balcarras Secondary School or Chosen Hill Secondary 
School to allow for an additional 49.5 places to be provided.  The development is closest to 
the new High School and was secured prior to the decision to establish the new school.  
Pupils from the development are now attending the High School Leckhampton. A deed of 
variation is being sought to allocate the funding to be used towards this development.

It is therefore proposed to increase the budget by £4.600 million by transferring £3.520 million 
from unallocated basic need grant together with £1.080 from the S106 development at Farm 
Lane (subject to the successful deed of variation).

Section 106 Developer contributions

3. Various schemes

The Council is in receipt of a number of developer S106 contributions from housing 
developments.  The Council has completed capital schemes to provide additional places and 
funded these schemes from Basic Need grant pending receipt of the contributions to ensure 
the additional places were in place as part of a larger capital project. The table below sets out 
the contributions, totalling £441k, which are proposed be used to replace some of the grant 
that was used to deliver each scheme, thereby making £441k grant funding available to fund 
other priority capital projects.

Development To be used for Amount Capital scheme 
Land at Kingshill 
Development, 
London Rd, 
Cirencester

Improvements to 
capacity at the new 
primary school 
being built next to 
the Cirencester 
Kingshill School in 
Cirencester

£281,851.28 Watermoor C of E 
Primary 
replacement 
School 

Page 31



Land south of 205 
Leckhampton 
Road, Cheltenham

Extending, 
remodelling, 
uprading and 
improving capacity 
of Bournside 
Secondary School, 
Cheltenham

£31,015.38 Bournside School 
expansion

Land at former 
Police HQ, 
Lansdown, 
Cheltenham

Capital works to 
extend, remodel, 
upgrade and 
improve capacity 
and suitability of 
Bournside 
Secondary School

£80,353.86
Bournside School 
expansion

Former 
Blackbridge 
Allotment site, 
Stroud Rd, 
Gloucester

Extending, 
remodelling, 
upgrading and 
improving the 
capacity of Calton 
Primary School

£47,459.89 Calton Primary 
School 1FE 
expansion

Total £440,680.41

4 Dursley C of E Primary School

The Council has received £292k s106 contribution in respect of a housing development at the 
former Lister Petter site in Dursley to be used towards increasing the number of places at 
Dursley C of E Primary School. £274k was approved by Cabinet in December 2018 towards a 
remodelling project at the school and it is proposed to allocate the balance of £18k towards 
this project.

5. Wave 15 Free School bids for special schools 

In June 2022 the DfE announced guidance for LA’s to apply for new special free schools.   
The Local Authority has identified the need for additional specialist SEND provision in county 
to respond to the growing demand for places.  After considering the criteria for funding 
together with the need for additional places the council has submitted bids for two new free 
special schools to meet the county’s needs.  Decisions on successful bids are expected 
Spring 2023.

Overall Change to Capital Programme

6. As a result of the above changes the Children & Families Capital Programme will 
increase by £1.539 million. 

Page 32



Capital Spend 2022/23 

7. The revised annual budget for the 2022/23 Schools capital programme is £33.557 
million.  The financial year spend as at the end of August 2022 was £10.811 million. Further 
details can be found in Appendix A.  

Options

8. (1) To approve the recommendations and note the changes to the Children & Families 
Capital Programme to enable the schemes to proceed.

(2) To not approve the recommendations to provide additional places or 
agree funding to ensure delivery of existing approved schemes.   

Risks 

9. Risk of overspend against individual schemes. This will be reduced by effective 
management of the programme and suppliers by the Council’s Asset Management and 
Property Services and will be overseen by the Head of Commissioning for Learning.

10. Risk of insufficient capital reserves to meet future needs.   The future planned 
schemes will be carefully designed to ensure efficient use of limited resources while ensuring 
high quality design and specification to deliver what is required.  Future spend to be monitored 
by Head of Commissioning for Learning with consideration as to whether contingency 
reserves need to be secured through a GCC capital bid. 

11. Risk that school capacity exceeds demand. Pupil forecasts for each area within the 
county are reviewed on an annual basis to provide assurance that any school expansion is 
timed to meet expected increase in need for places as seen by the proposals in this report. 
This enables the Head of Commissioning for Learning to reallocate funding to those schemes 
where there is the most pressing need when these forecasts alter. 

12. Risk that schools are not expanded in time to meet the demand for additional 
places. The forecasting approach enables the council to effectively plan ahead to mitigate 
this. In addition, where permanent expansion cannot be achieved within necessary timescales, 
temporary arrangements can be put in place to meet need and costs are factored into the 
planning for this. In terms of special school places, lack of capacity would result in children 
being placed in non-maintained independent schools, but this would have a significant impact 
on the dedicated schools grant revenue budget. 

13. Risk that Covid and supply chain issues delay proposed schemes.  We are getting 
reports from contractors of significantly increasing costs and potential longer lead in times for 
materials.  We are working with schools and contractors to monitor the situation and assess 
the need for any mitigation measures to ensure continuity of school provision.  This will 
continue to be monitored monthly and mitigation measures will be put in place where 
necessary.

Page 33



Climate change implications

14. Where applicable the capital works will support the Council’s Climate Change Strategy 
through delivering buildings which strive for net zero emissions associated with the 
construction materials and the whole life running costs of the buildings themselves.  

Equality implications

15. These decisions will ensure the council meets its statutory duties to provide sufficient, 
accessible school places and improve the facilities and provision for children and young 
people, regardless of their level of need, background, and status.  

16. The individual schemes will be subject to user audit so that their impacts on all groups 
of society, including those with a protected characteristic(s), are assessed and mitigated 
where appropriate.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

17.      A DPIA is not required for this decision because it does not involve the collection, 
storage, or use of personal data.

Social value implications

18.      The Council will seek where possible to ensure projects maximise the additional social, 
economic, and environmental benefits to the local area, and consider the recently adopted 
Council social value policy.

Consultation feedback

19. Consultation has taken place with the Lead Cabinet Member, service areas, schools, 
and other organisations where appropriate in the development of this strategy.

Officer recommendations

20. Officers recommend that Cabinet adopts Option 1 and approves the proposed changes 
to the identified schemes for progression as necessary.  This will enable the council to meet its 
statutory duties with regard to school place sufficiency and improving outcomes for children 
and young people in Gloucestershire. 

Performance Management/Follow-up 

21. Each scheme will be subject to its own oversight and monitoring by the Head of 
Commissioning for Learning.

Page 34



Appendix A
Schools Capital Programme 2022/23

Project
Budget

Total

Spend
Previous

Years
Budget
2022/23

Spend to 
Date 

2022/23

Budget
Future 
Years

Advanced Design 20/21 135,640 112,288 23,352 0 0
Advanced Design 21/22 100,000 92,626 7,374 6,655 0
Advanced Design 22/23 100,000 0 100,000 5,239 0
Alderman Knight expansion 1,900,000 1,470,351 45,000 21,653 384,649
Ann Edwards Primary kitchen upgrade 170,000 0 170,000 351 0
Ashchurch Primary replace temps 1,103,561 1,060,021 25,000 0 18,541
Balcarras School hygiene suite 78,413 78,255 158 158 0
Basic Need Grant 2020/21 7,308,553 0 2,000,000 0 5,308,553
Basic Need Grant 2022/23 7,231,319 0 0 0 7,231,319
Belmont expansion 602,930 569,826 12,117 0 20,987
Bettridge remodelling & refurbishment 150,000 0 100,000 0 50,000
Bishops Cleeve New Primary School 11,000,000 778,879 10,221,121 168,586 0
Bishops Cleeve Primary additional places 225,284 225,000 284 0 0
Bourton-on-the-Water Primary expansion 1,003,500 950,438 53,062 0 0
Bourton-on-the-Water Primary, expansion 989,592 973,328 0 0 16,264
Cam Hopton Primary platform lift 55,000 8,954 46,046 3,615 0
Carbon Reduction in Education Properties 800,000 0 400,000 0 400,000
Caretakers Properties 22/23 30,000 0 30,000 144 0
Chipping Campden School Performing Arts 905,214 361,525 543,689 25,274 0
Chosen Hill School hygiene suite 105,820 105,611 208 208 0
Christ Church Primary s106 adaptations 152,668 152,668 0 0 0
Cirencester Kingshill s106 adaptations 137,960 83,322 54,638 52,086 0
Cirencester Primary replace classrooms 2,086,920 1,934,404 152,516 926 0
Cleeve School 1FE expansion 5,477,477 5,370,056 107,421 0 0
Cleeve School dining facilities 206,125 183,555 22,570 0 0
Cotswold School, 6th Form Accommodation 1,418,932 1,381,798 37,134 0 0
Dene Magna School remodelling 172,086 0 0 0 172,086
Dursley Primary remodelling 274,000 176,386 97,615 97,000 0
Early Years 18/19 88,928 540 88,388 0 0
Eastington Primary outdoor teaching area 89,227 88,149 1,078 0 0
Fairford Primary 2 classrooms 3,438,349 3,300,285 105,000 0 33,064
Farmors School s106 adaptations 244,667 188,063 56,604 0 0
Gardners Lane Primary 2 Class Extension 948,227 938,297 9,930 0 0
Gloucester Road Primary s106 adaptations 158,968 119,304 20,000 505 19,664
Gotherington Primary s106 expansion 196,259 8,500 0 0 187,759
Grangefield Primary, ICT/FFE 152,226 118,063 22,889 0 11,274
Great Oldbury Primary Academy ICT/FFE 350,000 102,135 5,000 0 242,865
Heart of the Forest SEMH provision 1,600,000 0 1,000,000 29,779 600,000
High Needs Provision Capital 22/23 6,461,767 0 300,000 0 6,161,767
High Needs Provision Capital 23/24 7,855,998 0 0 0 7,855,998
Hunts Grove, ICT/FFE 406,000 221,988 184,012 6,761 0
Leckhampton High School new school 29,910,000 24,182,397 4,817,603 5,967,177 910,000
Leckhampton Primary expansion 4,332,697 3,729,893 226,908 11,765 375,896
Longford Primary, ICT/FFE 271,000 232,062 16,518 0 22,420
Mitton Manor Pre-School 8,243 7,187 0 0 1,056
Mitton Manor Primary outdoor learning 68,696 67,824 872 0 0

Page 35



Project
Budget

Total

Spend
Previous

Years
Budget
2022/23

Spend to 
Date 

2022/23

Budget
Future 
Years

New Primary Special School 650,000 0 150,000 0 500,000
New SEMH Special School 9,750,000 5,855,915 3,872,969 2,365,201 21,116
Oak Hill Primary s106 adaptations 145,864 0 48,000 0 97,864
Pittville School expansion 264,232 258,802 5,430 0 0
Rednock School hygiene room 70,000 3,540 64,481 5,900 1,979
Rednock School sports hall 308,903 192,565 116,338 6,080 0
Rodborough Primary kitchen upgrade 180,000 0 180,000 280 0
School Kitchens Eco upgrade 353,534 0 353,534 168,354 0
Schools Condition Allocation 2022/23 4,416,620 0 0 0 4,416,620
Schools Condition Allocation 21/22 362,105 0 0 0 362,105
Schools Health & Safety 2021/22 214,318 214,318 0 520 0
Schools Health & Safety 22/23 150,000 0 150,000 40,471 0
Shurdington Primary expansion 1,458,614 1,453,649 926 926 4,039
St. David's Primary expansion 1,500,000 211,208 0 0 1,288,792
The Cotswold School expansion 5,800,000 5,456,301 143,699 12,157 200,000
The John Moore Primary expansion 2,252,809 2,236,690 16,119 18,838 0
Twyning Primary expansion 350,000 0 0 0 350,000
Warden Hill Primary replacement 7,509,838 1,466,586 4,851,215 1,294,540 1,192,037
Winchcombe Abbey Primary expansion 1,500,000 114,515 0 0 1,385,485
Winchcombe School expansion 4,746,781 4,591,823 94,047 -18,750 60,911

General Schools Programme 142,485,863 71,429,892 31,150,863 10,292,399 39,905,108

Capital Maintenance Programme 4,741,999 2,336,087 2,405,912 518,696 0

Total Schools Capital Programme 147,227,863 73,765,979 33,556,775 10,811,094 39,905,108

Page 36



REPORT TITLE: Home to school and social care transport transformation programme

Cabinet Date 23rd November 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Phil Robinson – Cabinet Member for Education, Skills and Bus Transport

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval to reshape the management and delivery of Home 
to School and Adult Social Care transport service provision.

Recommendations

That Cabinet:
1. approves without further competition, the award of a 3 year 

Call-Off Contract, under an ESPO Framework Agreement, to 
the preferred tenderer, namely EDGE Public Solutions Ltd, 
under which it shall supply such management services and 
resources as are necessary to deliver a three-year change 
programme within the council’s Home to School transport and 
Adult Social Care (ASC) transport service areas. The award 
shall be made in accordance with the direct contract award 
criteria under the ESPO Framework Agreement;

2. delegates authority to the Executive Director of Economy, 
Environment and Infrastructure in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Education, Skills and Bus Transport, to:
a) conduct a competitive procurement process for a contract in 

respect of the supply of specialist software to support 
efficient route planning for Home to School transport and 
other services as appropriate and then to award such 
contract to the successful tenderer;

b) undertake a comprehensive market engagement 
programme with transport providers to inform a phased 
procurement of contracted Home to School and Adult Social 
Care transport provision; and

c) update relevant processes and Service Level Agreements 
between the restructured ITU and teams in the Children & 
Families and Adults directorates to support the new working 
practices with a view to ensuring effective service delivery in 
the long-term.

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



Reasons for 
Recommendations

To enable the Council to deliver statutory Home to School and Adult Social 
Care transport services in the most cost-effective manner, whilst meeting 
best practice standards, and delivering a safe, reliable, quality service to 
mainstream and Special Educational Needs & Disabilities (SEND) pupils and 
Looked After Children (LAC).

Resource 
Implications

The proposed contract with the external transformation and project 
management specialists known as Edge Public Solutions Ltd will be for three 
years at a total cost of £1.57m (see report for annual breakdown) and include 
all project resources conducting key project tasks and resourcing all peaks in 
workload, along with responsibility for ensuring that key project outcomes are 
achieved.
The estimated value of the proposed contract for route planning  software  for 
a maximum duration of 5 years is £250,000.
Whilst first year costs will be met from corporate transformation funds 
cashable savings and cost avoidance will be realised in service budgets. 
Delivery of savings and cost avoidance will help the council with balancing its 
budget and planning its Medium Term Financial Strategy. The council 
requires that all project and implementation costs are funded from savings 
generated within the three year term. The specialist partner will be required to 
provide a fixed fee and to be responsible for providing all resources required 
throughout the project, so protecting the Council from any cost implications of 
additional resources being required at times of peak workload.
Based upon 2021/22 spend levels it is anticipated that the above investment 
could deliver net benefit (after payment of the fees and other costs) of around 
£3.3m over the course of the three-year project and a sustainable benefit to 
annual revenue costs associated with Home to school transport provision of 
around £2.5m per annum upon project completion.The annual revenue 
benefit in adult social care transport is anticipated at under £50k.
However transport delivery costs are rising and volatile due to inflation, driver 
shortages and fuel cost and we know that the numbers of SEND children are 
continuing to rise within Gloucestershire, as well as the County also seeing 
overall population growth. Hence, the project will need to establish a baseline 
and track these elements to understand the future split between cashable 
savings and cost avoidance. 
Further investment includes additional staff, software and auction set-up 
costs to attract more transport operators to tender for council transport 
contracts. . These costs will continue beyond the completion of the project 
but will continue to be funded from the reduced revenue costs achieved. 

Page 38



Background 
Documents

“Home to school transport, the challenge in counties” - County Councils 
Network, March 2022 
http://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/download/4147/

Education and Inclusion Strategy
SEND and education inclusion strategies 2022-25 - Gloucestershire County Council

Home to School Travel Assistance Policy
Home to School Transport – Mainstream School students - Gloucestershire County Council

Transport assistance for SEN pupils
Transport assistance for SEN pupils - Gloucestershire County Council

Statutory Authority The council has a statutory duty under the Education Act 1996 to provide 
transport to school for eligible pupils. This applies to mainstream pupils and 
to pupils with special educational needs and disabilities.
Under the Care Act 2014 the council has a statutory duty to assess an adult’s 
social care and support needs. This assessment may identify a requirement 
for the provision of transport or assistance with travel.

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officers Philip Williams, Assistant Director Traffic & Transport 
Philip.williams@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Clare Medland/ Gareth Vine, Joint Head of Commissioning for Learning, 
Education

 HOSCFL@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Timeline The transformation programme will commence in January 2023 for a duration 
of three years, ending in December 2025. The first phase of transport re-
tendering would be expected to take place in advance of the September 2023 
academic year to enable savings to be realised within the 23/24 financial 
year. Further phases will be scheduled to enable savings and other benefits 
to be delivered in accordance with the profile set out in this report.

Page 39

http://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/download/4147/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/special-educational-needs-and-disabilities-send-and-education-inclusion-strategies/send-and-education-inclusion-strategies-2022-25/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/families-in-partnership-newsletters/families-in-partnership-newsletter-december-2021/home-to-school-transport-mainstream-school-students/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/school-transport/transport-assistance-for-sen-pupils/
mailto:Philip.williams@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:HOSCFL@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 

Context

1. Gloucestershire County Council has a statutory duty to provide Home to School transport 
for qualifying groups of pupils by virtue of the distance to their school, them being in care or 
having SEND. The council also has a duty to enable core groups of Adult Social Care 
clients to access appropriate facilities. Last year the overall budget for these passenger 
transport services was £17.1m, of which £15.9m was Education Transport, £0.55m was for 
ASC transport and the balance was management cost.

2. In March 2022 the County Council’s Network (CCN) published a report into the challenges 
of Home to School Transport in county council areas. This highlighted long term increases 
in demand for SEND transport, mostly using taxis and minibuses, a sharp rise in numbers 
of pupils with complex needs, and how fuel and wage inflation are all putting considerable 
strain on local authority budgets. 

3. To help the council to manage these underlying pressures a review of passenger transport 
operations was carried out, identifying a range of change initiatives to reduce costs and 
improve service quality. It concluded that there was an opportunity to improve performance 
and to transform and modernise the service to provide travel solutions which will promote 
life-long independence to some of the county’s most vulnerable children. Based upon 
2021/22 data and costs it estimated that the council could potentially deliver up to £2.5m 
annual cost reduction.. Baseline costs have increased significantly since then.

4. The war in Ukraine, driver shortages across public transport operators, cost of living 
increases and rising UK inflation have all become more significant since the CCN’s 
published report.  These rises and volatility in the transport market inevitably create 
difficulty in establishing the level of cashable savings that the work will deliver.  However, 
these pressures increase the need for the work irrespective of the balance between 
cashable savings or cost avoidance.  The Project Board will establish a baseline cost 
against which to monitor delivery.

5. The council now seeks to procure specialist support to implement this transformation 
programme and deliver a step change in both performance and value for money. To make 
the changes sustainable this comprehensive programme will introduce cultural change, 
including internal re-organisation to bring all education transport commissioning and 
delivery within one Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) with clear lines of demarcation and 
handover between eligibility assessment and operational delivery of transport. 

6. This also provides an opportunity to shift to a greater performance focus, including the 
delivery of a number of key efficiency initiatives. Customer expectations can be better 
managed, allowing the service to move from delivering expensive and inflexible door-to-
door transport, to one which delivers bespoke travel solutions that will support life-long 
independence of children. All of this can be done within the parameters of current policy 
and statutory obligations. The programme provides additional capacity in recognition of the 
the importance of engaging and consulting effectively with vulnerable groups, assessing 
their needs and understanding their concerns.

Home to school and adult transport overview

Page 40



7. The main demographic growth pressure in the county is in the over 65 age group, and this 
will place increasing pressure on local infrastructure, as well as the requirement for adult 
care services. Like other counties, Gloucestershire has seen a steady growth in the 
number of young people with SEND. The number of pupils coming into the education 
system with complex medical needs and / or behavioural issues and requiring Education, 
Heath & Care Plans (ECHPs) is increasing rapidly, and this has direct cost implications for 
the council via the provision of more transport services and ones that include provision of a 
passenger assistant.

8. At the time of the review around 4,800 mainstream pupils were receiving Home to School  
transport, with around 1,300 bus passes issued for travel on local public bus services and 
the remainder travelling on 112 contracted bus routes. There were around 1400 SEND 
pupils receiving transport on approximately 550 separate routes, of which 153 had a 
passenger assistant. Home to School transport contracts are exclusively provided by 
external contractors. In addition some 350 Personal Transport Allowances (PTA) are 
provided to parents and carers to arrange their own transport. These figures have 
increased over the last 12 months and are anticipated to continue to increase over the term 
of the proposed consultancy work. 

9. Adult social care transport is on a much smaller scale. Pre-Covid this was provided to 146 
clients on 22 contracted transport routes, supported by some internal adapted vehicles 
based at 8 day centres.

10.Transport operations for education are managed across three teams located in Children & 
Families (Education) and Economy, Environment & Infrastructure, as follows:

I. The Admissions and Transport  team manages eligibility for mainstream 
transport.

II. The Special Educational Needs & Disabilities Transport (SENDT) Team 
manages transport provision for SEND pupils.

III. The Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) undertake procurement and management of 
all contracted transport.

11. In respect of Adult Social Care (ASC), the ITU manages a small number of contracted 
transport routes, with some additional transport provided directly by adult day centres on 
an internally managed basis.

12.Key transport management functions are split across two teams (SENDT team and ITU) 
with the ITU only being responsible for procurement of a pre-determined route. This 
hampers their ability to challenge and achieve efficiencies as the ITU staff do not have 
visibility of all routes to be able to identify better value solutions. 

13.The initial review therefore recommended that key roles within the current SENDT team 
are brought within the ITU management structure to create a single team with full 
responsibility for all aspects of the transport services once eligibility has been established, 
generating clear lines of accountability for cost and performance. This team should be 
supported with specialist systems and potentially additional staff, to allow service provision 
to be optimised.

Transport Operations

Page 41



14.Mainstream Home to School travel is provided by bus passes for use on public transport 
and seats on coaches procured by the ITU. The average annual cost per pupil of ‘bus 
pass’ travel is £714, which is relatively high when compared to other local authorities, but 
still less than the cost of directly contracted coaches which average £1,032 per pupil and 
so still represents the cheapest option for mainstream travel. Bus pass costs are more 
difficult to influence given the links between school transport and the wider public bus 
network in the county.

15.SEND contracted transport constitutes by far the largest portion of Home to School 
expenditure with costs of around £10.4M per annum. This is also where the most acute 
cost pressure is being seen and further increases can be expected in future years as 
SEND numbers increase. Average cost per pupil for SEND transport in Gloucestershire is 
around £9,944 p.a. which is at the higher end compared with other county councils.

County / 
Item

County 
A

County 
B

GCC County 
C

County 
D

County County 
F

County 
Average

Total SEN 
direct 
route cost 
£m/yr

£10.800 £13.105 £10.461 £21.418 £8.979 £13.400 £10.700 £9.461

SEN cost 
per child / 
yr

£7,327 £3,743 £9,944 £7,598 £9,665 £4,084 £9,745 £5,073

Table 1. Comparative Cost per Head of Taxi and Minibus Travel for SEND Students (2020-
2021)

16. Along with other data such as relatively high numbers of single person journeys and low 
average passengers per transport route, this suggests that there is the potential to reduce 
costs in the medium to long term. Key areas for improvement in cost fall into two main 
areas; route optimisation (planning routes efficiently, using the right size vehicles) and 
improved market engagement to stimulate competition, along with a phased re-tender 
programme.

17. Since SEND travel costs comprise the major variable and challenge in respect of Home to 
School and wider passenger transport costs, effective route planning and procurement in 
this area is critical to delivering effective revenue cost reductions and to controlling costs 
(cost avoidance) in future years where increasing demand is anticipated. 

18. Improvements in market engagement will come through a pro-active Strategic Sourcing 
(SS) process, working directly with contractors to promote competition, widen contractor 
participation and encourage new contractors onto the current Dynamic Purchasing 
System (DPS). Since the current DPS was put in place, there has been limited market 
engagement and only a modest increase in the number of contractors. 

19. There is also a relatively heavy utilisation of a small number of transport contractors which 
creates an operational vulnerability and implies that greater competition would be 

Page 42



beneficial. Effective market engagement and mobilisation of other operators will be 
important in addressing this situation, across both Gloucestershire and relevant areas of 
bordering councils. 

20. The above initiatives should be supplemented by a re-tender process based on a clear 
price per route and exploring the use of a reverse auction processes and a better 
understanding of how the current Dynamic Purchasing System can be adapted. 
Optimisation of routes together with electronic tendering can provide the most effective 
way of managing operational costs, with one complementing the other. 

21. Some financial improvements should also be possible in respect of the provision of 
transport for adult clients (Older People and adults with Learning Disabilities) via similar 
initiatives in routing and re-tender to those outlined above, although the scale of the 
operation is significantly more modest than Home to School transport and hence savings 
will be correspondingly lower.

Change Programme Summary

22. The SENDT and ITU teams are at full capacity and are unlikely to gain traction in key 
transformation activities alongside their business-as-usual responsibilities. Over time 
efficiencies made in this area in isolation tend to be eroded as new demand for travel 
comes in, unless sustainable cultural, organisational and process changes underpin the 
improvements made.

23. There will be a lost opportunity amounting to an estimated average of around £100K per 
month if no action is taken however this figure will grow over time as additional demand 
and population growth will only make the cost position worse.

24. The proposed recommendations and strategy required to achieve this transformation 
programme have the support of the senior management with the proposed transformation 
programme delivering the following critical themes:

I. Creating a Home to School operation that delivers a joined-up travel offer, with a 
clear strategic direction, which performs effectively and has clear accountability 
for costs and service levels.

II. Overhauled and effective routes that best consider the individual needs of 
passengers, best use of suppliers, and benefits from newly developed routing 
software. Flexibility to amend routes as required in relation to changing 
operational circumstances and pressures.

III. A better developed supply market with improved competition and effective 
procurement to maximise value for money.

IV. An effective Home to School operation with resources focused on the right 
activities benefitting from an enhanced performance culture supported by 
improved reporting and measurement.

V. A shift of the travel offer to one which better manages the expectations of 
parents, schools and users so that the county’s offer moves to the provision of 
‘travel support’ in the most cost-effective way, and in a manner that promotes 
life-long independence, through better use of personal travel budgets and 
supported by policy re-branding. 

Page 43



VI. A positive impact on the council’s environmental improvement and social value 
targets, with reduced carbon emissions, reduced congestion and investment in 
the community. 

25.The programme will be intensive and complex and is likely to take 3 years to fully deliver. 
Change will require robust planning supported by effective stakeholder communications. 
Successful implementation will be dependent on significant additional resources, strong 
leadership, and governance. 

EDGE Public Solutions

26.EDGE Public Solutions specialise in supporting Local Authorities to deliver passenger 
transport and cross departmental solutions and have worked closely with the Council 
previously and in supporting the scoping of this work; They have been the key delivery 
partner in a number of similar passenger transport reviews with councils such as 
Doncaster, Cumbria, Lincolnshire, Leicestershire and Durham.  EDGE have capacity 
available at present to allow them to commence work immediately and their previous work 
with us will allow a streamlined mobilisation of the project.  

27.EDGE can be procured through the ESPO Framework that the Council have access to and 
senior officers including those from legal and procurement are comfortable that this 
represents a legal route to award and is the most advantageous approach for the Council. 
The value of the contract does require Cabinet Authority to award to EDGE Public 
Solutions and is therefore covered as in this report’s recommendations.

Financial benefits

28.Based on the full implementation of the recommendations in this report and 2021/22 spend 
levels the projected financial improvements are estimated to be in the region of:

I. A cumulative net project benefit over three years, net of implementation costs, of 
approx. £3.3M.

II. A sustainable   ongoing benefit to net annual transport revenue costs of approx. 
£2.5M at completion of the change programme once all transformations costs 
have ceased.

29. It is important to note that some investment will be required in the early stages of the 
project to enable key changes, this will include the costs of change management resource 
and investment in systems and reverse auction set-up. These investments will be required 
in part prior to any financial improvements being delivered. These will be funded from the 
corporate transformation budget.

30.  It will also be important to carefully track baseline costs to measure the success of the 
work given the current market volatility, increases in costs that are currently being seen, 
increases in service demand and overall population growth.  The project will therefore need 
to establish and agree a baseline financial position so that financial benefits (as either 
savings outcomes and/or cost avoidance) can be monitored within this changing 

Page 44



environment. Whilst these factors create challenges in assigning value to either cost 
savings or cost avoidance, they remain key drivers further supporting the need for the work 
to progress.  

Non-Financial benefits

31. In addition to the financial benefits outlined above, it must be recognised that the proposals 
will also deliver significant improvements in service and operational control. These non-
financial improvements can be summarised as follows: 

I. More robust management.
II. Improved environmental performance.

III. Reduced congestion, particularly at special schools.
IV. Opportunity to take back control of the marketplace.
V. More varied and targeted Travel Support offer, promoting independence.

VI. More integrated transport service across the county.
VII. Active promotion of independence in education.

Options

32.The following options have been considered:

Option 1 – Do Nothing

33.Take no action in respect of the current structure and procurement approach and maintain 
the current fragmented management of passenger transport. In this situation the Council 
would continue to endure:

I. Higher than necessary revenue costs, with increasing pressure from rising 
SEND numbers

II. Restricted procurement ability and continued reliance on a small number of key 
contractors

III. Sub-optimal environmental performance resulting from too many vehicles used 
and more miles travelled than necessary

IV. Reduced service quality and below-par support for travel independence

34.Given the growing pressures on local authority finances and expectations of value for 
money from public services this is not a viable option. The council needs to take action to 
reduce costs now and to ensure best value transport delivery in the future as cost 
pressures increase.

Option 2 – Implement a Change Programme Using Internal and / or Interim Resource

35.A change project of this size and complexity requires resources with very specialist change 
management skills as well as an in-depth understanding of the sensitive transport services 
that are the subject of the change program. Flexible resourcing to address peaks in 
workload will also be required.

Page 45



36.The relevant specialist skills do not exist within the council in sufficient numbers to deliver 
the scale of change required. Nor is the council in a position to flex the level of resources to 
address peaks in workload.

37. Interim resource with the appropriate skillset and availability would be difficult and 
expensive to secure for a programme of this duration and may not be available in 
appropriate numbers. Further, using interim resources may make it difficult to build an 
effective team to deliver a programme of this complexity and sensitivity and would offer no 
guarantee of the delivery of key benefits.

38.Therefore, this is not a viable option.

Option 3 – Implement a Change Programme in partnership with external support on the 
basis set out in this report’s recommendations.

39.Under this option the council would utilise specialist external resource to deliver the change 
programme, ensuring adequate and flexible resourcing and drive programme management 
and delivery of all key financial and service outcomes.

40.This external team/resource supervised by ITU would work alongside council staff to 
implement key changes whilst the council staff would be supported in continuing to deliver 
services to critical client groups.

41.This change programme will only operate effectively if pro-active coaching and mentoring 
exists to ensure effective knowledge transfer during the project and hence to deliver a fully 
effective centre of excellence in passenger transport management embedded within GCC 
for the long-term.

42.This represents a viable option as it provides the Council with guaranteed specialist 
resources to ensure major changes can be implemented successfully. It also has the 
advantages that an appropriate EU compliant route will be followed to procure the 
appropriately skilled professionals, utilising the ESPO Framework Agreement.

43.The ESPO Framework Agreement provides a compliant route to make a direct contract 
award to the specialist provider that is best placed to carry out this project and to minimise 
further costs. EDGE Public Solutions Ltd satisfies the direct contract award criteria under 
the said framework agreement. Such an approach provides the council with a route to 
select a supplier that has a proven track record of delivery, to retain knowledge of Council 
operations and to minimise the timescales and costs of commencing the proposed change 
programme. 

44.Details of the contract for the award of specialist routing software for Home to School 
Transport will be confirmed during the course of the project. The procurement of this 
contract will be by the Executive Director of Economy, Environment & Economy under the 
council’s scheme of delegations and contract procurement rules and will be subject to a 
separate officer decision

Risks 

45.Financial pressures anticipated in the delivery of a passenger transport service for Home to 
School and ASC; with particular emphasis on the volume of SEND travel, where if no 

Page 46



action is taken the risk of spiralling transport costs that cannot be effectively managed or 
controlled becomes significant.

46.Skills requirements for the delivery of a large and complex change programme in a field as 
potentially sensitive as Home to School and ASC passenger transport; the approach to the 
change project must be carefully managed, in particular the selection of the implementation 
partner, their track record of delivery and ability to provide the right resources

47.Adequate bedding in of key changes to become ‘business as usual’; provision of adequate 
time and support for GCC staff will feature within the programme to transfer knowledge and 
skills and ensure that changes fully bed in and become the normal mode of operation, 
rather than drifting back to previous practice and undermining outcomes. 

48.Non-delivery of key financial and operational outcomes; the approach taken to the delivery 
of a change programme must provide assurances that these critical changes will be 
delivered, and the financial improvements become available as scheduled. The chosen 
approach / effective selection of an implementation partner will be critical in this regard as 
will use of Programme management and governance. Should savings fall short of the 
targets, a rebate mechanism will be explored at the procurement stage to provide for the 
refund of the fees paid to the project management specialists in proportion to any under-
delivery of savings. 

49.Financial savings are difficult to track over time within a rising and volatile transport market 
– the project will need to establish and agree baseline figures against which performance 
can be monitored.  Assessing ongoing changes within the market will help to determine the 
level of cashable savings vs cost avoidance and will be a key task for the Project Board. 

50.Adverse reaction within the contracted transport marketplace and / or from parents and 
carers to changes in transport arrangements; again the choice of implementation approach 
and partner will be critical, with the skills and experience to engage with contractors, 
parents / carers and other key stakeholders.

51.Procurement challenge; this risk is considered low since the ESPO Framework provides a 
valid procurement route compliant with current legislation and is frequently used by UK 
local authorities to select partners for key tasks quickly and with certainty.

Financial implications

52.The proposed engagement of the external transformation and project management 
specialists will be for up to three years at a cost of £1.57M, to include all project resources 
conducting key project tasks and resourcing all peaks in workload, along with responsibility 
for key project outcomes.

53.All project and implementation costs will be funded from savings throughout, as illustrated 
in Table 2, with fees ceasing at the end of the project (year three). The Project Board will 
need to establish over the course of the project any additional internal resources that might 
be needed to sustain the savings after the project ends

54.The above investment could deliver net cumulative benefit after payment of the fees and 
other costs (and based on 2021/22 spend levels) of around £3.3M over the course of the 
three-year project and a sustainable benefit to annual revenue costs associated with 

Page 47



2021/22 Home to School transport provision of around £2.5M per annum upon project 
completion.

Table 2. Summary of Programme Savings and Net Benefits 

Climate change implications

55. In May 2019 all Gloucestershire councils declared a Climate Emergency and the Council 
included commitments to be a carbon neutral county by 2050 and a carbon neutral council 
by 2030, with at least an 80% reduction in carbon emissions.

56.By reducing the number of vehicles and length of routes used in passenger transport, and 
via the promotion of the use of ULEV and electric vehicles wherever possible, it is 
estimated that contractor CO2 emissions can be reduced significantly. The programme will 
include provision for mileage to be tracked and emissions calculated and reported as 
Scope 3 emissions (not directly emitted by the council’s assets but indirect emissions from 
its supply chain).

Equality implications

Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes

57. In the development of this programme approach ‘due regard’ has been given to the aims of 
the Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equalities Act 2010; it is concluded that there will 
be no change to the key policies which govern assessed eligibility of  clients as a result of 
the change programme as no core service levels or eligibility criteria will change and hence 
the programme overall will have no implications for those with ‘protected characteristics’. 
However it is acknowledged that changes which affect vulnerable groups, children and 
adults with disabilities, must be managed sensitively and involve users, parents or carers 
early on in the change process. Should further work identify a requirement to change 
council policy then such changes, which may require a separate decision, would also 
require appropriate engagement and consultation with service users.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

Financial 
Year: 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 Project 

Total:
Ongoing 
Annual:

Projected 
Savings: £ -  £1,124,881  £1,930,514  £2,642,552  £8,092,702  £2,642,550 

Projected 
Costs: £135,500  £552,000  £587,000  £471,500  £2,865,000  £80,000 

Net 
Saving: - £135,500  £572,881  £1,343,514  £2,171,052  £5,227,702  £2,562,550 

Financial 
Year 
Totals:

-£135,500  £572,881  £1,343,514  £2,171,052  N/A  £2,562,550 

Page 48



58.Upon completion of the DPIA checklist, there is no requirement to complete a DPIA for this 
programme.

Social value implications

59.There are positive implications in respect of social value from the proposed programme, 
which comprise:

I. Improved distribution of Council contracted work amongst transport contractors 
across the county, further distributing support for the local economy and SME’s

II. The opportunity to extend and improve inspection and quality management 
processes, so improving vehicle safety and safeguarding

III. Expanded training opportunities for transport contractors and their staff, 
improving knowledge and understanding of SEND issues and hence service 
quality

IV. Improved general service quality for a vulnerable section of the local community, 
along with their parents / carers, contributing to wider wellbeing

V. Greater focus on the use of travel training and other innovative travel options to 
promote travel independence, in particular for pupils with SEND.

When procuring this external resource, social value contribution will be part of the deliverables 
of the contract, in accordance with adopted Council policy.

Consultation & Engagement

60.Transport policy and eligibility rules will not change, only the mechanics of how the service 
is delivered. This means no-one who currently has transport will have it taken away. 
Nevertheless, changes which involve vulnerable groups of children and adults with 
disabilities must be managed sensitively and involve users, parents and carers from the 
outset. Engagement and good communications can harness user insight to shape and 
improve transport provision, help to manage expectations and mitigate potential risks 
including equalities impacts.

61.Changes in the approach to transport provision will only be introduced after direct 
engagement with key stakeholders, including parents, carers, schools and support groups. 
This will enable the need for change and the change process to be clearly explained in 
advance. For example, this may involve gathering better information through the 
application process, working more closely with parents/carers and school SEN 
coordinators to develop changes to transport provision, follow up communications to 
outline how we have listened and amended plans, and monitoring of service provision to 
ensure that it is meeting our requirements.

62.Where contractors change due to the re-tender or re-routing process, appropriate training 
of staff will be undertaken and introductions to the new transport team arranged before the 
change is implemented. Follow-up monitoring of the service after changes will provide for 
subsequent adjustment should problems be encountered.

Page 49



Officer recommendations

63.Option 3 is recommended as the benefits of this option, principally speed and reliability of 
delivery as detailed above, provides the best value option for the Council, with the potential 
to support the council with fulfilling its statutory duties and managing its cost pressure at a 
time when demand is increasing and it faces significant budgetary pressures.

Performance management/follow-up 

64.The change programme will be monitored throughout by a dedicated Project Board with a 
senior council chair person, that will provide regular monitoring of costs and delivery of 
outcomes in line with the council’s contract management processes.

65. It is anticipated that the Steering Group will meet monthly and be presented with detailed 
reports on financial and operational improvement initiatives, enabling a clear senior 
management focus to be maintained and any obstacles to progress to be addressed 
quickly and effectively.

66.Performance will be reported to the council’s executive, leadership team and elected 
members through existing performance reporting mechanisms.

Page 50



1

REPORT TITLE: Support to Refugees on the Homes for Ukraine (HFU) Scheme
Cabinet Date 23rd of November 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Kathy Williams, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery 

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet ratification of the decision taken by the Director of Public 
Health, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Delivery, and the Corporate Leadership Team, to allocate Homes for Ukraine 
(HFU) Scheme grant funding received by the council from the Department for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) in accordance with the 
conditions of the grant; and to seek delegated authority in relation to the 
future allocation of funding on the basis described hereunder. 

Recommendations

That Cabinet: 

a) Ratifies a decision taken by the Director of Public Heath, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery, 
and the Corporate Leadership Team, to allocate (in accordance with 
Government “Homes for Ukraine” guidance and UK subsidy control 
regime requirements) Homes for Ukraine Scheme grant funding 
received by the council from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities (DLUHC). Such funding was allocated during the 
period 28 March 2022 to 23 November 2022 to the activities described 
in Appendix 1 of this report in the proportions described therein.

b) Delegates authority to the Director of Public Health, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery and the 
Deputy Chief Executive & Executive Director of Corporate Resources, 
to consider and, if appropriate, approve the allocation (in accordance 
with Government “Homes for Ukraine” guidance and UK subsidy 
control regime requirements) of future Homes for Ukraine Scheme 
grant funding. Such funding shall be allocated from 23 November 2022 
onwards to the activities described in Appendix 1 of this report in the 
proportions described therein.

Reasons for 
Recommendations

The above recommendations will, if approved, secure the provision of 
essential and timely support to Ukrainians arriving in the county under the 
Homes for Ukraine (HFU) scheme; helping to ensure their welfare and 
successful integration into the community.

The recommendations are in line with the council’s obligations under the HFU 
scheme and the conditions of the grant funding set out in the Homes for 

Page 51

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homes-for-ukraine-guidance-for-councils


2

Ukraine – guidance for councils (see Background Documents below) and in 
Appendix 2.

Resource 
Implications

The budget to fund the above funding allocations is coming from the £10,500 
per guest tariff allocated by the Home Office to Tier 1 Local Authorities in the 
form of the HFU Scheme Section 31 Grant. The council anticipates 1,500 
Ukrainian arrivals in the 12-month period beginning 28 March 2022; and as 
such our expected budget envelope is £15.75 million. The remainder of the 
funding will be used for the requirements set out in the Homes for Ukraine – 
guidance for councils and detailed in Appendix 2. This includes the carrying 
out of property checks, welcome visits, and other needs identified as the 
scheme develops, such as payments towards energy bills for sponsors.

Background 
Documents

 Homes for Ukrainians - Guidance for Councils
 Decision - Financial Support for ‘Homes for Ukraine’ Sponsors 

(gloucestershire.gov.uk)
 Decision - Ukrainian Refugee Support (gloucestershire.gov.uk)

Statutory Authority

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

Countywide 

Officer Name: Ruth Woolley
Tel. no: 01452 426150
Email: ruth.woolley@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline The approval of expenditure under the HFU Scheme in Gloucestershire is a 
priority in order to ensure that the council fulfils its obligations thereunder in 
accordance with the conditions of the funding set out in the Homes for 
Ukraine – guidance for councils. Funding activities commenced in March 
2022. 

Page 52

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homes-for-ukraine-guidance-for-councils
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homes-for-ukraine-guidance-for-councils
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homes-for-ukraine-guidance-for-councils
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homes-for-ukraine-guidance-for-councils#:~:text=The%20government%20is%20providing%20funding,future%20years%20in%20due%20course.
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1945
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1945
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1867
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homes-for-ukraine-guidance-for-councils
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homes-for-ukraine-guidance-for-councils


3

Background 

The “Homes for Ukraine” (HFU) Scheme 

1. The Homes for Ukraine (HFU) scheme allows Ukrainian nationals and their immediate 
family members to be sponsored by individuals or organisations who can offer them a 
home in the UK. Ukrainian guests are able to live and work in the UK for up to three 
years, as well as having access to healthcare, employment, benefits and other support. 
The number of Ukrainian nationals who can access this scheme is uncapped and is 
instead dependent on the number of sponsors who come forward.

2. The HFU scheme is separate from the Ukraine Family Scheme. The Ukraine Family 
Scheme allows Ukrainian nationals to join family members who are already settled in the 
UK. The Ukraine Family Scheme does not come with any specific funding.

3. The HFU scheme requires input from councils (upper and lower tier). Funding of £10,500 
per guest has been made available to upper tier local authorities, with an additional top-
up for child education. This will be paid to upper tier authorities for funding all of the 
associated activities to support the Ukrainian guests when they arrive in the UK with 
additional funding for early years and education places. Although £200 of this funding is 
designated as a ‘welcome’ payment for newly arrived guests, the remainder is un-
ringfenced and can be used to pay for all associated activities. 

4. Sponsors are expected to provide rent-free accommodation for a minimum of six 
months, with the option to continue with this sponsorship arrangement for a full 12 
months. An optional tax-free ‘thank you’ payment of £350 per sponsoring household per 
month is available to sponsors who can accommodate one or more guests for up to 12 
months. This funding is provided in a separate ring-fenced grant and local authorities are 
expected to cover their administration costs from within the grant.

5. There is a requirement from the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC) to complete five checks for all sponsor settings. The checks are: (i) 
accommodation exists; (ii) accommodation is satisfactory; (iii) DBS checks have 
commenced; (iv) safeguarding checks have been completed; (v) guest has arrived.  
These checks are being carried out by a partnership between the district councils and 
the county council.

6. 1248 Ukrainian guests have been identified so far as matching with a sponsor in 
Gloucestershire. However, the scheme is uncapped, and it is likely that more Ukrainian 
guests will be sponsored in Gloucestershire. 

Coordination of support for Ukrainian refugees in Gloucestershire

7. Members of the Gloucestershire Strategic Housing Partnership are coordinating the 
response to the HFU scheme. The Strategic Housing Partnership is hosted by 
Gloucester City Council and works on behalf of the seven local authorities, the 
Integrated Care Board, and the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner. 

8. The partnership has been leading the response to existing Home Office refugee and 
asylum seeker schemes including the Afghan Resettlement Programme and the 

Page 53



4

coordination and oversight of contingency hotels that house asylum seekers awaiting 
applications to be processed.

9. Members of the Strategic Housing Partnership are working collectively to ensure that the 
HFU scheme works effectively in Gloucestershire so that as many people as possible 
receive the support they need in the County. An HFU Strategic Planning group meets on 
a weekly basis to cover physical and mental health, housing, welfare, safeguarding, 
employment, and wider issues such as community integration and human trafficking. 
Partners attend from Districts, County Council, Health, the Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP), Police and voluntary and community organisations, including 
Gloucestershire Action for Refugees and Asylum Seekers (GARAS).

10.Several sub-groups have been convened to focus on specific issues including sponsor 
information and support; welfare and community integration; housing and homelessness 
and exceptional cases (covering safeguarding and complex case work).

11.A HFU team has been set up at County level. The HFU team monitor a dedicated HFU 
Scheme in Gloucestershire inbox, field enquiries and carry out welcome and follow-up 
visits to sponsors and guests, assisted by the Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service 
(GFRS).  Structures and staff in place to support the COVID-19 response have been 
used to help deliver the response to the Ukrainian situation.

12.The County Council is responsible for initial checks, including at least one in-person visit, 
payments to sponsors, DBS checks, provision of ongoing support, school places, and 
information about the local area. Following the guest(s)’ arrival, councils are expected to 
confirm as soon as possible that the guest is well and that there are no welfare concerns 
or needs for care and support. Where there are concerns for the safety or welfare of a 
child, we follow our usual processes in line with Working Together to Safeguard Children 
which may include further assessments. Where it is suspected that the adult may have 
care and support needs, a needs assessment is undertaken in line with the requirements 
of the Care Act 2014.

13.The Full Council at GCC have condemned the invasion of Ukraine by Russian forces 
and released a motion detailing their full views. This included highlighting their 
agreement to work with both district colleagues and GARAS to provide support for all 
refugees in Gloucestershire.

Outline of Associated Costs

14. In addition to the welcome payments and monthly payments to sponsors who have had 
the five mandated checks completed, the guidance specifies that the associated costs of 
administering the scheme may be claimed from the £10,500 guest tariff (see Appendix 
2). 

15. Appendix 1 gives details of the costs associated with the HFU scheme in 
Gloucestershire in the period from March 2022 to November 2022. Broadly these costs 
fit into the following categories:

 The five mandated safeguarding and accommodation checks

Page 54



5

 Administration of the scheme including staff costs, variation to contracts, ongoing 
burdens to services such as fostering and incidentals such as printing; 
translation and car hire

 Costs associated with guest welfare and integration into the community including 
mental health support, transport, and payments to support groups

 Housing costs including for emergency accommodation. 

16.Previous Cabinet Member Agreement has already been granted for additional financial 
support for sponsors and for a contract variation for GARAS to provide them with 
additional capacity to support Ukrainian guests arriving in Gloucestershire.

Options

17.Option 1: Agree to ratify a decision taken by the Director of Public Heath, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery, and the Corporate Leadership 
Team, to allocate HFU Scheme grant funding from March 2022 to November 2022 to the 
activities set out in Appendix 1; and for the HFU Scheme grant funding to be allocated to 
the activities set out in Appendix 1. 

This is the recommended option. Allocation of this grant funding will secure the 
provision of essential and timely support to Ukrainians arriving in the county under the 
HFU scheme. This will help to ensure their welfare and support their successful 
integration into the community. 

The recommendations are in line with the Council’s obligations under the HFU scheme 
and the conditions of the grant funding.

18.Option 2: Not to allocate the HFU Scheme grant funding to the activities set out in 
Appendix 1 nor ratify a decision taken by the Director of Public Heath, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery, and the Corporate Leadership 
Team, to allocate HFU Scheme grant funding from March 2022 to November 2022 to the 
activities set out in Appendix 1

This option is not recommended given that a failure to allocate funding to the activities 
set out in Appendix 1 or to ratify the said allocation of funding risks the Council failing to 
meet its obligations under the HFU scheme and the conditions of the grant funding set 
out in the Homes for Ukraine – guidance for councils and detailed in Appendix 2.

Risks 

19.The HFU scheme provides a new model of support for refugees which has not been 
offered to other refugees who have recently arrived in the UK, for example from 
Afghanistan. There is a risk that the additional offer of support for Ukrainians could 
cause dissatisfaction or a perception of unequal treatment amongst other refugees and 
the organisations that support them or requests for additional funding for other groups. 
This will need to be monitored through the structures set up to support the HFU scheme. 

20. It should be noted that GCC Contract Procedure Rules/Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 have been followed where applicable.

Page 55

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s85681/ICM%20Decision%20Report_HFU%20Incentives%20FINAL%20004.pdf#search=%22Homes%20for%20Ukraine%22
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s81893/Ukraine%20Support_contract%20variation_Cabinet%20Member%20decision%20paper%20final%20draft%202%20003.pdf#search=%22Homes%20for%20Ukraine%22
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homes-for-ukraine-guidance-for-councils


6

21.Also, there is a risk in respect of any grant funding that it may contravene the UK subsidy 
control regime requirements, hence legal advice will be sought in respect of the grant 
funding proposed in this report before it is awarded

Financial implications

22.The HFU Scheme grant funding from the government is intended to cover the costs 
arising for the first year of support provided to Ukrainian guests, and some ongoing costs 
(for unaccompanied minors).

23.Whilst administration costs may be taken from the £10,500 tariff, the additional capacity 
required to manage the scheme is a burden on staff across the partner organisations 
and impacts on capacity to cover BAU.

24. It will be important to take a longer-term view of the impact of a rapid increase in 
population on public services and plan accordingly in terms of how the funding can be 
used.

Climate change implications

25.Not applicable

Equality implications

26.Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed?  Yes

27.The principal equality issues are set out below:

 The proposed allocation of funding will support newly arrived refugees to 
address urgent needs and to help them to settle into their host homes. Given the 
trauma that many refugees will have faced, it is important that this first period of 
settling is supported appropriately so that people have the best chance of being 
comfortable in their host families. Ensuring fair access to the activities being 
funded is important and will be overseen by Gloucestershire County Council.

 Appropriate consideration will be given to the needs of refugees arriving who are 
from protected characteristic groups and any additional support required will be 
delivered through the existing contract with GARAS.

 Support is given to other migrants and refugees coming into the county through 
separate funding streams coordinated through the Strategic Housing Partnership 
and Migrant Planning Groups.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

28.The Homes for Ukraine: Guidance for Councils sets out the authorisation in place for 
personal data to be shared to help support the sponsor arrangement.

29.GCC’s Information Management Service has been consulted and a DPIA has been 
completed for the wider HFU scheme as a whole. A Data Sharing Agreement has been 

Page 56

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homes-for-ukraine-guidance-for-councils


7

signed by all partners. There are no additional data protection considerations related to 
the specific recommendation outlined in this paper. 

Social value implications

30.Supporting refugees locally provides an opportunity for the community, local businesses, 
and anchor institutions to work together to help people that have experienced trauma. In 
time, refugees supported by the local community may become an important part of the 
local community themselves. Refugees may be skilled workers who are able to 
contribute to the local economy and local public sector roles. Supporting refugees 
reduces the risk of further disruption to their lives and increases their ability to make a 
positive contribution to their local community. 

Consultation feedback

31.The approach set out in this report has been shared with and supported by colleagues in 
the Strategic Housing Partnership. Partners attend and contribute to all the planning 
meetings and subgroups.

Officer recommendations

32. It is recommended that Cabinet should approve Option 1 set out in paragraph 22 above 
and the Recommendations contained in this report

Performance management/follow-up

33.Local Authorities are required to collect and accurately record on Foundry, data about 
both guests and sponsors in their area. Regular data returns are also required to trigger 
grant payments.  Administration of the scheme may be audited in the future.

Page 57



8

Appendix 1 – How the Grant is being Allocated
A

ct
iv

ity
 N

um
be

r Activity Intended 
recipient Mechanism Tariff

Funding 
allocated during 

the period 28 
March 2022 to 23 
November 2022 
pursuant to a 

decision taken by 
the Director of 

Public Heath as 
described in 

Recommendation 
1 of this Report

Anticipated 
funding 
from 23 

November 
2022 

onwards

Mandated Checks
1 The administration of 

sponsor property 
checks by District 
Councils

District Councils Payment to District 
Councils

£150 per check £32,100 £69,900

Sponsor Thank You Payments
2 The administration of 

sponsors thank-you 
payments by District 
Councils

District Councils Payment to District 
Councils

Tariff allocated 
within separate 
ring-fenced grant 
and costs need to 
come out of the 
grant

£50,000

3 Sponsors thank you 
payments

Sponsors Payment to District 
Councils

£350 per month for 
up to 12 months 
from beginning of 

£68,250 £2,451,750

P
age 58



9

A
ct

iv
ity

 N
um

be
r Activity Intended 

recipient Mechanism Tariff

Funding 
allocated during 

the period 28 
March 2022 to 23 
November 2022 
pursuant to a 

decision taken by 
the Director of 

Public Heath as 
described in 

Recommendation 
1 of this Report

Anticipated 
funding 
from 23 

November 
2022 

onwards

hosting 
arrangement.

£350 per month for 
up to 3 years from 
beginning of 
hosting 
arrangement for 
unaccompanied 
minors

Welcome Payments
4 Welcome payment to 

Ukrainian guests 
during the period 28 
March 2022 to 27 
November 2022 

Ukrainian guests Administered via 
PFS payment 
cards contract

£200 per guest

Costing based on 
1248 guests, as at 
07/10/22

£249,600

5 Administration of the 
welcome payment by 
GCC during the 
period 28 March 2022 
to 27 November 2022

Internal costs Payment to 
Provider

Administration fee
for six months
(anticipated), at
£4,000 per month 

£31,500

P
age 59



10

A
ct

iv
ity

 N
um

be
r Activity Intended 

recipient Mechanism Tariff

Funding 
allocated during 

the period 28 
March 2022 to 23 
November 2022 
pursuant to a 

decision taken by 
the Director of 

Public Heath as 
described in 

Recommendation 
1 of this Report

Anticipated 
funding 
from 23 

November 
2022 

onwards

Accounts for 1500
guests, at
£5 per card

6 Welcome payment to 
Ukrainian guests 
during the period 27 
November 2022 to 31 
March 2024, including 
administration costs

Ukrainian guests 
(Welcome 
Payment)

Internal costs 
(administration) 

Payment to 
Provider

£200 per guest, 
costed at 100 new 
guests per month 
for 16 months.

Administration fee
for 16 months, at
£1,700 per month 

Accounts for 100 
new guests per 
month for 16 
months (1,600 
guests total), at
£5 per card

£355,200

Direct Staffing Costs

P
age 60



11

A
ct

iv
ity

 N
um

be
r Activity Intended 

recipient Mechanism Tariff

Funding 
allocated during 

the period 28 
March 2022 to 23 
November 2022 
pursuant to a 

decision taken by 
the Director of 

Public Heath as 
described in 

Recommendation 
1 of this Report

Anticipated 
funding 
from 23 

November 
2022 

onwards

7 1 x Grade 10 – HFU 
Manager 

Internal costs Internal costs £43,767 £31,262

8 8 x Grade 6 – HFU 
Response Officer 

Internal costs Internal costs £92,307 £65,934

9 1 x Grade 4 – HFU 
administrator

Internal costs Internal costs £8,316 £5,940

Indirect Staffing Costs
10 Support from 

Gloucestershire Fire & 
Rescue Service 
(GFRS) with visits, 
provided on an ad hoc 
basis

GFRS Payment to GFRS £34,200 £29,314

11 1 x foster social 
worker 

Internal costs Internal costs £23,567 £16,833

12 6 x district support 
workers, one per 
district

District Councils Payment to 
Districts

£300,000 £300,000

Additional support being provided

P
age 61



12

A
ct

iv
ity

 N
um

be
r Activity Intended 

recipient Mechanism Tariff

Funding 
allocated during 

the period 28 
March 2022 to 23 
November 2022 
pursuant to a 

decision taken by 
the Director of 

Public Heath as 
described in 

Recommendation 
1 of this Report

Anticipated 
funding 
from 23 

November 
2022 

onwards

13 The payment of a 
grant to the 
Gloucester Branch of 
the Association of 
Ukrainians in Britain 
to fund the support 
work that they are 
carrying out

Gloucester 
Branch of the 
Association of 
Ukrainians in 
Britain

Direct payment to 
VCS organisation

One-off grant £10,000

14 Grant Payments to 
other VCS 
organisations 
supporting Ukrainian 
refugees

VCS 
organisations

Direct payment to 
VCS organisation 

One-off grant £25,000

15 Payment of £150 per 
guest registered to 
primary care

Gloucestershire 
Integrated 
Commissioning 
Board

Payment to 
Integrated 
Commissioning 
Board

£150 per guest 
registered with a 
GP surgery

£207,150

16 Mental Health Support 
for Sponsors and 
Guests

Providers: Bear 
Us In Mind; 
Richard Castle 
and other 

Direct payment to 
providers

£7,260 £35,000

P
age 62



13

A
ct

iv
ity

 N
um

be
r Activity Intended 

recipient Mechanism Tariff

Funding 
allocated during 

the period 28 
March 2022 to 23 
November 2022 
pursuant to a 

decision taken by 
the Director of 

Public Heath as 
described in 

Recommendation 
1 of this Report

Anticipated 
funding 
from 23 

November 
2022 

onwards

providers 
commissioned 
through normal 
procurement 
routes as needed

17 Guest Travel Cards Ukrainian guests Administered via 
GCC Transport 
(travel cards 
contract)

£94 per card with 
50 trips on 

Costing based on 
2 cards per guest, 
with 1248 guests 
as at 07/10/22. 

£234,624 £47,376

18 Administration by 
GCC of Guest Travel 
Cards

Internal costs Internal costs Additional contract 
costs if relevant 
and staff time

£38,405

19 Reimbursement of 
DBS checks online 
application fee 
incurred by sponsors 

Sponsors Administered via 
ASC payment 
cards contract

£20 per online fee
£26,622 £11,783

P
age 63



14

A
ct

iv
ity

 N
um

be
r Activity Intended 

recipient Mechanism Tariff

Funding 
allocated during 

the period 28 
March 2022 to 23 
November 2022 
pursuant to a 

decision taken by 
the Director of 

Public Heath as 
described in 

Recommendation 
1 of this Report

Anticipated 
funding 
from 23 

November 
2022 

onwards

20 Translation Costs 
incurred by GCC in 
respect of advice and 
guidance materials 
being translated from 
English into Ukrainian 
and Russian

GCC translation 
provider

Direct payment to 
GCC translation 
provider

£2,345 £2,655

21 Hire Car during the 
period from 28 March 
2022 to 23 November 
2022 for use by GCC 
HFU Team in order to 
carry out welcome 
visits to guests

Pool car provider Payment to 
provider via pool 
car contract

£7,500 £20,000

22 ICT Equipment for 
young Ukrainian 
guests engaging in 
remote learning with 
Ukrainian institutions 
outside of school

Provider Direct payment to 
provider via ICT

£500 for laptop, 
Cyrillic keyboard 
and mouse. 

Costing for up to 
30 guests.

£500 £14,500

P
age 64



15

A
ct

iv
ity

 N
um

be
r Activity Intended 

recipient Mechanism Tariff

Funding 
allocated during 

the period 28 
March 2022 to 23 
November 2022 
pursuant to a 

decision taken by 
the Director of 

Public Heath as 
described in 

Recommendation 
1 of this Report

Anticipated 
funding 
from 23 

November 
2022 

onwards

23 GCC’s printing costs 
incurred in the 
production of 
welcome packs for 
guests

Internal costs Internal costs Cost per 
document:
Welcome Pack 
(English) = £1.38        
Welcome Pack 
(Ukrainian) = £1.62
Welcome Pack 
(Russian) = £1.68
NHS guide = £1.08

Welcome visit 
forms = £0.38
Revisit form = 
£0.10                            

Costs calculated 
on the basis of 
paperwork 
required to be 
printed for 3 
Welcome Visits 

£3,074 £2,196

P
age 65



16

A
ct

iv
ity

 N
um

be
r Activity Intended 

recipient Mechanism Tariff

Funding 
allocated during 

the period 28 
March 2022 to 23 
November 2022 
pursuant to a 

decision taken by 
the Director of 

Public Heath as 
described in 

Recommendation 
1 of this Report

Anticipated 
funding 
from 23 

November 
2022 

onwards

and 3 Revisits per 
day. 

24 Advance payments to 
schools prior to the 
separate education 
funding being 
received, to cover 
costs of additional 
pupils in small 
schools.

Schools Direct payment to 
relevant schools 

£3,000 for Early 
years (ages 2 to 
4), £6,580 for 
Primary (ages 5 -
11), and £8,755 for 
Secondary (ages 
11-18).

£14,000 A separate 
education 
funding 
stream will 
be 
administered 
via the 
Director of 
Education 
and the 
relevant 
Cabinet 
Member, 
subject to 
relevant 
governance 
processes 
being 
completed

P
age 66



17

A
ct

iv
ity

 N
um

be
r Activity Intended 

recipient Mechanism Tariff

Funding 
allocated during 

the period 28 
March 2022 to 23 
November 2022 
pursuant to a 

decision taken by 
the Director of 

Public Heath as 
described in 

Recommendation 
1 of this Report

Anticipated 
funding 
from 23 

November 
2022 

onwards

25 Ad-hoc costs incurred 
by District Councils 
associated with 
facilitating guests to 
move towards 
independent living 

£2,000

26 Temporary 
accommodation costs 
incurred by District 
Councils for 
exceptional cases and 
emergency 
accommodation if 
guests present as 
homeless following 
the breakdown of their 
matching 
arrangement

District Councils 
or provider

Payment to District 
Councils or direct 
payment to 
provider

£50,000 £40,000

TOTAL £1,289,532 £3,772,198

P
age 67



18

Appendix 2 – Funding Guidance for Councils for HFU

1The government is providing funding at a rate of £10,500 per person to councils to 
enable them to provide support to families to rebuild their lives and fully integrate into 
communities.

This funding is un-ringfenced, with a number of conditions attached, and matches the 
tariff offered under the first year of the Afghan Citizens Resettlement Scheme (ACRS) 
and Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy (ARAP), although the role of councils 
will be different. For example, councils will not be asked to source initial 
accommodation under this scheme as this will be provided by the sponsor.

The government is also providing funding for councils to administer the optional ‘thank 
you’ payments at the £350 per sponsoring household per month rate. We allocate 
additional funding for these payments through a ringfenced grant, and we expect 
councils to cover administration costs within the tariff. There are also conditions 
attached to this grant. Further details on the grant conditions are outlined below.

The Department will make regular payments to councils, each covering three months of 
the programme, in arrears. On 30 June 2022 DLUHC made the first payment to 
councils in England, to cover the months March to May.

Payments are based on the actual number of Homes for Ukraine guests (for the 
£10,500 tariff) and the actual number of payments to sponsoring households (for the 
£350 ‘thank you’ payments) within each area. DLUHC will conduct a reconciliation 
process at the end of the financial year to ensure that councils receive their correct 
entitlement for both the £10,500 tariff and £350 ‘thank you’ payments. Future guidance 
will cover outstanding detail on this process, including the process by which we will 
account for movements of guests between sponsorships that cross local authorities.

In England, in two tier areas, both districts and counties have access to funds for their 
relevant duties under the scheme. Having engaged closely with representatives from 
the sector to determine the most appropriate payment mechanism, funding for both the 
£10,500 tariff and the £350 thank -you payments will be provided to upper tier councils.

However, in two tier areas it is a condition of the funding that councils must agree a 
plan locally to:

1. make prompt payments to lower tier authorities in relation to all the services 
which they provide to guests under the Homes for Ukraine Scheme, during 
the full duration of the scheme, including for services such as homelessness 
assistance for which lower tier authorities are responsible; and

2. make an immediate payment to lower tier councils in relation to any upfront 
costs.

1 Homes for Ukraine: guidance for councils - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Page 68

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homes-for-ukraine-guidance-for-councils#role-of-councils


19

For the £350 thank you grant
Pursuant to section 31(5) of the Local Government Act 2003, the Secretary of State 
determines that the grant will be paid subject to the following conditions:

1. Payments to sponsors should only be paid in accordance with circumstances set out 
in the Homes for Ukraine guidance for councils (linked at Annex C) and should not be 
released until:

a. a visit to the sponsoring household property, by the local authority, has been 
completed; and

b. the local authority has confirmed that the accommodation is suitable, that the guest is 
well and that there are no serious safeguarding or welfare concerns.

2. A recipient authority must ensure thank you payments to eligible sponsoring 
households who request them are made as soon as practicable.

For the £10,500 tariff grant
Pursuant to section 31(5) of the Local Government Act 2003, the Secretary of State 
determines that the grant will be paid subject to the following conditions:

1. A recipient authority must use the funding to carry out the activities, as set out in the 
Homes for Ukraine guidance, including completing all 5 safeguarding and 
accommodation checks, including DBS checks, on sponsors and the property in line 
with the Department’s guidance as soon as practicable, and record these 5 checks on 
the Foundry system.

2. A recipient authority must commission or provide services that ensure guests and 
sponsors are provided with a source of advice and support to assist with registering for 
mainstream benefits and services, including where necessary specialist public health 
services and community integration.

3. In two tier areas, upper tier authorities must agree a plan locally to:

a. make payments to lower tier authorities in relation to all the services which 
they provide to guests under the Homes for Ukraine Scheme, during the full 
duration of the scheme, including for services such as homelessness assistance 
for which lower tier authorities are responsible; and

b. make an immediate payment to lower tier authorities in relation to any upfront 
costs.

4. A recipient authority must provide regular data returns in relation to the Homes for 
Ukraine Scheme, as set out in guidance. For example:

a. Entering relevant data on Foundry regularly, and at a minimum, weekly; and

Page 69



20

b. that Section 151 officers must sign off quarterly returns to the Department 
which include: MI data to indicate how many people are moving in/out of the 
area; the number of £350 ‘thank you’ payments made to sponsoring households; 
and confirmation that conditions have been met.

Page 70



REPORT TITLE: Gloucestershire Road Safety Policy

Cabinet Date 23rd November 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Dave Norman, Cabinet Member for Fire, Community Safety and Libraries

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report For Cabinet to agree to the recommendations outlined in this report.
To review feedback from the recent public consultation and agree a road 
safety policy to make Gloucestershire’s roads safer for all

Recommendations

To approve and adopt the Road Safety Policy as shown at Appendix A of this 
report.
  

That funding options to deliver additional Road Safety policy elements are 
considered as part of the 2023/24 budget setting and MTFS through potential 
adjustments to the Highways Capital Programme.    

Reasons for 
Recommendations Outlined at paragraph 48-53 of the report

Resource 
Implications

The one-off Community Speedwatch Fund of £600k has already been 
approved and additional investment by the council for a Road Safety 
Engagement post in Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service and a Traffic 
Engineer team within Economy, Environment and Infrastructure will all work 
towards delivering the Road Safety Policy. 
Additional resources will be required to deliver the objectives in the Road 
Safety Policy over the next ten years. Scope for additional funding from third 
parties such as government grants and partner organisations will be explored 
together with a £155k base revenue budget MTFS bid and a £1.2m MTFS 
capital bid both of which are subject to approval in February 2023.
The ability to reduce GCC’s KSI figure by 50% by 2032 will depend on the 
co-ordination and work of road safety partners, the quality of the prioritisation 
list and the available funding. 

Page 71

Agenda Item 9



Background 
Documents

PACTS GB Road Safety Performance Index November 2021
ICM decision 8th July 2022

Minutes of Environment Scrutiny Committee Road Safety Item, September 
2022

Statutory Authority  The Council as the Highway Authority, Fire Authority, and Public 
Health Authority

 Road Traffic Act 1988 section 39 - must prepare and carry out a 
programme of measures designed to promote road safety.

 Traffic Management Act 2004 section 16 – duty to manage the road 
network. 

 Road Traffic Regulations Act 1984 section 122 – to secure the safe 
movement of traffic.

 Health and Social Care Act 2012 – assess the needs of the community 
(including Road Safety).

 Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 section 8, part 1 a and b:
- Rescuing people in the event of road traffic collisions in its area:
- Protecting people from serious harm to the extent it deems 

reasonable to do so, in the event of road traffic collisions in its 
area.

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Name:  Philip Williams
Tel. no: 01452 328482
Email: philip.williams@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline 15th December 2021 Road Safety Workshop
May to 31st August 2022 Phase 1 of Community Speedwatch fund
8th July 2022 – ICM decision to consult on draft policy
18th July – 11th September 2022 Consultation on draft policy
Sept / October 2022 : Community Approaches to Road Safety (4 roadshows)
10th October 2022 Phase 2 of Community Speedwatch fund opens
23rd November 2022 – Cabinet considers draft policy
December 2022 – Notify stakeholders of Decision and policy adoption
December 2022 – Commence policy delivery from within existing budgets
31st January 2023 – Phase 2 of Community Speedwatch closes
February 2023 – Council approves 2023/24 budget and MTFS

Page 72

https://experience.arcgis.com/experience/8be7cabdac024de195202c2f4b9e2282
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1907
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=773&MId=10894&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=773&MId=10894&Ver=4


Background 

1. In recent years there has been growing public awareness and interest in urban 
and rural communities to improve road safety. This has partly resulted from 
increases in casualty numbers nationally and partly from community’s perceptions 
around safety.

2. In the past three years, the council has been receiving increasing demands for 
lower speed limits, particularly 20mph, and for local communities to be able to use 
vehicle activated signs and community speed watch cameras to help monitor and 
manage speeds.

3. Under the Road Traffic Act 1988 (section 39), the local authority must prepare and 
carry out a programme of measures designed to promote road safety.  However it 
is important to note that the Council cannot achieve its aspirations for road safety 
alone.  The role of the Police; National Highways; Fire and Rescue; health and 
medical services; schools and education; the Department for Transport, national 
guidelines and national campaigns; vehicle manufacturers and safety and self-
drive technologies, all have a critical role to play. 

4. Gloucestershire, like many authorities, has not had binding road safety targets for 
over 10 years, ever since the Department for Transport (DfT) made them 
discretionary and ended the link between Local Transport Plan targets, 
performance and funding. Towards the end of this period coordination of road 
safety activity was also hindered by the absence of a formal road safety 
partnership in the county and a reduction in funding both within GCC and within 
other partners, reflecting the removal of DfT oversight.

5. However, it is anticipated that a current road safety policy aligned with a strong 
Local Transport Plan is likely to be a key element to support potential future bid 
opportunities, going forwards, as these arise through DfT; particularly those with 
an active travel or area traffic calming focus, or of course those specifically 
related to road safety. 

6. A study by the Parliamentary Advisory Council on Transport Safety in 2021 shows 
that 5 of the 6 worse performing authorities are in the Southwest of England, this 
may be due to the road networks in the Southwest being mainly rural in nature. 
Table 1 shows changes in Killed and Serious Injury (KSI) casualties over 5 years 
between 2015 and 2019. 

Page 73



Table 1: Least effective areas for casualty reduction efforts across England, 
Wales & Scotland.

Gloucestershire Casualty Analysis

7. Annual KSI casualties in Gloucestershire over the past 10 years are shown in table 
2 below. This shows a slight downward trend in the number of fatalities and a 
larger increase in serious casualties over this period. It should be noted that in 
2018 there was a change of police reporting nationally that may have had an 
impact on the figures. Between 2010 and 2020 the population of Gloucestershire 
increased by 7.8% and the number of collisions increased by 8.6%.

8. The proportion of injuries that occur on roads managed by National Highways 
varies by type, with 15.8% of fatalities being on these roads, dropping to around 
half this level for serious and slight casualties.

Table 2: Gloucestershire KSI’s 2012-2021

9. What is not apparent from these countywide figures is the large variation in KSI’s 
across the four rural and two urban districts, set out below in Table 3. Each area 
has a different total length of highway network, differing levels of traffic flow and a 
different split between vehicle users and vulnerable users (pedestrians and 
cyclists).  However the table below still provides some initial insight and does show 
that the rural districts account for a disproportionately high share of fatalities on 
the road network (a position that is consistent nationally), with 38% of fatalities in 

Page 74



the Cotswolds alone. Police records show that the majority of fatalities are on rural 
roads and almost half (48%) are on single carriageway roads with a 60mph limit.

10.There is less variation between districts in respect of the number of serious injuries 
however these are still highest totals across the rural areas and in particular in the 
Cotswolds. Police records show that the roads with the most serious injuries are 
those with a 30mph speed limit, typically found in urban and residential areas.

Table 3: Gloucestershire KSI’s broken down by district (2019-2021)

2019/20/21 Cotswold Gloucester Stroud Tewkesbury Forest Cheltenham
Killed 25 6 8 16 8 3
Serious 227 147 144 127 107 103
Total KSI 252 153 152 143 115 106

11. Whilst our targets focus on KSI’s it is important to not lose focus on the need to 
tackle and reduce slight injuries, these still represent individuals that have needed 
a visit to hospital as a result of a collision and are often indicators of an underlying 
issue at that location or a increased risk of future KSI’s.  Slight injuries are 
monitored by the teams and form part of the prioritisation process when 
considering interventions.  They occur across the network though typically more 
towards the urban areas where vehicle speeds are inevitably lower. They account 
for approximately three quarters of all injury accidents and fatalities (average of 
842 per year in 2014-2018).

12.Officers in the Road Safety, Highways and Police teams use data to identify 
clusters of collisions on the road network – identifying the top ones in terms of hot 
spots (junctions with at least 3 collisions in the past 3 years and road lengths with 
at least 5 collisions). This list is refreshed annually. The remaining collisions are 
dispersed across the network.

13.53% of KSI casualties in 2019, 2020 and 2021 occurred as a result of collisions at 
hotspot junctions and road lengths on the latest 2019-21 hotspot list. Table 4 
shows that the largest group of road users are motor vehicle drivers and 
passengers, reflecting the high level of car use in the county. It also shows 
relatively high levels of KSI’s for vulnerable / unprotected road users – 
pedestrians, cyclists, motorcycle riders and horse riders. Table 5 shows that most 
pedestrians and cyclists are killed or seriously injured in the urban areas of 
Cheltenham and Gloucester.

Table 4: KSI’s by road user type at hotspot list sites

Vehicle 
Occupant Motorcycle    Cyclist Pedestrian Horse 

Rider
253 111 69 58 1

 
Table 5: Pedestrian and cyclist KSI’s by district, 2019-2021

Page 75



2019/20/21 Gloucester Cheltenham Stroud Cotswold Tewkesbury Forest
Pedestrian 
KSI's 37 24 19 24 19 15
Cyclist KSI's 35 34 28 21 24 5
Total 72 58 47 45 43 20

Recent collision trends for Gloucestershire 

14.The first 6 months of 2022 has seen 158 serious injuries and 16 deaths resulting 
from road traffic collisions. The fatalities to date would indicate that 2022 will see 
an increase in deaths compared to previous years. 

15. It is essential that collision data is scrutinised to understand emerging patterns of 
collisions and their causation factors to ensure the delivery of the best outcomes 
within a limited resource. The council continues to work with partners in the police 
and fire service to validate numbers and causation factors and update records 
based on accident investigations.

16.When the age range of those involved in collisions and the times of day are 
analysed it has been identified that more casualties occur on Thursday to Monday 
each week and more consist of the 20 to 30 age range. Most casualties occur 
between 4pm and 1am.

17.The Council’s formal policy on Road Safety is set out in the Local Transport Plan 
2020 - 2041(LTP) and states:

18.GCC will contribute to improved safety, security and health by reducing the risk of 
death, injury or illness arising from transport, working with partners to improve 
personal safety perceptions and the promotion of transport that contributes to 
good health and wellbeing.

19.The Parliamentary Advisory Council on Transport Safety reported on a World 
Health Organisation plan to reduce casualties by 50% by 2030. The UK 
government are keen for local authorities to adopt the Safe System approach. It 
is recommended that the council adopts the Safe System methodology at the heart 
of its road safety strategy to align with national advice.

20.The Safe System approach is based on the underlying principles that:
 human beings make frequent mistakes that lead to road collisions;
 the human body by nature has a limited ability to sustain collision forces 

with known tolerance to injury thresholds; and
 it is a shared responsibility between stakeholders (road users, road 

managers, vehicle manufacturers, etc.) to take appropriate actions to 
ensure that road collisions do not lead to serious or fatal injuries.

Development of the Road Safety Policy

Page 76



21. In view of the above, the council convened a workshop in December 2021 with a 
wide range of stakeholders to review current practices and develop a broad 
consensus to taking forward a new road safety strategy for Gloucestershire. 

22.Delegates included town, parish, district and county councillors, different mobility 
user groups, cyclists, horse riders, Road Haulage Association, as well as Police, 
Fire & Rescue, Ambulance, Public Health and the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner. They identified how road safety supports wider policy objectives 
and set out the main challenges with achieving ambitious targets and priorities for 
resourcing; listed activities which support a Safe System approach and gaps; and 
considered ways of engaging target audiences.

23.Concurrently, the council also surveyed parish and town councils, and district 
councillors in Gloucester and Cheltenham – urban areas which are largely 
unparished – to seek views on 20mph speed limits. This showed a strong level of 
support for more 20mph limits, but also showed that where we have already 
introduced these limits, the compliance with them was not high. A DfT study in 
2014 showed that 20mph limit schemes which rely on signage alone are less likely 
to be effective than those which include physical measures and enforcement to 
effect lower traffic speeds. Details of this survey can be found in Appendix B.

24.The draft Road Safety policy is designed to bring a greater focus to:

 Using our data to prioritise our investment and achieve improvement
 Working in partnership to meet the complex and multifaceted challenges
 Changing behaviour across our road users and communities
 Meeting community aspiration alongside out Community Speedwatch Fund.

25.The draft Road Safety Strategy has 9 key themes to reduce casualties from 
collisions in the county. These 9 themes are:

1. Reduce fatalities, serious injuries, number, and severity of 
collisions, with a key focus on using data to prioritise our approach

2. Expand data and evidence base, including research, and 
monitoring of existing approaches 

3. Develop toolkits and programmes to give communities the tools 
they need to promote and improve Road Safety in their area

4. Increase levels of safety for walking
5. Increase levels of safety for cycling 
6. Improve collaboration between partners and stakeholders
7. Embed the Safe System approach
8. Promote the Vision Zero aspiration to Gloucestershire’s public
9. Lead by example

26.The Road Safety policy will be a live document and continue to learn from the 
approaches that are being implemented and the challenges that we face across 
the network.  Further work will be needed to refine any specific programmes or 
joint working with partners, however elements such as refining prioritisation 
against our accident data; rural high-speed roads and associated speed 

Page 77



campaigns; community speed watch and the Community Speed Watch Fund; 
supporting safe cycling and walking particularly in our urban areas, and; working 
with higher risk groups such as older drivers, new drivers and schools are likely to 
be key issues for continued development.

Safe System - Partnership working

27. Improving road safety and reducing casualties is complex and multifaceted and 
relies heavily on factors outside of the control of the Road Safety team and indeed 
GCC.  The Police, Health services, Education, Vehicle industry, Central 
Government etc all have a role to play and as such partnership working is key to 
achieve Gloucestershire’s ambitions to improve road safety. Indeed, casualties on 
National Highways routes within the County are also included in Gloucestershire’s 
figures.

28.A cornerstone of the new strategy is the Safe System approach requiring councils 
and other organisations to be proactive, evidence based and consider how risk 
can be reduced from a particular stretch of road, prioritising a pro-active approach, 
while retaining the benefits of a reactive model e.g. only reviewing roads where 
there is already a collision problem. 

29.Thus, the Safe System approach relies upon a shared responsibility amongst 
those who design, build, manage and use roads and vehicles to prevent collisions 
resulting in death or serious injury. This presents as very much a collaborative 
approach to deliver road safety ‘with’ the community instead of ‘to’ the community. 

30.There are 6 elements to the Safe System Approach:

1. Safe Roads
2. Safe Vehicles
3. Safe Road Users
4. Post-Crash Response
5. Safe Speeds 
6. Road Safety Management

31.The best performing authorities in road safety are those which are adopting the 
Safe System approach and who are demonstrating good levels of governance and 
accountability. They also have clear targets and monitoring systems in place. 
Staffordshire and South Gloucestershire who have both adopted this approach 
appear in the list of the best performing authorities in England.

32.Last year Safer Gloucestershire agreed a governance structure to improve 
multiagency road safety coordination and in December 2021 the Gloucestershire 
Road Safety Partnership was re-established. This group meets quarterly and 
provides a forum for coordinating strategic direction and resources. Each partner 
organisation retains its own internal governance for formal decision making and 
remains accountable for its statutory responsibilities. The formal launch of this new 
Road Safety Partnership will take place in December 2022. As part of the 

Page 78



consultation process for the draft Road Safety Policy members of Safer 
Gloucestershire were invited to comment.

33.The council’s Corporate Strategy includes the following ambition:

On road safety, we want to deliver safer roads, healthier streets; lowering speed 
limits where people live and building more crossing points to achieve the Vision 
Zero road safety ambition by 2050.

34.A Safe System approach to road safety, including aspirational Vision Zero road 
safety targets and a 20mph policy thus underpins this new Road Safety Policy.

35.Vision Zero is an aspiration to eliminate death and serious injury from roads and 
traffic, by 2050, by taking a Safe System approach. The aspiration is that by 2050 
there will be zero, or as close to zero as possible road fatalities or life changing 
injuries; the Safe System will be the normal approach to road safety and walking 
and cycling will be a safe and easy choice for personal transport. 

36.To ensure that long term goals are achievable the proposed strategy has included 
interim ambitions to half KSI’s over the next 10 years, by 2032. Using current road 
safety data for Gloucestershire this would mean reducing KSI’s to the levels set 
out in table 3. The baseline is the average number between 2017 and 2019, 
predating the Covid pandemic.

Table 6: Indicative pathway for Gloucestershire 50% KSI reduction by 2032

From para 6 above - Table 2: Gloucestershire KSI’s between 2012 and 2021

37.To achieve this ambition means we need to be able to reduce the estimated total 
KSI figure of 277 for the whole of 2022 to 139 by the end of 2032. This represents 
a significant challenge, particularly as we are likely to see more vehicles on the 
road, an increasing population and increased cycling and walking (i.e. those more 
vulnerable road users groups) as part of our active travel and decarbonisation 
agendas. In addition (see (7) above) the current 2022 casualty rate mid-way 
through the year suggests that 2022 casualties will be higher than original 
predictions. Thus, the need to act now and to work closely with road safety 

Page 79



partners is imperative if we are to encourage change and improve road safety for 
future generations.

38.Against this backdrop, vehicles are becoming safer and include greater levels of 
automation to reduce human error, such as reading speed limit signs, Intelligent 
Speed Assistance, Emergency Braking, Pedestrian Detection and Lane 
Assistance. The level of automation in vehicles in 2040 and in 2050 is likely to be 
considerably greater and more advanced than today. Medical interventions and 
post collision treatment is also expected to improve survivability. Some insurance 
companies are now requiring new drivers to have black box car monitoring 
equipment installed which will result in reduced insurance costs and safer driving 
resulting in less incidents. Hence there are some beneficial changes in the wider 
macro ‘safety environment’.

39.The proposed strategy for delivering road safety to 2032 relies upon the Safe 
System approach and the nine thematic areas of activity as outlined earlier.

Community Speed Watch Fund

40.As part of its £550k investment in road safety this year the council launched the 
Community Speed Watch Fund. The fund is helping communities develop their 
own road safety vision and combat speeding in their localities. The Office of the 
Police & Crime Commissioner included funding of £50k to increase the overall 
budget to £600k (this is broken down as £300k capital and £300k revenue 
funding). 

41.Phase 1 of the Community Speed Watch scheme was launched in May 2022 
where applicants from parish/ town councils and community groups were invited 
to place an application bid via the council website for road safety advice, speed 
surveys, signing and monitoring equipment. 

42.The Community Approaches to Road Safety (CARS) toolkit was also made 
available to offer additional advice and examples of speed reduction methods that 
communities may like to adopt. A new Version 3 of this toolkit written by the 
Gloucester Rural Community Council (GRCC) was promoted via four road shows 
in 4 districts across Gloucestershire in September/October 2022 to showcase the 
newly revised toolkit in combination with the community speed watch scheme.

43.Phase 1 of the Community Speed Watch scheme ended on the last day of August 
2022 and accumulated 119 bid applications requesting 206 road safety tools. The 
breakdown of measures requested during this time period is demonstrated via the 
pie chart below:

Page 80



Key: RSO: Road Safety Officer; SS: Speed Survey; WB: Wheelie bin Stickers; 
CSWC: Community Speedwatch Camera, VAS: Vehicle Activated Sign

44.Applications for support from community groups have been received from all over 
the county with the most applications received from Stroud, the fewest from 
Cheltenham and Gloucester. 

45.The Phase 1 application process has been significantly more successful than had 
been anticipated, which is a positive reflection on the process and the level of 
community engagement.  Work is already underway to deliver the 209 
interventions and 119 of these (at the point when this Cabinet report was finalised)   
have either been delivered by the Council or have been actioned and are awaiting 
approval of the next stage from the Police.  All the remaining phase 1 requests 
are programmed for delivery and each of the applicant groups have been 
contacted regarding their application and its place / progress within the 
programme.

46.Given the level of need identified through the success of Phase 1, Phase 2 of the 
scheme was launched on the 10th October and closes on 31st January 2023. 
Though it is accepted that the level of engagement and success of the phase 1 
programme will inevitably impact on the resourcing and timings for delivery of a 
phase 2 programme.  All Phase 1 applicants have been written to in this respect.

47. In addition, an ongoing evaluation of the success of implementing the scheme and 
the accompanying tools to combat speed and enhance road safety for 
Gloucestershire’s communities is essential, over a significant and sustained 
period of time. Hence prior to assessing phase 2 applications all outstanding 
phase 1 applications will be delivered and completed and any learning taken into 
phase 2. 

Context and Options

Page 81



48.The first 6 months of this year (2022) has seen an increase in fatalities on the 
county’s highway network. Annually between 25 and 30 people lose their lives on 
Gloucestershire’s roads. These deaths have a devastating impact on those 
involved, with the DfT estimating that the cost of a highway fatality is £1,585,510.

49.During this year there has also been a considerable number of individuals 
seriously injured in collisions, some of these may have had life changing 
outcomes. The DfT estimate that the cost of a person being seriously injured in a 
car accident is £178,160.

50.The council has a legal obligation under the Road Traffic Act 1988 (section 39), 
where the local authority must prepare and carry out a programme of measures 
designed to promote road safety.

51.A strong and current road safety policy is likely to be a key element in any bid 
processes to DfT associated within a range of potential future bidding 
opportunities; whether these relate to Road Safety funding direct, Active travel, or 
to area traffic calming such as the current Mini-Hollands focus. 

52.The council has several key council policies and objectives around road safety, 
reducing casualties and making the county a better place to live. Furthermore, it 
is a key council objective to achieve a modal switch from private vehicles to more 
environmentally sustainable forms of travel such as walking and cycling. To affect 
a modal switch our highways must be safe for walking and cycling.

53.The Road Safety Policy and the measures contained within it are required to be 
adopted by the council to reduce the numbers of those who are killed and seriously 
injured. With an increasing population, it is likely that casualties will continue to 
rise without this intervention.

54.There are several options to delivering the Road Safety Policy and these are 
outlined below:

Option 1: Agree to Road Safety Policy with Additional Elements Included 
Following Public Consultation – Recommended Option

55.The public consultation identified a number of additional areas to include in the 
Road Safety Policy. These new areas are highlighted in the Consultation 
Feedback section below.

56. In view of the considerable benefits above, and the positive feedback from the 
public consultation it is recommended that this option be agreed by Cabinet.

Option 2: Agree to Road Safety Policy with No Amendments

57.This option would involve the adoption of the Road Safety Policy, but with no 
amendments following the public consultation.

Page 82



58.To proceed with this option would ignore the valuable and extensive feedback 
received from the public and stakeholders, that included several constructive 
suggestions and improvements.

59.As a result of this option not reflecting the consultation this option has been 
discounted.

Option 3: Do Not Agree Road Safety Policy

60.The first 6 months of 2022 have seen a trend of increased fatalities on the county’s 
roads. This increase is concerning and without intervention is likely to rise.

61. If the Road Safety Policy is not adopted, then the council is likely to come under 
increasing pressure from communities to make their highways safer as casualties 
and fatalities continue to increase.

62.Not implementing the Road Safety Policy the authority may be breaching its 
obligations under the Road Traffic Act 1988 (section 39) as a result of not 
preparing and carrying out a programme of measures designed to promote road 
safety.

63.As a result, this option has been discounted. 

Risks 

64.Several risks are associated with this project and are outlined below, with 
mitigation:

Risk Mitigation
Lack of engagement or 
partnership working by 
stakeholders and the 
criticality of their input to 
achieve targets and 
aspirations.

The new Road Safety Partnership has been approved 
and commences its work in December 2022. 

GCC will carry out consultation in line with our 
statutory duties and will work closely with road safety 
partners to ensure that their objectives are aligned to 
help achieve the Road Safety licy aspirations.  The 
delivery of lower speed limits and digital speed 
enforcement cameras also relies upon support from 
the police.

Unable to fund all 
policies included in the 
Road Safety Policy

Detailed costs of each solution will be calculated with 
MTFS Capital and Revenue bids submitted for any 
unfunded areas.

Consider sign only speed limits/schemes without 
physical measures/traffic calming.

The policy shall be implemented using existing staff 
resource.

Page 83



The delivery period for the interventions (and therefore 
potentially targets) would stetch to reflect available 
resources.

Collisions and KSIs do 
not reduce despite 
intervention

The effectiveness of measures will be monitored with 
early intervention if schemes are not delivering the 
expected outcomes.

Continue to support GRCC “CARS” toolkit.

Promotion of the Community Speedwatch programme 
to continue and be fully supported by GCC.

Work with key stakeholders to improve data collection 
and sharing in relation to collision statistics.

Introduction of road 
safety measures such 
as 20 mph restrictions 
result in an increase in 
pollution and 
congestion.

Consider area wide holistic lower speeds.

Cross border bench marking with neighbouring 
authorities.

Monitoring of data including air quality before and after 
measures are introduced. Analysis of this data may 
result in further improvements being considered.

Increasing KSIs on the 
highway network results 
in poor public 
perception of the 
council.

The council will have a robust implementation plan to 
deliver the Road Safety Policy.

Consultation has been undertaken in regards the draft 
policy with comments and suggestions from the public 
adopted in the recommended option. 

The policy will remain under review to ensure it is 
delivering the required objectives and outcomes.

Communication strategies will reflect the complex and 
multifaceted nature of Road Safety and the need for 
partner involvement and ownership. The Road Safety 
Partnership provides a forum through which 
communications can be coordinated and targeted to 
reach higher risk groups of road users.

Financial implications

65.Delivery of the strategy will be from both Capital and Revenue funding. Capital 
funding is used to deliver physical engineering highway improvements and 
enforcement using ANPR cameras on the highway network. This would need to 
be sourced from the Highways Capital Budget and by bidding for funding from the 
council’s MTFS process. Inevitably MTFS funding is likely to be extremely limited 
and any changes in the Capital Programme may impact on the delivery of other 

Page 84



non-safety related highway schemes.  Revenue funding is necessary to fund staff 
time analysing data, identifying hot spots, preparing a programme of safety 
schemes and feasibility studies, providing training and education, delivering a 
funded road safety communications strategy and engaging with stakeholders.

66.A small core level of Capital and Revenue spend is already funded within existing 
base budgets, including additional investment approved by the council for a Road 
Safety Engagement post in Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service and a Traffic 
Engineer team within Economy, Environment and Infrastructure. However, 
additional resources will be required to deliver the objectives in the Road Safety 
Policy. Scope for additional revenue from third parties such as government grants 
and partner organisations is being explored together with MTFS and Capital 
programme options noted above.

67.£131k of Capital funding has been secured to upgrade old static speed cameras 
to digital. 

68.Due to road safety being a key priority of the council it is recommended that 
funding bids submitted as part of the 2023/24 MTFS process are approved when 
the Budget is approved in February 2023.

Climate change implications

69.The Road Safety Policy will deliver Local Transport Plan objectives.

70.The Policy will also support cycling and walking by making highways safer for 
these forms of active travel, reducing the number of journeys made by private 
vehicles having a positive impact on emissions and pollution. 

Equality implications

71.Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes

72.Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in 
order to satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given. 
Younger and older age groups are disproportionately more likely to be killed or 
injured on the road network. Over half of pedestrians killed or seriously injured in 
2019-2021 were under the age of 16 or over the age of 60. 

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

73.A DPIA was not required to be completed in relation to this policy as no personal 
or sensitive information is being processed.

Social value implications

74.The Road Safety Policy aims to support a reduction in the numbers of those KSI 
in road traffic collisions. The DfT estimates that the average cost per seriously 
injured casualty on the roads is £178,160, and that that the average cost per 

Page 85



fatality on the roads is £1,585,510. The valuations provided by the DfT encompass 
all aspects of the valuation of casualties.

Road Safety Strategy Consultation Feedback

75. In December 2021 a stakeholder workshop was arranged to help develop the draft 
Road Safety Policy.

76.Following the Cabinet Member decision in July 2022 an 8 week public consultation 
took place on the draft policy from 18th July to 11th September 2022. 520 
organisations and members of the public responded to the 34 questions 
formulated around identifying areas of support and concern about the Safe 
System approach; Vision Zero; 20 mph Policy; ambitions for 50% fatal and serious 
(KSI) casualty reduction by 2032; and asked to what extent they agreed with each 
of the nine strategic themes. This resulted in 519 contributors providing 531 
contributions. The consultation results can be found at Appendix B.

77.A summary of the findings are:

a. A significant majority of contributions reflected understanding as to the 
reasons why the council is recommending the new road safety policy. 

b. Slightly below three quarters of contributions agreed/ strongly agreed that 
the Safe System approach is fundamental to the policies success. 

c. Over two thirds (68.6%) of contributions supported our Vision Zero/Safe 
System approach.

d. A similar pattern - slightly under two thirds (65.7%) agreed/strongly agreed 
with the target of a 50% reduction in KSI figures by 2032. 

e. Three quarters of contributions thought that the 9 themes were the right 
areas to deliver. In relation to the 8 questions analysing the proposed 
actions for each strategic theme, the contributions were resoundingly in 
support, with no less than three quarters agreeing/strongly agreeing.

78.A key element of the first theme is the proposed ‘20mph speed restriction policy 
statement’. This is designed to apply to urban and rural locations, prioritising 
locations:

 With an existing casualty history;
 adjacent to or in the Local Cycling & Walking Infrastructure Plan network or
 which form part of urban realm/liveable street improvements;
 with limited footway provision;
 with widespread community support; and
 supported by statutory consultees and officers.

79.When the public were asked whether they were in agreeance with our policy on 
20mph limits the split was practically equal, minutely in favour with 50.7 % of 
contributions saying yes. It should be noted that 35 respondents appear to be in 

Page 86



support of the principle of 20 mph speed limits but feel that the policy does go far 
enough. This would change the number who support the policy to 53.6%. The 
main themes from those that were against the implementation are listed below:

Why do you not agree with the 20 mph policy?
(Top 10 reasons)

No of 
comments 

made
Speeds should be appropriate to the road conditions/location - can drive 
faster when roads are empty/depends on engineering

56

Unable to enforce/unenforceable/will be ignored/focus on enforcement 52
Because its silly/does not work/cash cow 39
Will cause increased congestion and pollution/ slow down journeys 33
Should be the default for residential zones with communities applying for 
exemptions/Should apply to all residential streets

25

Drivers will focus on road speed rather than safety of other road users and 
pedestrians/makes roads more dangerous/cause more accidents/evidence 
shows it does not reduce KSIs

21

Causes aggressive driving and road rage 12
Should apply to main roads around villages/rural roads 10
Cruise control in cars does not work below 30 mph/Cars struggle at 20 
mph/Only works with in car technology

6

Greater education is a better solution 3

80. In addition some respondents noted that the draft policy was light on proposals to 
address casualties on the rural road network where speed limits are much higher 
and the severity of injuries tends to be greater. Concern was also raised about the 
vulnerability of cyclists at roundabouts and the importance of well-designed 
infrastructure to reduce the risk of cyclists being injured at side road crossings and 
roundabouts. 

81.As a result of the responses to the consultation it is recommended to add to and 
strengthen a number of areas within the Road Safety Policy. These areas have 
been incorporated in the draft policy and are:

a. Develop a more robust criteria for speed limit approvals, including 20mph 
restrictions, with before and after evidence based monitoring and hotspot 
analysis;

b. Give greater consideration to the use of lower speed limits especially at hot 
spot junctions and rural roads where the national speed limit applies or 
where a speed limit reduction could reduce the likelihood and severity of 
collisions

c. Give greater consideration to the use of lower speed limits in urban areas 
to reduce the number and severity of serious injuries and pedestrian and 
cyclist casualties;

d. Make greater use of signal and speed limit camera enforcement, including 
average speed cameras, where these would improve the effectiveness of 
casualty reduction measures at hot spot junctions and road lengths.

e. Provide focused engagement with horse riding establishments and local 
communities to improve horse safety in the county;

Page 87



f. Use moving traffic enforcement to reduce risks caused by high-risk 
manoeuvres and access by unauthorised vehicles;

g. A joined-up review of current road safety education with the Road Safety 
Partnership and building closer links with Skill Zone.

Officer recommendations

82.That Cabinet agree to Option 1 outlined at paragraph 41 of this report.

83.That officers provide some funding options for Road Safety Policy elements 
through consideration of the split in Capital Programme funding for Cabinet to 
consider as part to the 2023/24 and 2024/225 budget setting process.

Performance management/follow-up 

84.Progress with implementing the Road Safety Policy shall be closely monitored by 
the Road Safety & Transport Data Manager. Any slippage in progress will be 
identified and escalated appropriately to ensure the project is delivered within the 
agreed timeline.

85.The Lead Cabinet Member will be kept updated with progress of the project during 
key stages of implementation. 

Page 88



Gloucestershire County Council Road Safety Policy  

We want to deliver safer roads, healthier streets; lower speed limits on our 

higher risk roads and where people live and make walking and cycling safer, in 

order to achieve the Vision Zero aspiration for road safety by 2050.   

 

Status and Scope 

This document complements and updates the Local Transport Plan for 

Gloucestershire 2021-2040 in respect of Road Safety. The policy covers the actions 

of the County Council as Highway Authority and as the Fire and Rescue Service 

Authority.  The Road Safety policy is anticipated to be a ‘live’ document as we 

continue to learn from the approaches that we implement and the challenges that we 

face across the network. 

 

Vision Zero aspiration 

The Vision Zero aspiration is a transformational approach to road safety. The 

aspiration is to eliminate all traffic fatalities and severe injuries, while increasing safe, 

healthy, equitable mobility for all, by 2050.  Although there are many practical 

challenges regarding the complex and unpredictable nature of traffic collisions, we 

believe that no death can be considered “acceptable”. 

Our vision for 2050 is 

 To aim to achieve zero, or as close as possible, road fatalities or life-changing 

injuries 

 Where Safe System is the norm 

 To make walking and cycling a safe and easy choice 

 

Our ambitious target to help us achieve our vision is  

A 50% reduction in the number of people killed or seriously injured on 

Gloucestershire’s roads by 2032.  

The Council cannot achieve its aspirations for road safety alone, so the role of our 

partners, such as the Police; National Highways; Fire and Rescue; health and 

medical services; schools and education; the Department for Transport, national 

guidelines and national campaigns; vehicle manufacturers and safety and self-drive 

technologies, all have a critical role to play. The Gloucestershire Road Safety 

Partnership will have a crucial role in coordinating the efforts of the aforementioned 

groups as well as bringing in the voices of charities and pressure groups who 

represent key stakeholders in our communities such as older drivers, cyclists and 

disability groups.  

Our Strategy to deliver this target by 2032 is to target the available resources against 

the following themes:  

Page 89



1. Reduce fatalities, serious injuries, number, and severity of collisions, 

with a key focus on using data to prioritise our approach 

2. Expand data and evidence base, including research, and monitoring 

of existing approaches  

3. Develop toolkits and programmes to give communities the tools they 

need to promote and improve Road Safety in their area 

4. Increase levels of safety for walking 

5. Increase levels of safety for cycling  

6. Improve collaboration between partners and stakeholders 

7. Embed the Safe System approach 

8. Promote the Vision Zero aspiration to Gloucestershire’s public 

9. Lead by example 

 

The Road Safety policy is designed to bring a greater focus to: 

 Using our data to prioritise our investment and achieve the most effective 

improvements 

 Working in partnership to meet the complex and multifaceted challenges 

 Changing behaviour across our road users and communities 

 Meeting community aspiration alongside our Community Speedwatch Fund. 

 

Further work will be needed to refine any specific programmes or joint working with 

partners, however a number of elements are likely to be taken forward as part of the 

policy and its ongoing refinement.  These have been informed by analysis of the 

casualty data across the county and would therefore indicate where investment 

could make the most difference: 

 Refining prioritisation of funding against our accident data and hot spot list  

 A focus on rural high-speed roads and associated speed campaigns  

 Working with higher risk groups such as older drivers, new drivers and young 

male drivers  

 Continued work with communities on community speed watch and the 

Community Speed Watch Fund 

 Supporting safe cycling and walking particularly in our urban areas 

 

Gloucestershire County Council Road Safety Strategy 2022-2032 

Background: 

Our current policy, a statement in the Local Transport Plan, has targets attached to it 

which have now expired.  We know how important road safety measures are for our 

communities.  This includes requests for reduced speed limits, particularly 20mph, 

and for local communities to use cameras to help enforce speed limits.  

Page 90



We also know that a strong and up to date road safety policy aligned with our Local 
Transport Plan is likely to be a key element in any bids to the Department for Transport 
associated within a range of potential future competitive funding opportunities; such 
as Active Travel; Mini-Hollands; or of course bids that might relate to Road Safety 
funding direct. 
 

National Local Authority weakest performers in England, Wales and Scotland – 

2017 -2019 compared to 2009 - 2011 

A recent study carried out by the Parliamentary Advisory Council on Transport 

Safety showed that Gloucestershire is no longer making significant reductions in the 

numbers of killed and seriously injured (KSIs) people from road traffic collisions.  

The tables below illustrate Local Authority comparisons of progress made in 

reducing KSI’s, between the periods 2009‐2011 and 2017‐2019. The strongest 

performing authorities saw reductions of more than 50% in this period (table 1), 

whilst the weakest have experienced a 50% increase (table 2).  

There is a notable trend across the south and south‐west of England being among 

the weakest performers, seeing significant increases in KSI casualty numbers across 

Devon and Cornwall in particular. Increases in the poorer performing authorities in 

Wales have been less marked than in England.  

 

 Table 1 - Areas with the most significant fall in serious casualty numbers 

  

 

  

Page 91



Table 2 – Least effective areas for casualty reduction efforts across Britain 

 

The organisations which are performing best are already following the Vision 

Zero/Safe System approach to road safety. Therefore, for us to be able to achieve 

our ambitious 2032 target of reducing KSIs in Gloucestershire by 50%, we have 

carried out a review of how we approach road safety now and in the future. 

 

A New Approach to Road Safety: 

The Vision Zero aspiration is a transformational approach to road safety, first 

developed in Sweden, and now recognised across the world. Its aspiration is to 

eliminate all traffic fatalities and severe injuries, while increasing safe, healthy 

mobility for all, by 2050. It takes a more holistic approach to improving road safety by 

looking at 5 key areas: Safe Roads, Safe Speeds, Safe Road Users, Post-Crash 

Care and Safe Vehicles. This is called the Safe System 

Chart 1 – The safe system approach to road safety 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 92

https://www.pacts.org.uk/safe-system/


We are taking a Safe System approach to our Road Safety policy in Gloucestershire 

which enhances the traditional “education, engineering and enforcement” approach 

by engaging and collaborating with everybody who can influence outcomes. 

 

Chart 2 - Accident triangle 

 

To support the aspirations of Vision Zero we can turn to a useful model as above 

(sometimes known as the ‘safety triangle’) to help us visualize the connections and 

normal distributions between fatal or severe accidents, minor accidents and near 

misses. This accident triangle (based on Heinrich’s Law) depicts the relationship  

 

between accident severity and accident frequency. Based on probability the Law 

assumes that the number of accidents is inversely proportional to the severity of 

those accidents. It concludes that if the number of near misses/minor accidents is 

reduced and minimised then there will be a corresponding fall in the number of 

serious accidents/fatalities.  

 

We must therefore aspire to reduce the number of near misses and minor accidents 

on the roads of Gloucestershire.  

Conversely the accident triangle also shows us that sites with actual recorded 

injuries will inevitably have many more near misses occurring than those sites that 

are perceived to be unsafe (due to a base level of near misses) but have a relatively 

lower casualty record. Whilst perception of safety is a key factor that needs to be 

tackled and managed, the accident triangle does guide us to focus key resources on 

the observed casualty data across the County. 

The report on the ‘Study into the effectiveness of safety schemes’ generated by the 

Road Safety Team 2007 to 2018 highlights our most successful interventions. Of 

particular reward is high friction surfacing, junction improvements, school safety 

Page 93



zones, vehicle activated signs, route treatments, speed limit reduction and cycle 

schemes. 

 

Statutory Duties: 

There is a range of Legislation relating to Road Safety which cites Local Authority 

responsibilities: 

 Road Traffic Act 1988 section 39 - must prepare and carry out a programme 

of measures designed to promote road safety. 

 Traffic Management Act 2004 section 16 – duty to manage the road network. 

 Road Traffic Regulations Act 1984 section 122 – to secure the safe 

movement of traffic. 

 Health and Social Care Act 2012 – assess the needs of the community 

(including Road Safety). 

 Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 section 8, part 1 a and b: 

• Extricate people in the event of road traffic collisions in its area: 

• Protecting people from serious harm to the extent it deems reasonable 

to do so, in the event of road traffic collisions in its area. 

 

 

Links to other council strategies 

Delivering safer roads, where more people feel able to cycle and walk, and where 

delays and congestion are minimised will support our key corporate priorities: 

 Tackling climate change and decarbonising transport 

o Achieving this priority will result in a significant increase in vulnerable 

road users – walking and cycling. The infrastructure and a step 

change in current driver behaviour will need to be in place to support 

this happening safely at the same time as delivering a reduction in 

casualties.   

 Making Gloucestershire a child friendly county 

 Helping people of all ages to stay safe and well 

 Increasing community resilience 

 Delivering sustainable growth across Gloucestershire 

  

Page 94



Chart 3- Relationship between this plan and other corporate plans/ strategies                    

 

Predominantly these show the direct links to Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure strategies and the Link to Fire and Rescue strategies.  However there 

are also key links to a range of wider strategies such as Health and Wellbeing, 

Children and Educational Policies, Communities and Safeguarding.   

  

Page 95



The Strategy - (2022 - 2032) 
 

Our ambitious target for road safety is a 50% reduction in the number of people killed 

or seriously injured (KSI) on Gloucestershire’s roads by 2032.  

The line graph below displays KSI casualties and rate per vehicle/kilometre data for 

Gloucestershire from 1995 onwards.  

 

Graph 1 – KSI casualties/rate per vehicle/km in Gloucestershire 

 

 

 

Line graph 1 above displays KSI casualties and rate per vehicle/kilometre data for 

Gloucestershire from 1995 onwards.  

The graph illustrates a dip in the number of KSI between 2004 and 2014. We then 

see a step change upwards resultant of the change to injury-based reporting by the 

Police. The red line on the chart demonstrates the unadjusted KSI figures for 

Britain’s region Local Authorities as a whole, taken from the DfT website.  Here we 

observe a similar pattern to Gloucestershire.  

 

  

Page 96



Graph 2 – Gloucestershire vs Britain’s casualties 

 

 

Graph 2 above demonstrates Gloucestershire’s general fall in KSI casualties from 

2004 to 2011, complementing the pattern of Britain’s regional local authorities as a 

whole. However, following 2011, the picture changed with Gloucestershire producing 

increased figures over many other local authorities.  

 

Graph 3 – Killed or seriously injured in Britain (2005 – 2030) 

 

 

Page 97



Graph 3 above illustrates how the GB Road Safety Performance Index report speaks 

of the ‘cost of complacency.’ The report looked at the long‐term trend and examined 

how the safety of roads in Great Britain would have performed over the last 10 years 

if the improvements made during the early part of this Millennium had been 

continued. Road casualty targets were in place for Great Britain between 2001 and 

2010 with local authorities set goals to achieve a 40% reduction in killed or seriously 

injured casualties. This decade saw impressive casualty reductions, most notably 

from 2005 onwards.   

The diagram also provides a moment of opportunity, the chance to restore 

momentum, protect our local communities, refusing to accept that tragedy and life 

changing injury are acceptable on our roads, and sets a path towards a future which 

is safer for all. 

Gloucestershire must make decisions now about how we address road safety for the 

future. If we and other regional local authorities carry on with a ‘business as usual’ 

scenario, 170,00 more people will die in Britain or suffer life changing injuries than if 

we set ourselves on a path to meet the global target of a 50% reduction by 2030 

(50% aspiration in Gloucestershire by 2032.) 

A useful and more intricate display of our position over the past 10 years in relation 

to KSI in Gloucestershire is highlighted in table 3 below. Here you can see the 

recorded KSI figures from 2012 to 2021 presenting the erratic and discouraging 

picture of KSI over this time. The number of serious injuries displays a steady 

increase between 2015 – 2019.  

A total for collision figures for 2022 is not yet available. However, the existing figures 

for 2022 would appear to be in line with previous trends with 13 fatal and 129 serious 

casualties already recorded in the first half of 2022.  

 

Table 3 – KSI in Gloucestershire 2012 – 2021 

 

Severity 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Killed 33 32 29 26 27 20 28 20 23 23 

Serious 222 181 195 228 253 294 257 297 254 302 

Total KSI 255 213 224 254 280 314 285 317 277 325 

Actual number KSI recorded between 2012 and 2021 

 
What is not apparent from these countywide figures is the large variation in KSI’s 
across the four rural and two urban districts, set out below in Table 3. This shows that 
the rural districts account for a disproportionately high share of fatalities on the road 
network. Police records show that the majority of fatalities are on rural roads and 
almost half (48%) are on single carriageway roads with a 60mph limit. 
 
There is less variation between districts in respect of the number of serious injuries 
however these are still highest in the Cotswolds. Police records show that the majority 
of serious injuries occur on urban roads where the speed limit is 30mph. 
 

Page 98



Table 3: Gloucestershire KSI’s broken down by district (2019-2021) 

 

2019/20/21 Cotswold Gloucester Stroud Tewkesbury Forest Cheltenham 

Killed 25 6 8 16 8 3 

Serious 227 147 144 127 107 103 

Total KSI 252 153 152 143 115 106 

 

Officers in the Road Safety, Highways and Police teams use data to identify clusters 
of collisions on the road network – identifying the top ones in terms of hot spots 
(junctions with at least 3 collisions in the past 3 years and road lengths with at least 5 
collisions). This list is refreshed annually. The remaining collisions are dispersed 
across the network. 
 

53% of KSI casualties in 2019, 2020 and 2021 occurred as a result of collisions at 
hotspot junctions and road lengths on the latest 2019-21 hotspot list. Table 4 shows 
that the largest group of road users are motor vehicle drivers and passengers, 
reflecting the high level of car use in the county. It also shows relatively high levels of 
KSI’s for vulnerable / unprotected road users – pedestrians, cyclists, motorcycle riders 
and horse riders. Table 5 shows that most pedestrians and cyclists are killed or 
seriously injured in the urban areas of Cheltenham and Gloucester. 

 

Table 4: KSI’s by road user type at hotspot list sites 

 

Vehicle 

Occupant 
Motorcycle     Cyclist Pedestrian 

Horse 

Rider 

253 111 69 58 1 

 

 

 Table 5: Pedestrian and cyclist KSI’s by district, 2019-2021 

 

2019/20/21 Gloucester Cheltenham Stroud Cotswold Tewkesbury Forest 

Pedestrian 

KSI's 37 24 19 24 19 15 

Cyclist KSI's 35 34 28 21 24 5 

Total  72 58 47 45 43 20 

 

Page 99



Recent collision trends for Gloucestershire  

The first 6 months of 2022 saw 158 serious injuries and 16 deaths resulting from road 
traffic collisions. The fatalities to date would indicate that 2022 will see an increase in 
deaths compared to previous years.  

It is essential that collision data is scrutinised to understand emerging patterns of 
collisions and their causation factors to ensure the delivery of the best outcomes within 
a limited resource. The council continues to work with partners in the police and fire 
service to validate numbers and causation factors and update records based on 
accident investigations. 

When the age range of those involved in collisions and the times of day are analysed 
it has been identified that more casualties occur on Thursday to Monday each week 
and more consist of the 20 to 30 age range. Most casualties occur between 4pm and 
1am. 
 
The Council’s current formal policy on Road Safety is set out in the Local Transport 
Plan 2020 - 2041(LTP) and states: 

 
Gloucestershire County Council will contribute to improved safety, security and health 
by reducing the risk of death, injury or illness arising from transport, working with 
partners to improve personal safety perceptions and the promotion of transport that 
contributes to good health and wellbeing. 
 

To reach our ambitious target of a 50% reduction by 2032 this will mean we need to 

be able to reduce the estimated total KSI figure of 277 for the whole of 2022 (shown 

in table 4 below) to 139 (rounded up) eg.127 serious injuries and 12 fatalities. 

  

Table 6 – Target KSI for Gloucestershire 2022 – 2032 

 

Severity 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028  2029 2030 2031 2032 

Killed 23 22 21 20 18 17 16  15 14 13 12 

Serious 254 241 229 216 203 191 178  165 152 140 127 

Total KSI 277 263 250 236 221 208 194  180 166 153 139 

*Definition, baseline is the average number recorded between 2017 and 2019, target is for the KSI 

total for the calendar year of 2032  

 

Line graph 4 below combines the actual and target KSI figures for Gloucestershire 

dating from 2012 up to 2032. It demonstrates our aspiration to reduce the number of 

people killed or seriously injured on Gloucestershire’s roads by 2032. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 100



Graph 4 – Actual killed or seriously injured and reduction target of 2032 

 

 

This represents a significant challenge, given that we are likely to see more vehicles 

on the road by 2032 and more vulnerable users as we deliver the council’s Transport 

Decarbonisation requirements. Thus, the need to act now and eradicate this 

discouraging picture of KSI between 2012 – 2021 is imperative if we are to 

encourage change and improve road safety for future generations.  

Delivering this change will require a significant change in our funding of road safety, 

our proposals for funding are outlined at the end of this plan. 

 

 Our Strategy to deliver this is broken down into the following key themes:  

1. Reduce fatalities, serious injuries, number, and severity of collisions, 

with a key focus on using data to prioritise our approach 

2. Expand data and evidence base, including research, and monitoring 

of existing approaches  

3. Develop toolkits and programmes to give communities the tools they 

need to promote and improve Road Safety in their area 

4. Increase levels of safety for walking 

5. Increase levels of safety for cycling  

6. Improve collaboration between partners and stakeholders 

7. Embed the Safe System approach 

8. Promote the Vision Zero aspiration to Gloucestershire’s public 

9. Lead by example 

 

Page 101



Strategic Theme 1: Reduce fatalities, serious injuries, number, and 

severity of collisions 

Actions to “Reduce 
fatalities, serious 
injuries, number and 
severity of collisions” 

 
Corporate priorities 

 
Safe Systems 

 

T
a
c
k
lin

g
 C

lim
a

te
 C

h
a
n

g
e

 

M
a

k
in

g
 G

lo
u
c
e

s
te

rs
h

ir
e
 a

 c
h

ild
 f
ri
e

n
d

ly
 

c
o

u
n

ty
 

H
e

lp
in

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 o
f 

a
ll 

a
g
e
s
 t

o
 s

ta
y
 s

a
fe

 

a
n
d
 w

e
ll 

In
c
re

a
s
in

g
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 r

e
s
ili

e
n
c
e

 

M
a

k
in

g
 s

u
re

 n
o
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 i
s
 l
e

ft
 

b
e
h

in
d
 

S
a

fe
 R

o
a
d

s
 

S
a

fe
 S

p
e
e

d
s
 

S
a

fe
 r

o
a
d
 u

s
e
rs

 

S
a

fe
 V

e
h
ic

le
s
 

P
o

s
t-

C
ra

s
h
 C

a
re

 

Focus engineering 
solutions on collision 
hotspots 

 
  

  
  

   

Develop a prioritisation 
system for safety 
schemes  

     
  

   

Reduce speeds in areas 
where there are higher 
numbers of vulnerable 
people.  

 
    

 
  

  

Continue to deliver 
targeted education 
programme (GFRS) to 
vulnerable users  

 
    

  
 

  

Support Road Safety 
campaigns by other 
partner organisations 

 
        

 

Review speed limits on 
higher speed roads  
prioritising those on 
hotspot list 

        
  

Page 102



Work with local 
communities to support 
Community Speed Watch 
activities. 

     
 
  

  

Work with local 
communities at cluster 
sites  

 
       

  

Train GFRS personnel 
involved in casualty 
centred extraction 

 
  

    
   

Carry out multi agency 
training exercises for 
RTCs and casualty 
extraction 

 
      

   

Encourage public health 
organisations to develop 
victim support health 
packages 

 
  

    
 

 
 

Enforce Moving Traffic 
Offences 

   
  

   
  

Review existing fixed 
speed cameras in 
partnership with 
Gloucestershire 
Constabulary 

     
     

 

 

Taking the average figures from 2017-2019, the proportion of collisions which were 

Fatal, Serious and Slight were as shown in the Table 5.  

 

 Table 5 – 2017/19 average vs 2025/2032 target 
 

 2017/19 

average 

2025 target 2032 target 

Fatal 3% 2.2% 1.5% 

Serious  31% 25.8% 15.5% 

Slight 66% 72% 83% 

 

Page 103



Increased compliance with speed limits and traffic regulations will help us to improve 

our road safety performance. This can come through a number of different 

measures. We will soon be able to apply for the powers to enforce moving traffic 

offences. This will include banned turning movements, and vehicle movements in 

areas where driving is prohibited. Gloucestershire Constabulary have the powers to 

enforce speeding, and we will work with them and with local community speed watch 

groups to license the placement of community owned cameras which collect data for 

speeding vehicles, as well as fixed cameras in known hotspot areas.  

We know that young drivers, particularly young men are a high-risk group and we will 

continue to work collaboratively with Gloucestershire Constabulary, and other 

relevant agencies and campaign groups on education training programmes to target 

young drivers, motorcyclists, distraction and alcohol and drug related driving.  

Older drivers are an increasing area of concern, with rising numbers of casualties in 

this category. Many rely on being able to drive to access services, including health 

care, shops and libraries.  

As well as the two groups of users mentioned above, our plans need to increase 

safety levels for all vulnerable users including; visually & hearing impaired, mobility 

users, horse riders, motorcyclists and micro-mobility users (e-scooters).  We need to 

consider how the needs of people with protected characteristics will be met, for 

example, those with impaired vision or hearing problems who might find traditional 

street layouts easier to navigate.  

We carry out small local safety schemes every year, which are focussed on the 

prioritised hotspot list. Larger safety schemes are put forward for consideration in the 

Local Transport Plan.  

Speed limits are one tool in the toolbox of road safety policy, but success in this area 

will require a change in emphasis to active travel and the relationship to speed. We 

have developed a new 20mph policy which follows this section.  

Changes in vehicles over the next 10 years could help us to achieve these targets, 

as speed limiters and collision avoidance devices become standard in some new 

cars. However the introduction of new fleet is inevitably a relatively small percentage 

and all road users will have their part to play in this.  

 

20mph Speed Restriction Policy Statement  

 

Overview  

Gloucestershire County Council considers that 20mph should be the speed drivers 

aspire to, in places where vulnerable road users and vehicles mix. This should apply 

to urban and rural residential streets and to town and village centres. We will seek to 

implement 20mph limits where they would be beneficial and appropriate, ensuring 

that speeds are both safe and appropriate to their environment.  

Page 104



Strategic framework 

The council’s Corporate Plan includes the ambition to improve community health and 

wellbeing and promote equality of opportunity. This is addressed through the Local 

Transport Plan 2020-2041 (LTP). Promoting mode shift from private vehicles to 

sustainable modes of transport such as walking, cycling and using public transport 

will reduce CO2 emissions and benefit public health through, increased physical 

activity levels and reduced air pollution.  

It is recognised that vehicle speeds and volume provide barriers (real and perceived) 

to both cycling and walking.  

 

Actions 

We will support the delivery of safe speeds through the following actions. 

For new developments, we will 

 specify design standards for lower speed roads in accordance with Manual for 

Gloucestershire Streets and relevant legislation, regulations and guidance,  

 require any necessary Traffic Orders to be in place and funded by the 

developer 

 Work with local planning authorities to ensure that 20mph is the default speed 

restriction for new residential developments.  

 

For the existing road networks, we will; 

 Support communities to deliver their speed awareness/reduction plans through 

the Community Approaches to Road Safety (CARS) toolkit and Community 

Speed Watch 

 Work with Gloucestershire Constabulary to ensure enforcement and education 

activities are targeted at cluster sites/collision hotspots 

 support communities to identify and understand the safety concerns of an area 

using an evidence led approach – who, what, where and why so the 

community can target the right solutions within the toolkits available 

 Support “20 is plenty” campaigns through contribution of materials and 

equipment subject to available funding, where communities are already 

following the CARS toolkit, or are part of the Community Speed Watch 

programme. 

We will prioritise potential restrictions against the following criteria where these are 

supported by an evidence base. 

 Where a request meets the DfT Setting Local Speed Limits Guidance (2013) 

 Where the site is on the latest GCC road casualty hot spot list 

 Where there is an existing casualty history but the site is not on the hot spot 

list 

Page 105



 Locations which are adjacent to or within Local Cycling and Walking 

Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) networks or form part of other dedicated initiatives 

to improve the urban realm and the liveability of streets 

 Town and village centres with community focal points (i.e. schools, hospitals) 

where a high volume of vulnerable road users are present and to promote 

active travel 

 Locations with limited existing footway and street lighting provision 

 Locations which have widespread community support, and which are 

referenced as low speed areas in Neighbourhood Plans  

 Restriction is supported by statutory consultees and highways officers/local 

highway manager 

 

Community funding 

We recognise that in some areas communities may wish to contribute to or fully fund 

their own 20mph speed limits or zones. Community funding is very much welcomed 

to progress local priorities, as long as there is clear understanding that schemes can 

only be progressed if the criteria are met even if resources are available to deliver 

them. 

If there is an approved application with evidence of a safety concern, including 

collision data and KSI’s, GCC road safety budgets can be utilised to fully or part fund 

feasible schemes and solutions.  

Where there are approved schemes that do not have a safety concern but aim to 

encourage modal shift and active travel, then alternative funding options will need to 

be secured. This may need to be funded by the local community, i.e. parish council. 

Some funding streams may be bid for to part fund including active travel fund, 

highways local, S106 developer led funding.  

GCC will follow internal priority assessment processes using an evidence led 

approach and by calculating a cost benefit ratio.  

The aim of lower speeds is to improve safety for all road users and effectively reduce 

collisions across the highway network. 

 

  

Page 106



Strategic Theme 2: Develop a data and evidence base, including 

research, and monitoring of existing approaches

Actions to “Develop a data 
and evidence base, including 
research, and monitoring of 
existing approaches” 

Corporate priorities Safe Systems 

 
T

a
c
k
lin

g
 C

lim
a

te
 C

h
a
n

g
e

 

M
a

k
in

g
 G

lo
u
c
e

s
te

rs
h

ir
e
 a

 c
h

ild
 

fr
ie

n
d

ly
 c

o
u
n
ty

 

H
e

lp
in

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 o
f 

a
ll 

a
g
e
s
 t

o
 s

ta
y
 

s
a

fe
 a

n
d
 w

e
ll 

In
c
re

a
s
in

g
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 r

e
s
ili

e
n
c
e

  

D
e

liv
e

ri
n
g

 s
u

s
ta

in
a
b

le
 g

ro
w

th
  

S
a

fe
 R

o
a
d

s
 

S
a

fe
 S

p
e
e

d
s
 

S
a

fe
 r

o
a
d
 u

s
e
rs

 

S
a

fe
 V

e
h
ic

le
s
 

P
o

s
t-

C
ra

s
h
 C

a
re

 

Liaise with other authorities and 
take part in regional and national 
working groups  

          

Collect and monitor data before 
and after the introduction of new 
schemes/restrictions/infrastructur
e to demonstrate their 
effectiveness 

          

Improve the quality of data that is 
collected 

          
Create a single point of access 
for road casualty data shared 
with our partners and accessible 
to the public 

          

Encourage health authorities to 
report and share data where 
appropriate  

          

 

Data 

Data regarding personal injury collisions is collected by Gloucestershire 

Constabulary in accordance with the Department for Transport Stats 19 

requirements. Our Road Safety team review and verify the information and the data 

is published annually through our Road Safety report. You can view collision data 

through our website.   

Page 107

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/road-safety/collision-and-camera-map/


We use collision data to identify collision clusters and hotspots and analyse the data 

from those incidents to generate safety schemes with our Highway Improvements 

team. 

 

Existing approaches 

Our highest level of expenditure on road safety is on our Highway Safety Inspection 

Process. GCC uses its Safety Inspection process, monitoring information and a 

regime of proactive maintenance to reduce risk and provide the public with a safer 

highway.  

We carry out regular measurements of skid resistance for all of our A roads, and for 

highly trafficked B roads. We also survey sites where skidding related collisions have 

occurred. Sites which meet the required intervention level will be signed 

appropriately until prioritised maintenance can be carried out. 

During adverse weather events we promote safety messages to alert people to more 

difficult driving conditions, and the importance of making sure your vehicle is ‘winter 

ready’. 

We focus engineering interventions at sites on our prioritised hotspot list. These 

measures can include junction realignment, new facilities such as crossings, signs, 

lining, build-outs, speed humps and cushions. These are often the most expensive 

measures and will only address a problem at a specific location.  

Local safety schemes can provide excellent value for money in places with existing 

collision problems. By focusing on sites and areas with poor collision records, we 

concentrate our efforts on places where it is known that people are being killed or 

seriously injured, rather than on perceived risks.  

Since speed is a critical factor in both the likelihood and the impact of a collision, 

reducing speeds is a key approach to improving road safety. However, speed limits 

on their own are often not sufficient to ensure compliance. We follow the national 

guidance ‘Setting Local Speed Limits’ when determining the most suitable speed for 

a road. 

 

Prioritisation and Processes 

We want to ensure that we are using the right measures in the right places. We 

also need to target our available and finite funding where it will have most effect.  

 

We will always use data and evidence to support our decisions and we will 

continue to prioritise those sites where casualties are currently occurring above 

those that have a lower record of casualties.  

 

We know that some local areas would like to pay for additional road safety 

measures but these will still have to meet our minimum criteria. This is to ensure 

Page 108



that we are providing consistent messages and consistent standards across all 

communities.  

Summary of interventions 

The safety scheme sites built since 2007 are categorised into ten broad groups 

representing the types of interventions used, all with three years before and after 

collision data and summarised in the following table 6:  

 

Table 6 – Intervention Summary 

 
Intervention Type 

 
No. of 
Sites  

 
No. of 
Collisions 
Before Build 

 
No. of 
Collisions 
after Build 

 
 
Difference 

 
     % 
Change 

High Friction 
Surfacing 

2 22 3 19 86% 

Junction 
Improvements 

29 100 50 50 50% 

School Safety Zones 3 2 1 1 50% 

Vehicle Activated 
Signs 

6 18 11 7 39% 

Route Treatments 34 250 159 91 36% 

Roundabout 
Improvements 

13 57 39 18 32% 

Cycle Schemes 10 40 28 12 30% 

Speed Limit Reduction 5 37 26 11 30% 

Pedestrian Schemes 27 94 67 27 29% 

Total 129 620 384 236 38% 

These categories indicate the main type of intervention used; many schemes use a 

combination of measures to achieve reductions. The result for High Friction 

Surfacing has a very small sample size. It should be also noted that this is a time 

limited improvement, for the life of the material which will need to be replaced on a 

regular basis.  

  

 

 

 

Page 109



Strategic Theme 3: Develop toolkits and processes for prioritising 

different interventions and locations, trial new solutions

Actions to “Develop toolkits 
and processes for prioritising 
interventions and locations” 

Corporate priorities Safe Systems 

 

T
a
c
k
lin

g
 C

lim
a

te
 C

h
a
n

g
e

 

M
a

k
in

g
 G

lo
u
c
e

s
te

rs
h

ir
e
 a

 

c
h

ild
 f

ri
e

n
d

ly
 c

o
u
n
ty

 

H
e

lp
in

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 o
f 

a
ll 

a
g
e
s
 t

o
 

s
ta

y
 s

a
fe

 a
n
d

 w
e
ll 

In
c
re

a
s
in

g
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 

re
s
ili

e
n
c
e

  

D
e

liv
e

ri
n
g

 s
u

s
ta

in
a
b

le
 

g
ro

w
th

  

S
a

fe
 R

o
a
d

s
 

S
a

fe
 S

p
e
e

d
s
 

S
a

fe
 r

o
a
d
 u

s
e
rs

 

S
a

fe
 V

e
h
ic

le
s
 

P
o

s
t-

C
ra

s
h
 C

a
re

 

Liaise with other authorities and 
take part in regional and national 
working groups  

          

Collect and monitor data before 
and after the introduction of new 
schemes/restrictions/infrastructur
e to demonstrate their 
effectiveness 

        
  

Carry out pilot studies for Quiet 
Lanes and develop a guidance 
note 

        
  

Trial the newly developed 
Community Speed Watch 
Camera approval process 

 
    

 
  

  

Develop a Crossings Guidance 
Note and prioritisation system 

          

Work with Gloucestershire 
Constabulary to develop an 
agreed approach to new speed 
restrictions 

     
 
  

  

Trial 20mph schemes which 
support active travel 

     
 
  

  

Trial the introduction of 20mph 
Zones/Limits with minimal 
physical measures  

        
  

Develop a guidance note to help 
families discuss road safety 
issues with older drivers 

  
    

 
 

  

 

 

Page 110



Many communities want to get involved and do more to improve road safety in their 

local areas. The Community Approaches to Road Safety toolkit was produced in 

2017 and provides guidance for practical steps that local communities can take, 

however it is now quite out of date, with many of the links and references within the 

document being broken or incorrect. We worked with the document owners, the 

Gloucestershire Rural Community Council, to update this in partnership with the 

Gloucestershire Constabulary and the Police & Crime Commissioner. 

Enforcement is carried out by the police, but they are restricted by their level of 

resource. Some local communities have already purchased mobile speed watch and 

ANPR cameras and share data captures from this with the police. We have 

developed a process to license permanent, community owned, speedwatch cameras 

on the highway, and will be trialling that shortly.  

 

Development of new processes and policies: 

 

We are carrying out trials (or will be starting shortly) for the following, which will 

result in new policy positions: 

 

Community Speedwatch Cameras – to support community speedwatch groups 

we are working closely with Gloucestershire Constabulary to develop a process 

whereby the police approve appropriate locations for fixed community 

speedwatch cameras and the council, as the Highway Authority, licenses their 

use on the highway. We are currently trialling this process in a couple of locations. 

 

School Streets - which aim to eliminate all motorised traffic from streets in the 

immediate vicinity of schools have already been trialled in Cheltenham and 

Tewkesbury, and more are being rolled out.  

Quiet Lanes - Quiet Lanes are a type of road, usually minor and rural, which have 

been given this status. Usually including reduced speed limits, these are intended 

to provide a chance for people to walk, cycle and horse ride in a safer 

environment, protecting the character and tranquillity of country lanes. This could 

either be to support a local community aspiration or to support strategic cycle 

desire lines. We will be carrying out pilot studies with local communities to draw 

up a local policy and process. 

 

We get frequent requests to consider installation of new crossings, and it would be 

helpful to give consistent information and advice about what can or cannot be 

considered. 

 

 

 

 

Page 111



Strategic Theme 4: Increase levels of safety for walking 

Actions to “Increase levels of 
safety for walking” 

Corporate priorities Safe Systems 

 
T

a
c
k
lin

g
 C

lim
a

te
 C

h
a
n

g
e

 

M
a

k
in

g
 G

lo
u
c
e

s
te

rs
h

ir
e
 a

 c
h

ild
 f
ri
e

n
d

ly
 

c
o

u
n

ty
 

H
e

lp
in

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 o
f 

a
ll 

a
g
e
s
 t

o
 s

ta
y
 s

a
fe

 a
n

d
 

w
e

ll 

In
c
re

a
s
in

g
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 r

e
s
ili

e
n
c
e

  

D
e

liv
e

ri
n
g

 s
u

s
ta

in
a
b

le
 g

ro
w

th
  

S
a

fe
 R

o
a
d

s
 

S
a

fe
 S

p
e
e

d
s
 

S
a

fe
 r

o
a
d
 u

s
e
rs

 

S
a

fe
 V

e
h
ic

le
s
 

P
o

s
t-

C
ra

s
h
 C

a
re

 

Support delivery of the Local 
Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plans  

         
 

Identify pedestrian desire 
lines 

        
  

Put pedestrians first when 
designing new highway 
infrastructure 

        
  

Deliver education 
programmes 

 
    

  
  

 

Deliver widespread 20mph 
restrictions in both 
Gloucester and Cheltenham  

     
 

  
  

Deliver 20mph schemes for 
the centres of our market 
towns and villages 

     
 

  
  

Ensure that 20mph is the 
default speed restriction for 
new residential/shared use 
developments 

          

Page 112



Work with groups 
representing those with 
protected characteristics to 
ensure they are considered 
at the design stage of new 
schemes   

          

Deliver school streets and 
school safety zones 

     
 

  
  

Work with schools to create 
School Travel Plans 

         
 

Manage School Crossing 
Patrols 

 
       

  

Support local speed 
reduction campaigns through 
contribution of materials 

 
         

Develop a GCC Crossings 
guidance document 

          

 

Walking has tremendous benefits for everybody; the personal health benefits of 

exercise, and also the wider benefits of decarbonisation. However, we recognise 

that vehicle speeds and volume provide barriers (both real and perceived) to 

walking.  

Our Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIP) aspire to improve 

conditions for walking for all while GCC’s Local Transport Plan commits us to 

working with partners to improve community health, wellbeing and safety. 

We strive for greater numbers of people from all social and economic groups and 
including those with disabilities, to use safe and affordable multi-modal travel 
options (e.g. by walking, cycling) for short distance trips. We aspire to help 
children and adults, including families, people with disabilities and those 
experiencing financial difficulties and those at an economic and/or physical 
disadvantage to enjoy more independent, physically active lifestyles (LTP PD05 – 
Community Health & Wellbeing). 

Most pedestrian movement occurs in urban areas thus the majority of incidents 

involving pedestrians occur on urban roads. It is already well understood that 

lower vehicle speeds reduce the risks to pedestrians. 

We need to consider how the needs of people with protected characteristics will 

be met, for example, shared spaces are difficult for visually impaired people to 

navigate. 

If we increase the number of pedestrian movements, but do not increase levels of 

safety, then there will inevitably be more casualties. This was demonstrated by 

Page 113



the increase in KSI figures for cyclists in 2020 when there was an increased level 

of cycling during the lockdowns – see strategic theme 5. 

There is suppressed demand for walking which can be released by providing 

appropriate infrastructure. 

Well-designed transport infrastructure and safe service provision can aid in 

improving safety for all transport modes and thereby reduce the number of 

injuries occurring in Gloucestershire.  The manual for Gloucestershire Streets 

sets out the relationship between transport and land use and the methods for 

delivering well planned communities, including creating safe and secure layouts 

which minimise conflict between road traffic and those choosing to walk and 

cycle.   

Encourage developers to consider the inclusion of playable space and informal 

play opportunities in new development and encourage the engagement of 

children and local community in the design process, to ensure inclusive streets 

are created where children feel safe to play, and where pedestrians, cyclists and 

mobility users are encouraged and supported through inclusive street design and 

development layout. 

 

  

Page 114



Strategic Theme 5: Increase levels of safety for cycling 

Actions to “Increase levels 
of safety for cycling” 
 

Corporate priorities Safe Systems 

 

T
a
c
k
lin

g
 C

lim
a

te
 C

h
a
n

g
e

 

M
a

k
in

g
 G

lo
u
c
e

s
te

rs
h

ir
e
 a

 c
h

ild
 f
ri
e

n
d

ly
 c

o
u
n

ty
 

H
e

lp
in

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 o
f 

a
ll 

a
g
e
s
 t

o
 s

ta
y
 s

a
fe

 a
n

d
 w

e
ll 

In
c
re

a
s
in

g
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 r

e
s
ili

e
n
c
e

  

D
e

liv
e

ri
n
g

 s
u

s
ta

in
a
b

le
 g

ro
w

th
  

S
a

fe
 R

o
a
d

s
 

S
a

fe
 S

p
e
e

d
s
 

S
a

fe
 r

o
a
d
 u

s
e
rs

 

S
a

fe
 V

e
h
ic

le
s
 

P
o

s
t-

C
ra

s
h
 C

a
re

 

Support delivery of the 
LCWIPS 

         
 

Deliver education 
programmes such as 
bikeability  

    
 
    

 

Deliver widespread 20mph 
restrictions in both 
Gloucester and 
Cheltenham  

        
  

Deliver 20mph schemes 
for the centres of our 
market towns and villages 

        
  

Use the user hierarchy to 
prioritise cyclists over 
other vehicle users in 
design and maintenance 
of highway infrastructure 

        
  

Page 115



Work with businesses to 
create Travel Plans 

 
 

      
  

Promote the use of PPE 
for cyclists 

 
  

    
   

Promote Safe Pass/Think 
Bike campaigns 

   
  

 
 

 
  

Develop a GCC Crossings 
guidance document 

         
 

 

There was a noticeable increase in cycling during the pandemic. Unfortunately, this   

led to an increase in 2020 in the KSI figures for cyclists, where the level of KSIs in 

other road users fell.  

The data shows that cyclists are most vulnerable at junctions. 

 

Graph 5 – Incidents resulting in cyclist KSIs 

 

 

Construction for the Gloucester to Cheltenham section of our segregated cycle 

route is underway and due to be completed by 2023.  This section is part of a 26-

mile continuous cycle route across the centre of the county which we hope to be 

constructed by 2026. This will help to connect communities with convenient, safe 

routes to increase cycling in line with national targets.  

Page 116



We also need to take account of cyclists and pedestrians in those areas where 

they are not segregated. Safety Inspectors already assess defects and their 

potential impact on different road users.  

 

Chart 4 – Gloucestershire’s strategic cycleway network (desire lines) 

 

 

     Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIP)  

In addition to connecting the strategic county cycleway desire lines shown in 

chart 4 above, an LCWIP has developed cycle network maps for Cheltenham and 

Gloucester – chart 5 below – as well as for Stroud and Tewkesbury that set out 

the strategic desire lines as well as the primary and secondary cycle network. 

This is the starting point of a rolling programme of cycle route assessments for 

the county. 

  

Page 117



Chart 5 – Cycle network maps for Cheltenham and Gloucester 

 

 

In providing new or upgraded cycle infrastructure we will reflect site and route 

specific road safety conditions and opportunities that exist to deliver 

improvements as part of a wider scheme. The Department for Transport (DfT) 

recently issued LTN1/20 cycle infrastructure design guidance. This unequivocally 

reinforces the role of cycling in meeting economic, social and environmental 

objectives. It reiterates the importance of adhering to the ‘Hierarchy of Road 

Users’ whereby pedestrians and then cyclists are considered foremost, as 

reiterated in the revised Highway Code. Inclusive cycling is paramount: people of 

all ages, gender and abilities should feel able to safely cycle to meet some of 

their daily trips. Cycling and walking – as two vital active travel modes – should 

not conflict with each other. We are therefore at the beginning of a ‘sea change’ 

in approach. The new DfT ‘Gear Change’ document and the DfT LTN1/20 will 

influence how cycle infrastructure is designed in Gloucestershire going forward. 

Policies for new developments, contained within the Manual for Gloucestershire 

Streets promote these standards as well. 

Concerns raised at consultation and evidence suggest that vulnerable road 

users, including cyclists require high quality infrastructure in place across the 

network to improve both perceived safety to encourage more cycling countywide 

plus actual safety concerns to these vulnerable road users, namely at 

roundabouts. GCC will ensure that experienced traffic engineers are employed to 

design feasible safe schemes in line with up-to-date guidance, i.e. LTN 1/20. 

Page 118



They will also work with our internal and external stakeholders to improve 

accessibility via a safe cycle network throughout the county, including LWCIP 

objectives and district and parish council’s neighbourhood plans and Levelling Up 

bids.

 

  

Page 119



Strategic Theme 6: Improve collaboration between partners and 

stakeholders 

Actions to “Improve 
collaboration between 
partners and stakeholders.” 

Corporate priorities Safe Systems 

 
T

a
c
k
lin

g
 C

lim
a

te
 C

h
a
n

g
e

 

M
a

k
in

g
 G

lo
u
c
e

s
te

rs
h

ir
e
 a

 c
h

ild
 

fr
ie

n
d

ly
 c

o
u
n
ty

 

H
e

lp
in

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 o
f 

a
ll 

a
g
e
s
 t

o
 s

ta
y
 

s
a

fe
 a

n
d
 w

e
ll 

In
c
re

a
s
in

g
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 r

e
s
ili

e
n
c
e

  

D
e

liv
e

ri
n
g

 s
u

s
ta

in
a
b

le
 g

ro
w

th
  

S
a

fe
 R

o
a
d

s
 

S
a

fe
 S

p
e
e

d
s
 

S
a

fe
 r

o
a
d
 u

s
e
rs

 

S
a

fe
 V

e
h
ic

le
s
 

P
o

s
t-

C
ra

s
h
 C

a
re

 

Take part in the 
Gloucestershire Road Safety 
Partnership 

          

Review the CARS toolkit  
       

  

Ensure our Road Safety 
webpages signpost queries 
to the right 
places/organisations 

 
        

 

Work with local planning 
authorities to get a consistent 
approach to setting speed 
limits and promoting the user 
hierarchy for design.  

          

Support communities to 
deliver their speed 
awareness/reduction plans 
through the Community 
Approaches to Road Safety 
toolkit and the Community 
Speed Watch fund (available 
in 2022/3 only) 

          

 

One of the principles of the Safe System approach is that responsibility is shared. 

From the strategic level of Safer Gloucestershire and the Gloucestershire Road 

Safety Partnership to the individual who walks, rides or drives on the highway, 

Page 120



everyone has a part to play in reducing the numbers of people killed or seriously 

injured on the roads in Gloucestershire. By taking a joined-up approach with key 

stakeholders we can maximise the benefits of our actions.  

Our partners in the delivery of road safety include Gloucestershire Constabulary, 

and the office of the Police and Crime Commissioner; Public Health; National 

Highways, and District, Parish and Town Councils. Our stakeholders include 

everyone who lives in, works in, or visits the county.  It is important to note that 

the Council cannot achieve its aspirations for road safety alone and input and 

commitment from all of our partners, and indeed, every road user in 

Gloucestershire, will have a critical role to play. 

Based on countywide collision data, it can be concluded that, in recent years, 

older drivers involved in collisions resulting in injury has increased. It is therefore 

recognised that risk of injury to older driers has increased since previous years. 

Gloucestershire County Council will liaise with the Older Driver Forum as a 

stakeholder and will aim to invite a representative of the forum to take part in 

future Road Safety Partnership discussions. The County Council will work with 

driving instructors, partners at Skill Zone and Gloucestershire SAGE (Safer 

Driving With Age) to provide additional guidance, training and support to older 

drivers to enable them to drive for as long as it is safe to do so. 

Horse riders are recognised as a vulnerable road user of the County’s road 

network. Fortunately, there have been very little KSI’s involving horse riders on 

our network between 2019 – 2021.  However, GCC will ensure that horse riding 

representatives, such as breeders and riding schools, will be consulted with as a 

relevant stakeholder to identify measures to support safe riding. Education 

requirements for drivers on how to safely manoeuvre and share road space with 

equine animals and riders, could be delivered with Skill Zone resource and 

training expertise as part of driver awareness course material.  

 

Gloucestershire Road Safety Partnership 

Gloucestershire County Council is a member of the Gloucestershire Road Safety 

Partnership, a group that reports into Safer Gloucestershire. Safer Gloucestershire is 

a body developed to enhance public safety in Gloucestershire, chaired by the Deputy 

Police & Crime Commissioner. We have shared objectives and our strategy for 

meeting the Vision Zero aspiration aligns with the wider vision of the Partnership and 

of Safer Gloucestershire. 

 

  

Page 121



Strategic Theme 7, Embed the Safe System Approach 

Actions to “Embed the Safe 
System Approach” 

Corporate priorities Safe Systems 

 

T
a
c
k
lin

g
 C

lim
a

te
 C

h
a
n

g
e

 

M
a

k
in

g
 G

lo
u
c
e

s
te

rs
h

ir
e
 a

 c
h

ild
 

fr
ie

n
d

ly
 c

o
u
n
ty

 

H
e

lp
in

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 o
f 

a
ll 

a
g
e
s
 t

o
 

s
ta

y
 s

a
fe

 a
n
d

 w
e
ll 

In
c
re

a
s
in

g
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 

re
s
ili

e
n
c
e

  

D
e

liv
e

ri
n
g

 s
u

s
ta

in
a
b

le
 g

ro
w

th
  

S
a

fe
 R

o
a
d

s
 

S
a

fe
 S

p
e
e

d
s
 

S
a

fe
 r

o
a
d
 u

s
e
rs

 

S
a

fe
 V

e
h
ic

le
s
 

P
o

s
t-

C
ra

s
h
 C

a
re

 

Promote the Safe System 
Approach with a proactive 
Comms Strategy 

 
         

Engage and collaborate with our 
partners and general public who 
can influence outcomes 

 
         

Provide training for our staff in 
the Safe System Approach 

 
         

 

The Safe System 

There are four principles which are central to a Safe System:  

Chart 6 – The four principles of the safe system approach 

 

Page 122



Safe System takes a wide, systematic approach to road safety which encompasses all 

actions which will improve safety, under the headings of Safe Roads, Safe Speeds, Safe 

Road Users, Safe Vehicles and Post-Crash Care. 

The following table 7 shows a comparison between the traditional approach and the 

vision zero aspiration approach to Road Safety 

 

Table 7– Traditional approach vs vision zero aspiration 

 

 
Traditional approach 

 
Vision zero aspiration 

 

Traffic deaths are INEVITABLE Traffic deaths are PREVENTIBLE 

PERFECT human behaviours Integrate HUMAN FAILING into the 
approach 

Prevent COLLISIONS Prevent FATAL & SEVERE CRASHES 

INDIVIDUAL responsibility SYSTEMS approach 

Saving lives is EXPENSIVE Saving lives is NOT EXPENSIVE 

 

Taking the Safe System approach means that we accept that there will be collisions 

– because people make mistakes and people take risks, however we will take what 

measures we can to reduce the consequences of those collisions. 

The likelihood and impact of a collision can be addressed under the different safe 

system headings. Ensuring our roads are well maintained, with appropriate speed 

limits is only part of the required action. We also need to ensure that vehicles are 

safe, that all road users understand their role in keeping themselves and others safe. 

Our processes to recover people from collisions, their treatment in the immediate 

aftermath and afterwards will all influence the outcome of any incident. 

  

Page 123



Strategic Theme 8: Promote the Vision Zero aspiration to 

Gloucestershire’s public 

Actions to “Promote Vision Zero 
aspiration to Gloucestershire’s public” 

Corporate priorities Safe Systems 

 

T
a
c
k
lin

g
 C

lim
a

te
 C

h
a
n

g
e

 

M
a

k
in

g
 G

lo
u
c
e

s
te

rs
h

ir
e
 a

 c
h

ild
 

fr
ie

n
d

ly
 c

o
u
n
ty

 

H
e

lp
in

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 o
f 

a
ll 

a
g
e
s
 t

o
 s

ta
y
 

s
a

fe
 a

n
d
 w

e
ll 

In
c
re

a
s
in

g
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 r

e
s
ili

e
n
c
e

  

D
e

liv
e

ri
n
g

 s
u

s
ta

in
a
b

le
 g

ro
w

th
  

S
a

fe
 R

o
a
d

s
 

S
a

fe
 S

p
e
e

d
s
 

S
a

fe
 r

o
a
d
 u

s
e
rs

 

S
a

fe
 V

e
h
ic

le
s
 

P
o

s
t-

C
ra

s
h
 C

a
re

 

Promote the Vision Zero aspiration with 
a proactive Communications Strategy 

 
         

Hold communities to account, while 
supporting them to deliver their local 
community safety plans 

 
        

 

Hold individuals to account, while 
providing them with the infrastructure 
and tools 

 
        

 

Engage and collaborate with 
everybody who can influence 
outcomes 

 
         

Everyone to share a responsibility for 
their own and others’ safety 

 
         

 

 

The Vision Zero aspiration is a transformational approach to road safety. It could not 

be delivered by any single organisation and will require input from all that operate 

within Gloucestershire. Everyone shares a responsibility for their own and others’ 

safety. Our aspiration is to have zero fatalities and serious injuries, and whilst this 

presents practical challenges regarding the complex and unpredictable nature of 

many traffic collisions, we will work with strategic partners towards achieving this. 

However, it is essential that those using the road network also understand their 

responsibilities, and our programme of education, training and publicity aims to 

reinforce this requirement. Both local communities and individuals have their part to 

play. 

All road users must obey the law and rules of the road, but to eliminate road fatalities 

we must go further. Those driving the heaviest vehicles should look out for those 

Page 124



more vulnerable than themselves, this includes goods vehicle drivers being 

considerate to people cycling but also people cycling being considerate to those 

walking.  

We must aim towards having empathy towards each other to create a more forgiving 

environment. We should also look out for the very old or young or people with a 

disability, giving the space and time to help them navigate the road safely.  

The new Highway Code has introduced a hierarchy of road users. The following 

chart 7 represents this hierarchy and the balance of responsibility and vulnerability of 

different road users.  

 

Chart 7 – The highway code hierarchy of road users 

 

 

  

 
Disabled people 

People walking 

People cycling 

Horse Riders 

Riding powered two-wheelers 

Driving cars 

Driving vans 

Driving buses/coaches 

Driving HGVs 

Responsibility 

Vulnerability 

Page 125



Strategic Theme 9: Lead by example

Actions to “Lead by example” 
 

Corporate priorities Safe Systems 

 

T
a
c
k
lin

g
 C

lim
a

te
 C

h
a
n

g
e

 

M
a

k
in

g
 G

lo
u
c
e

s
te

rs
h

ir
e
 a

 c
h

ild
 

fr
ie

n
d

ly
 c

o
u
n
ty

 

H
e

lp
in

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 o
f 

a
ll 

a
g
e
s
 t

o
 s

ta
y
 

s
a

fe
 a

n
d
 w

e
ll 

In
c
re

a
s
in

g
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 r

e
s
ili

e
n
c
e

  

D
e

liv
e

ri
n
g

 s
u

s
ta

in
a
b

le
 g

ro
w

th
  

S
a

fe
 R

o
a
d

s
 

S
a

fe
 S

p
e
e

d
s
 

S
a

fe
 r

o
a
d
 u

s
e
rs

 

S
a

fe
 V

e
h
ic

le
s
 

P
o

s
t-

C
ra

s
h
 C

a
re

 

Promote good driving and 
vehicle maintenance standards 

     
  

  
 

Set minimum standards for 
contractor vehicles used to 
deliver GCC services 

 
 

  
   

  
 

Set minimum standards for 
Contractor vehicles used to 
deliver GCC capital projects 

 
 

  
   

  
 

Encourage use of pool/lease 
cars for all business journeys 

 
 

 
    

  
 

Provide pools bikes 
 

 
 

    
  

 

Join Driving for Better Business    
 

    
  

 

Check staff driving licenses etc   
 

    
  

 

Promote active travel by staff 
  

     
   

Promote good cycling behaviour 
by staff 

  
     

   

Set targets to reduce business 
mileage, without impacting on 
service delivery 

 
 

  
   

  
 

 

The County Council has a dual role to play in leading by example; firstly as a major 

employer within the County and therefore our ability to deliver change through our 

own staff, contractors and operations; and secondly as an influencer and driver for 

change across the residents and businesses within the our county. 

The County Council can take steps to improve road safety through the procurement 

and delivery of services to Gloucestershire. We have an in-house fleet of 

200+vehicles, delivering emergency response, highway maintenance, adult and 

children’s care.  

Page 126



As a significant procurer of goods and services, which are delivered by vehicles on 

the highway network, we can encourage best practice in driving and vehicle 

standards by including requirements to be registered with schemes such as Driving 

for Better Business within our procurement standards.  

As part of our Climate Change strategy, we already have corporate goals to reduce 

use of cars in delivery of services and to increase active travel and promote safe 

cycling and walking for our workforce. 

Our role as influencer and as a deliverer of change across our communities provides 

the Council with a unique position from where to help our residents and our 

businesses to champion the ambitions of the strategy.  A greater understanding of 

the approach and sharing instances of ‘best practice’ from the Council or key 

businesses or organisations within the County will play a vital role in supporting 

residents and businesses to deliver the ambitions alongside ourselves. 

 

Potential areas of focus 

The Road Safety policy will be a live document and continue to learn from the 

approaches that are being implemented and the challenges that we face across the 

network.  Further work will be needed to refine any specific programmes or joint 

working with partners, however a number of elements are likely to be taken forward 

as part of the policy and its ongoing refinement.  These have been informed by 

analysis of the casualty data across the county and therefore where investment can 

make the most difference: 

 Refining prioritisation of funding against our accident data and hot spot list  

 A focus on rural high-speed roads and associated speed campaigns  

 Working with higher risk groups such as older drivers, new drivers and young 

male drivers  

 Continued work with communities on community speed watch and the 

Community Speed Watch Fund 

 Supporting safe cycling and walking particularly in our urban areas 

 

Delivery and Funding  

Funding for road safety, or for measures that improve road safety come from several 

different sources. The Council uses the following priority system to allocate funds, 

and this has reflected our statutory duties, and the traditional “Engineer, Enforce, 

Educate” approach to road safety. 

1. Response & extraction of casualties 

2. Identify & repair highway safety defects 

3. Identify and treat prioritised collision hotspots and cluster sites 

4. Identify and treat prioritised sites with poor wet skid resistance 

5. Prioritised maintenance of safety systems (barriers, signs, lines) 

Page 127



6. Education programmes 

7. School Crossing patrols 

8. Bikeability Training 

 

Many of the new actions listed in the strategy above will require significant additional 

funding to deliver. We will need a notable increase in both revenue and capital 

monies to deliver the required target, and programmes will still need to be prioritised 

against the available budgets.  

The Local Transport Plan contains a comprehensive list of schemes which will 

deliver impacts on road safety, economic growth, carbon emissions, socio-

distributional impacts, the local environment and well-being.  

Community Speed Watch Fund 

Whilst inevitably our focus should be on those areas with the poorest casualty 

record, we know that the perception of safety within our communities is a concern 

that we need to tackle.  Perceptions regarding the poor safety of areas within our 

communities also create barriers to increasing levels of cycling and walking within 

our communities which in turn supports our environmental, health and 

decarbonisation agendas. 

That’s why we launched our £600,000 Community Speed Watch Safety Fund in 

summer 2022 in partnership with the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner. 

The fund provides communities with the tools they need to combat speeding in their 

area, helping to make our roads safer for everyone who uses them to walk, cycle, 

and drive. 

 As part of this fund, we are providing Community Speedwatch cameras to help 

enforce speed limits, as well as vehicle activated signage. And we are also helping 

community groups by funding speed surveys, on site meetings with road safety 

officers, and providing wheelie bin signage. 

These tools, used together and alongside the Road Safety Policy, will help 

communities across the county to make their area a safer place for everyone. 

Chart 8 below shows a range of funding sources required to deliver the priorities 

identified and the county council will actively seek such funding opportunities to 

deliver road safety schemes identified within the LTP. 

  

Page 128



Chart 8 – Funding resources required 

 

 

  

Page 129



Consultation Questions: 

 

No. Question 

 
1 

From the information provided in the strategy, do you understand the 
reasons why Gloucestershire County Council is recommending the Road 
safety policy? Y/N 

 
 
 
 
2 
 

Please indicate the capacity in which you are responding to this survey: 
 
Member of the public 
Organisation 
Business 
In a professional capacity 
GCC employee 
Councillor 
Other 

3 
 
 
 
 

Which District do you live in? 
 
Cheltenham 
Gloucester 
Tewkesbury  
Forest of dean 
Stroud 
Cotswold 

4 To what extent do you agree that the vision set out for the next 10 years is 
the right one? [Strongly agree/Agree/Disagree/Strongly disagree] 

5 To what extent do you agree that the Safe System approach is 
fundamental to the success of the policy? (If you disagree, please explain 
your answer) [Strongly agree/Agree/Disagree/Strongly disagree] 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6 

To deliver our Strategy we have identified 9 key themes: 
 

1. Reduce fatalities, serious injuries, number, and severity of collisions 
2. Develop a data and evidence base, including research, and 

monitoring of existing approaches  
3. Develop toolkits and programmes  
4. Increase levels of safety for walking 
5. Increase levels of safety for cycling  
6. Improve collaboration between partners and stakeholders 
7. Embed the Safe System approach 
8. Promote Vision zero aspiration to Gloucestershire’s public 
9. Lead by example 

 
To what extent do you agree that these are the right key themes? 
 

7 Are some of these themes more important than others? (If yes, please list 
your top 3) 

8 In your opinion what aspects of road safety work well at the moment? 

9 
 

What practical actions would you like to see taken to encourage and 
promote these aspects? 

Page 130



10 Do you agree with our Vision Zero/Safe System approach to road safety? 
Y/N 

11 If you answered “No” to Q10, please give your reasons 

12 Do you agree with the target of a 50% reduction in KSI figures by 2032  

13 If you answered “No” to Q12, please give your reasons 

14 Is there anything else you would like to tell us about Vision Zero, the Safe 
System approach and our proposed target? 

15 Do you agree with our policy on 20mph limits? Y/N 

16 If you answered “No” to Q15, please give your reasons 

17 To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions to develop a data 
and evidence base, including research, and monitoring of existing 
approaches?  

18 Is there anything else you would like to tell us about strategic theme 2? 

19 To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions to develop toolkits 
and processes for prioritising interventions and locations?  

20 Is there anything else you would like to tell us about strategic theme 3? 

21 To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions to increase levels 
of safety for walking?  

22 Is there anything else you would like to tell us about strategic theme 4? 

23 To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions to increase levels 
of safety for cycling?  

24 Is there anything else you would like to tell us about strategic theme 5? 

25 To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions to improve 
collaboration between partners and stakeholders?  

26 Is there anything else you would like to tell us about strategic theme 6? 

27 To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions to Embed the Safe 
System Approach?  

28 Is there anything else you would like to tell us about strategic theme 7? 

29 To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions to Promote Vision 
Zero?  

30 Is there anything else you would like to tell us about strategic theme 8? 

31 To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions to lead by 
example?  

32 Is there anything else you would like to tell us about strategic theme 9? 

33 How did you find out about this consultation? (Drop down list of answers)  

34 Equalities questions 

 

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



Project Report
13 April 2021 - 12 September 2022

Have Your Say Gloucestershire
Gloucestershire County Council Road Safety

Policy

Highlights

TOTAL
VISITS

2.5 k  

MAX VISITORS PER
DAY

162
NEW
REGISTRATI
ONS

2

ENGAGED
VISITORS

520  

INFORMED
VISITORS

1.3 k  

AWARE
VISITORS

2.1 k

Aware Participants 2,095

Aware Actions Performed Participants

Visited a Project or Tool Page 2,095

Informed Participants 1,306

Informed Actions Performed Participants

Viewed a video 0

Viewed a photo 0

Downloaded a document 0

Visited the Key Dates page 0

Visited an FAQ list Page 0

Visited Instagram Page 0

Visited Multiple Project Pages 774

Contributed to a tool (engaged) 520

Engaged Participants 520

Engaged Actions Performed
Registered Unverified Anonymous

Contributed on Forums 0 0 0

Participated in Surveys 1 0 519

Contributed to Newsfeeds 0 0 0

Participated in Quick Polls 0 0 0

Posted on Guestbooks 0 0 0

Contributed to Stories 0 0 0

Asked Questions 0 0 0

Placed Pins on Places 0 0 0

Contributed to Ideas 0 0 0

Visitors Summary

Pageviews Visitors

1 Aug '22 1 Sep '22

250

500

750

 

Page 133



Tool Type
Engagement Tool Name Tool Status Visitors

Registered Unverified Anonymous

Contributors

Survey Tool Gloucestershire County Council Road Safety

Policy
Archived 1428 1 0 519

Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

ENGAGEMENT TOOLS SUMMARY

0
FORUM TOPICS  

1
SURVEYS  

0
NEWS FEEDS  

0
QUICK POLLS  

0
GUEST BOOKS

0
STORIES  

0
Q&A S  

0
PLACES

Page 2 of 28

Page 134



Visitors 1428 Contributors 520 CONTRIBUTIONS 533

Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

ENGAGEMENT TOOL: SURVEY TOOL

Gloucestershire County Council Road Safety Policy

From the information provided in the strategy, do you understand thereasons why
Gloucestershire County Council is recommending the Road safety policy?

466 (87.8%)

466 (87.8%)

65 (12.2%)

65 (12.2%)

Yes No

Question options

Page 3 of 28

Optional question (531 response(s), 2 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 135



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

Please indicate the capacity in which you are responding to this survey:

437 (82.3%)

437 (82.3%)

8 (1.5%)

8 (1.5%)1 (0.2%)

1 (0.2%)13 (2.4%)

13 (2.4%)20 (3.8%)

20 (3.8%)
42 (7.9%)

42 (7.9%) 10 (1.9%)

10 (1.9%)

Member of the public Organisation Business In a professional capacity GCC employee

Councillor Other (please specify)

Question options

Page 4 of 28

Optional question (531 response(s), 2 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 136



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

Which District do you live in?

84 (15.8%)

84 (15.8%)

77 (14.5%)

77 (14.5%)

53 (10.0%)

53 (10.0%)

51 (9.6%)

51 (9.6%)

173 (32.6%)

173 (32.6%)

82 (15.4%)

82 (15.4%)
11 (2.1%)

11 (2.1%)

Cheltenham Gloucester Tewkesbury Forest of dean Stroud Cotswold

Other (please specify)

Question options

Page 5 of 28

Optional question (531 response(s), 2 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 137



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

To what extent do you agree that the vision set out for the next 10 years is the right
one?

140 (26.7%)

140 (26.7%)

226 (43.1%)

226 (43.1%)

85 (16.2%)

85 (16.2%)

73 (13.9%)

73 (13.9%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 6 of 28

Optional question (524 response(s), 9 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 138



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

To what extent do you agree that the Safe System approach is fundamental to the
success of the policy?

159 (30.3%)

159 (30.3%)

205 (39.1%)

205 (39.1%)

95 (18.1%)

95 (18.1%)

65 (12.4%)

65 (12.4%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 7 of 28

Optional question (524 response(s), 9 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 139



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

To deliver our Strategy we have identified 9 key themes: Reduce fatalities, serious
injuries, number, and severity of collisionsDevelop a data and evidence base,

including research, and monitoring of existing approaches Develop toolkits and
program...

161 (30.4%)

161 (30.4%)

239 (45.2%)

239 (45.2%)

81 (15.3%)

81 (15.3%)

48 (9.1%)

48 (9.1%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 8 of 28

Optional question (529 response(s), 4 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 140



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

In your opinion, what aspects of road safety work well at the moment?

Response and extraction of casualties Identify and repair highway safety defects

Identify and treat prioritised collision hotspots and cluster sites Identify and treat prioritised sites with poor wet skid resistance

Prioritised maintenance of safety systems (barriers, signs, lines) Education programmes School crossing patrols

Bikeability training Other (please specify)

Question options

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

142

94

102

40

96

62

114

82

61

Page 9 of 28

Optional question (380 response(s), 153 skipped)

Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 141



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

Do you agree with our Vision Zero/Safe System approach to road safety?

352 (68.5%)

352 (68.5%)

162 (31.5%)

162 (31.5%)

Yes No

Question options

Page 10 of 28

Optional question (514 response(s), 19 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 142



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

Do you agree with the target of a 50% reduction in KSI figures by 2032

338 (65.6%)

338 (65.6%)

177 (34.4%)

177 (34.4%)

Yes No

Question options

Page 11 of 28

Optional question (515 response(s), 18 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 143



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

Do you agree with our policy on 20mph limits?

267 (50.7%)

267 (50.7%)

260 (49.3%)

260 (49.3%)

Yes No

Question options

Page 12 of 28

Optional question (527 response(s), 6 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 144



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions for Strategic theme 2 - to
develop a data and evidence base, including research, and monitoring of existing

approaches? 

146 (28.1%)

146 (28.1%)

265 (51.1%)

265 (51.1%)

65 (12.5%)

65 (12.5%)

43 (8.3%)

43 (8.3%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 13 of 28

Optional question (519 response(s), 14 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 145



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions for Strategic theme 3 - to
develop toolkits and processes for prioritising interventions and locations?

114 (22.7%)

114 (22.7%)

274 (54.5%)

274 (54.5%)

66 (13.1%)

66 (13.1%)

49 (9.7%)

49 (9.7%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 14 of 28

Optional question (503 response(s), 30 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 146



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions for Strategic theme 4 - to
increase levels of safety for walking?

258 (49.5%)

258 (49.5%)

177 (34.0%)

177 (34.0%)

50 (9.6%)

50 (9.6%)

36 (6.9%)

36 (6.9%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 15 of 28

Optional question (521 response(s), 12 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 147



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions for Strategic theme 5 - to
increase levels of safety for cycling?

213 (41.6%)

213 (41.6%)

173 (33.8%)

173 (33.8%)

81 (15.8%)

81 (15.8%)

45 (8.8%)

45 (8.8%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 16 of 28

Optional question (512 response(s), 21 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 148



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions for Strategic theme 6 - to
improve collaboration between partners and stakeholders?

132 (26.6%)

132 (26.6%)

255 (51.4%)

255 (51.4%)

68 (13.7%)

68 (13.7%)

41 (8.3%)

41 (8.3%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 17 of 28

Optional question (496 response(s), 37 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 149



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions for Strategic theme 7 - to
Embed the Safe System Approach?

128 (26.1%)

128 (26.1%)

251 (51.2%)

251 (51.2%)

69 (14.1%)

69 (14.1%)

42 (8.6%)

42 (8.6%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 18 of 28

Optional question (490 response(s), 43 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 150



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions for Strategic theme 8 - to
Promote Vision Zero?

131 (27.1%)

131 (27.1%)

227 (46.9%)

227 (46.9%)

73 (15.1%)

73 (15.1%)

53 (11.0%)

53 (11.0%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 19 of 28

Optional question (484 response(s), 49 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 151



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

To what extent do you agree with our proposed actions for Strategic theme 9 - to lead
by example?

175 (35.9%)

175 (35.9%)

235 (48.2%)

235 (48.2%)

39 (8.0%)

39 (8.0%)

39 (8.0%)

39 (8.0%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 20 of 28

Optional question (488 response(s), 45 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 152



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

How did you find out about this consultation?

Facebook Twitter Email Press release Facebook / Instagram stories Other (please specify)

Question options

25

50

75

100

125

150

175

200

225

250

275

248

33

144

27

17

71

Page 21 of 28

Optional question (525 response(s), 8 skipped)

Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 153



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

Equality questionnaire: some information about youThe following questions are to
ensure we take the views and needs of differing people into consideration and to

understand your responses to the previous questions a little better. It is a legal req...

267 (52.4%)

267 (52.4%)

171 (33.5%)

171 (33.5%)

64 (12.5%)

64 (12.5%) 8 (1.6%)

8 (1.6%)

Male Female Prefer not to say Another gender – please identify

Question options

Page 22 of 28

Optional question (510 response(s), 23 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 154



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

Is the gender you identity with the same as your sex registered at birth?

439 (87.3%)

439 (87.3%)

5 (1.0%)

5 (1.0%)

59 (11.7%)

59 (11.7%)

Yes No Prefer not to say

Question options

Page 23 of 28

Optional question (503 response(s), 30 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 155



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

How old are you?

7 (1.4%)

7 (1.4%)

36 (7.0%)

36 (7.0%)

66 (12.9%)

66 (12.9%)

88 (17.2%)

88 (17.2%)

138 (27.0%)

138 (27.0%)

85 (16.6%)

85 (16.6%)

30 (5.9%)

30 (5.9%)

62 (12.1%)

62 (12.1%)

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75 or older Prefer not to say

Question options

Page 24 of 28

Optional question (512 response(s), 21 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 156



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

Which race or ethnicity best describes you?

2 (0.4%)

2 (0.4%)

1 (0.2%)

1 (0.2%)

2 (0.4%)

2 (0.4%)

1 (0.2%)

1 (0.2%)

1 (0.2%)

1 (0.2%)

1 (0.2%)

1 (0.2%)

3 (0.6%)

3 (0.6%)

401 (78.6%)

401 (78.6%)

4 (0.8%)

4 (0.8%)18 (3.5%)

18 (3.5%)

68 (13.3%)

68 (13.3%) 8 (1.6%)

8 (1.6%)

Asian/British Asian: Indian Asian/British Asian: Other Black/British Black: African

Black/British Black: Caribbean Mixed Race: Black & White Mixed race: Asian & White Mixed Race: Other

White: British White: Irish White: European Prefer not to say Another race or ethnicity – please identify:

Question options

Page 25 of 28

Optional question (510 response(s), 23 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 157



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

Do you have a disability, long-term illness, or health condition?

103 (20.3%)

103 (20.3%)

332 (65.4%)

332 (65.4%)

73 (14.4%)

73 (14.4%)

Yes No Prefer not to say

Question options

Page 26 of 28

Optional question (508 response(s), 25 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 158



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

Which of the following terms best describes your sexual orientation?

15 (3.0%)

15 (3.0%)

10 (2.0%)

10 (2.0%)

1 (0.2%)

1 (0.2%)

4 (0.8%)

4 (0.8%)

347 (69.3%)

347 (69.3%)

111 (22.2%)

111 (22.2%)

13 (2.6%)

13 (2.6%)

Asexual Bisexual Gay man Gay woman or lesbian Heterosexual or straight Prefer not to say

Other – please identify:

Question options

Page 27 of 28

Optional question (501 response(s), 32 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 159



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 12 September 2022

What do you consider your religion to be?

2 (0.4%)

2 (0.4%)

184 (36.6%)

184 (36.6%)

1 (0.2%)

1 (0.2%)

2 (0.4%)

2 (0.4%)

194 (38.6%)

194 (38.6%)

101 (20.1%)

101 (20.1%)

19 (3.8%)

19 (3.8%)

Buddhist Christian Jewish Muslim No religion Prefer not to say

Other religion – please identify:

Question options

Page 28 of 28

Optional question (503 response(s), 30 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 160



REPORT TITLE: Library Strategy 2023-2028

Cabinet Date 23rd November 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Dave Norman MBE, Cabinet Member for Fire, Community Safety and 
Libraries

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To approve the new Library Strategy 2023-2028 for recommendation to 
County Council.

Recommendations That Cabinet recommends that the Council adopt the Library Strategy 2023-
2028 as part of the Council’s Policy Framework

Reasons for 
Recommendations

The current Library Strategy was formally adopted in 2012 and is outdated.  
The new Library Strategy 2023-2028 outlines the vision and aims for 
Gloucestershire’s modern library service.  Views of Gloucestershire residents 
were sought between 4th July and 23rd September 2022 and have been 
incorporated into the strategy which is now presented.

Resource 
Implications

The future strategy will be delivered within the libraries base budget identified 
through the Council’s MTFS for 2022/23 – 2025/26.  

Background 
Documents

Decision - Decision on the future Library Strategy for Gloucestershire
Decision - To seek approval to go out to public consultation on the proposed 
draft library strategy (gloucestershire.gov.uk)

Results of Public Consultation (Appendix 1)
Statutory Authority Public Libraries & Museums Act 1964

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Name:  Jane Everiss, Head of Library & Registration Services
Tel. no:  01452 425027
Email:   jane.everiss@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline  Public consultation – 4th July – 23rd September 2022

 Report returning to Cabinet meeting – 23rd November 2022

 Finalised library strategy recommended for adoption at Full Council meeting 15th 
February 2023

 Implementation from 1st April 2023

Page 161

Agenda Item 10

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=264
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1894
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1894


Background 

1. Under the provisions of the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 (PLMA), the 
Council, as a library authority, has a statutory duty to provide a comprehensive and 
efficient library service for all persons wishing to make use of it.

2. The PLMA does not define what is meant by “comprehensive and efficient”. However, it 
does provide that the library authority must make facilities for borrowing books and 
other materials available to people who live, or work, or are undergoing full-time 
education in Gloucestershire. 

3. On 5th April 2012, Cabinet approved the current library strategy “Developing a new 
strategy for library services in Gloucestershire”.  This strategy has been in place since 
that time and no longer represents the future vision and ambition for libraries within 
Gloucestershire.

4. The new library strategy outlines the direction and ambitions for Gloucestershire Library 
service and represents a far more up to date vision for the library services it provides to 
Gloucestershire residents, students, and workers.

5. The new strategy incorporates the following:

 A new vision for Gloucestershire Library Services
 The current provision of library and wider services
 The aims and ambitions of the library service between 2023 and 2028
 A clear outline of the service’s core offer

A 12-week public consultation was undertaken between 4th July and 23rd September 
2022, which enabled residents, students, and workers in Gloucestershire to respond to 
the draft strategy.  Feedback from the consultation was considered and has been 
incorporated within the strategy which is now presented.

Outcome of Public Consultation

6. The results of the public consultation are included within the report at Appendix 1.  High 
level results indicate: 

7. The public consultation survey received 277 responses.  Of those 277 responses 
94.9% of people were satisfied or very satisfied with their library service.  4.7% were 
not satisfied with 0.4% being not at all satisfied.

8. 76.9% of respondents stated that they knew more about what the library service has to 
offer after reading the Strategy.  

9. 69.6% of respondents rated their overall opinion of the strategy as good with 19.2% 
rating it as excellent.  10% felt the strategy was poor with 1.3% feeling it was very poor.

10.77% of respondents felt the strategy was easy to understand, 76% that the case 
studies were relevant and 75% that the core offer demonstrates what they can expect 
from the library service.

Page 162



11.When asked if the ambitions within the 5 C’s were relevant, people agreed or strongly 
agreed they were relevant as below:

 Core - 204 people responded positively
 Climate - 203 people responded positively
 Community – 203 responded positively
 Connect – 201 responded positively
 Creativity – 200 responded positively

12.We received a number of comments that expressed concern that libraries would be 
closed, or funding removed.  The majority of comments, however, were in support of 
the service that libraries currently offer.  Some feedback was received that outlined 
elements respondents would like to see included in the Strategy – the following has 
therefore been included within the updated Strategy:

 Core – Provision of access to Local Studies collections within libraries.
 Core – To support Home Educators through provision of resources and spaces.
 Core : ambition – Work with Schools to support class visits to local libraries to promote 

reading for pleasure to children.
 Core : ambition – To strengthen support and accessibility to reading for reluctant 

readers and those in local communities whose first language is not English. 
 Connect : ambition – To expand the provision of meeting spaces within libraries.

13.The Strategy has also been updated following the formal decisions taken to re-locate 
the libraries in Stroud & Gloucester.  The sections under Community now include 
reference to these two projects.

14.The remainder of the changes were minor grammatical changes and a swap of the 
case studies in Core & Community.

Options

15.Not to approve the new Library Strategy – this option is rejected as it is considered that 
the previous strategy is out of date and does not support the delivery of 
Gloucestershire’s modern library service.  In addition, the new strategy incorporates 
feedback from members of the public.

16.Approve the new Library Strategy for recommendation to County Council – this option 
is recommended.  Results from the public consultation survey show support for the new 
Library Strategy with 19.2% of respondents rating the strategy as excellent and 69.6% 
as good.  

Risks 

17.Concerns were raised within the consultation about risks to library budgets leading to 
reduced stock, library closures or reduction of services.  There is a risk that financial 
reductions in budget may mean that some areas of the Library Strategy beyond the 
Core service might not be able to be delivered.

Page 163



Financial implications

18.The future strategy will be delivered within the libraries base budget identified through 
the Council’s MTFS for 2022/23 – 2025/26.  

Climate change implications

19.The Library Strategy recognises the importance of climate change and sustainability.  It 
includes a section which details the steps the library service has taken to date to 
address the climate emergency.

20. In summary these actions include:
 Stock collections and initiatives related to sustainable living and the environment
 Tree and wildlife planting in library garden areas
 Engaging communities in activities, events and conversations that address the 

climate change crisis to promote and affect change
 Delivering initiatives that encourage and promote swaps, re-use and repair.
 Choosing suppliers and partners who demonstrate environmental integrity and 

sustainable work practices.

21.The new Library Strategy also outlines the library service’s ambitions for the next 5 
years some of which include:

 Challenging and adapting our behaviours in respect of climate and sustainability
 Exploring more sustainable travel options for people wishing to visit libraries
 Exploring the provision of free water refill and local recycling points 
 Reviewing our van deliveries to reduce our carbon footprint
 Partnering with local community groups to enhance & expand the use of our outdoor 

spaces – creating community gardens to support healthy living.

22.203 people who responded to the survey agreed or strongly agreed that our climate 
ambitions were relevant.

Equality implications

23.Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes

Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order 
to satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

24.The Library Strategy consultation received 277 responses.  Of those who responded 
20.4% stated they had a disability, long-term illness or health condition.  36.7% of 
survey respondents were over 65 and 67% of respondents were female.  86.9% of 
respondents where White: British/Irish/European with 47.3% stating they were 
Christian, followed by 33.8% who stated they had no religion.

25.Whilst the responses received were a small number, the above statistics appear to 
indicate that those responding to the survey aligned with the average Gloucestershire 

Page 164



population in terms of protected characteristics, with the exception of those declaring a 
disability, long-term illness or health condition where a slightly higher percentage 
engaged.

26.The Library Strategy outlines ambitions to increase the equality, diversity and inclusivity 
of the library workforce, its range of stock and its activities.  The library service will 
reach out to community partners to engage and consult with diverse groups to help 
shape the library services in those local areas with the aim of increasing access.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

27.The Library Management System which manages library customers’ use holds personal 
information.  The current system has been in place since April 2020 and a DPIA is 
being undertaken to ensure any risk to library user’s personal data is documented and 
minimised.

Social value implications

28.Libraries offer many social value benefits.  The service actively encourages volunteers, 
work experience and DofE experience.  These volunteers assist with providing services 
ranging from home delivery to those who are housebound to supporting people to use 
ICT and access the internet.  Young people can gain confidence and some work 
experience by volunteering alongside experienced staff, whilst with older people 
volunteering can reduce social isolation.

29.Free activities offered by libraries are aimed at helping older people to live within their 
own homes, reducing social isolation, supporting carers of people with dementia and 
activities aimed at supporting maternal mental health and children’s literacy and 
development.  The libraries offer Books on Prescription which are prescribed by GPs to 
help with medical and mental health issues.

30.The library innovation labs provide dedicated support to build skills and confidence.  
This extends to businesses supporting with volunteers to help give back to the 
community and workshops specifically aimed at communities who might not otherwise 
have access to the specialist technical kit.  These workshops help spark young people’s 
interest in STEM (science, technology, engineering & mathematics), supports with 
training, skills and confidence in digital technology and supports economic recovery for 
start-ups and small businesses.

Officer recommendations

31.That Cabinet recommends that the Council adopt the Library Strategy 2023-2028 as 
part of the Council’s Policy Framework

Page 165



Performance management/follow-up 

32.The Library Strategy will be reviewed on a yearly basis and a report produced to 
demonstrate how the service has performed against the ambitions outlined in the 
Strategy document.

Case studies will also be updated to ensure that the Strategy remains current.

Page 166



Gloucestershire 
Libraries 
Strategy 
2023 - 2028

Page 167



Defining and enhancing our CORE Service
Responding to the CLIMATE emergency
Ensuring our libraries continue to meet the needs of their COMMUNITY 
CONNECTING people 
Using CREATIVITY to enhance people’s lives

Gloucestershire Libraries are welcoming, vibrant safe places at the heart of our diverse
communities and as such are an integral part of the County Council helping us deliver our
Council Strategy - Building Back Better in Gloucestershire.

The library service has changed significantly since the last strategy was written in 2012 and I’m
pleased that our new library strategy provides a forward-thinking vision and ambition for library
services in Gloucestershire.

Our libraries are far more than a place to borrow books – their core purpose is still to provide
free access to a wide range of physical books and information, but this also now extends to e-
books that can be accessed from your own home, place of work or study. We have introduced
library innovation labs, located within each of our 6 districts, which are designed to build
confidence and skills and connect businesses, schools, and entrepreneurs with the digital
technology of the future.

We are committed to keeping our libraries open and delivering a high quality and constantly
evolving service across our 31 locations. We continue to support our 8 community run libraries
and would like to recognise the hard work undertaken by these communities who have been
running their libraries successfully since 2011/12.

This Strategy sets out our ambitions for the next five years under the 5 C’s which are:

WELCOME TO THE
LIBRARIES STRATEGY

Councillor Dave Norman MBE
Cabinet Member for Fire, Community Safety and Libraries

Gloucestershire Libraries will continue to evolve to meet the needs of
the people who wish to use them and our new strategy outlines how our
buildings and services will continue to develop to meet these ever
changing demands whilst still retaining libraries core purpose.

Page 168



I use my library daily, lovely friendly staff 
 and a great selection of books. I don't
know what I'd do without it!  

Library Customer 2021 

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Page 169



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Libraries are the lifeblood of the community,
what would we do without them?

INTRODUCTION
Gloucestershire Libraries have changed significantly in the last 11 years since the last strategy
was produced in 2012. Libraries contribute to the social, economic and cultural wellbeing of
communities and are a key factor in driving early years literacy. 

Public libraries have long been one of the most important shared civic spaces. Our libraries
continue to be trusted spaces in local communities that are accessible to all who wish to use
them and for many the doors to the library open a world of exploration, escape, learning and
research. 

Since inception, library spaces have flexed to meet the needs of the surrounding communities.
The ability to adapt and develop has never been more important as services have emerged from
the challenges of physical closures. Public libraries were historically designed to house books;
however, a modern library not only offers books to read, but the future is also firmly focussed on
welcoming people both physically and in the digital world. 

Page 170



Libraries in Gloucestershire support and facilitate education 
and skills development, they complement mainstream 
education and provide a space for adults and children to 
learn and develop. They support economic development 
and the delivery of important local services and work in 
partnership supporting businesses, enterprise, and 
employment creation. The network of Growth Hubs and 
Innovation labs link people with jobs by developing 
employability skills and sharing job seeking support. They 
support the development of digital skills and literacy and 
provide a cultural programme that empowers communities, 
reduces isolation, and opens Art and Culture to all. 

Co-design where libraries listen and learn from communities 
is crucial to success. Libraries need to re-build confidence 
in physical spaces, level-up the digital space and make 
the library visible in the community. The place-making role 
libraries play in communities brings vital social benefit: a sense
of belonging, companionship, support, and inspiration.  

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

The global COVID-19 pandemic saw library
services in Gloucestershire respond quickly to
develop an enhanced digital offer to support
people during lockdown. Creativity and
innovation flourished as services introduced
new models of delivery such as “reserve and
collect”, “ring and read” and “off the shelf”,
extended digital business support and virtual
programmes to address social isolation. This
response has brought about a longer-term
change in how people wish to access services
which are addressed through this strategy. 

The enforced closure of libraries exacerbated
existing issues, such as digital exclusion and
social isolation, and brought new challenges into
sharp focus. The closures significantly
disadvantaged those who could not access
reading and digital services.

Libraries will continue to adapt and respond
to emerging social issues ensuring that 
appropriate services are inclusive and
accessible at a local level. 

Page 171



Have regard to encouraging both adults and children to make full use of the library space and provide
advice as to its use.
Lend books and other printed material in sufficient quality and quantity free of charge to those who live,
work or study in the area;
Secure co-operation between the library authority and others exercising public functions within the
county

Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under
the Act;
Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it;
Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who
do not share it.

age 
disability 
gender reassignment 
pregnancy and maternity 
race; religion or belief 
sex 
sexual orientation
marriage and civil partnership

Under the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964   (PLMA) Gloucestershire County Council, as a library
authority, has a statutory duty (not a discretionary power) to provide a comprehensive and efficient library
service for all people working, living or studying full time in Gloucestershire who wish to make use of it.

The PLMA does not define what is meant by “comprehensive and efficient”. However in providing this
service, Gloucestershire County Council must, amongst other things:

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010
In formulating the new library strategy, the Council must also comply with the statutory duty contained in
section 149 of the Equality Act, known as the public sector equality duty. This requires the council, and
Cabinet Members as decision makers in particular, to have due regard to the needs to:

The relevant protected 
characteristics 
referred to in section 149 are:

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

BACKGROUND 
 The Legal Framework 

Page 172



Libraries

Community Libraries 

Members of Staff  

31
8

179

Items of e-Stock Loaned 
Items of Stock Issued 

Items of Library Stock Available 

1,860,457

561,123
193,479 

Library visits1,992,468

Children's Learning 
Activities & Events 3,912
Adult Learning 
Activities & Events2,009

Over 12,000 hours 
of Volunteer Support 

FREE WiFi in 
Every Library 

 
Virtual Visits  180,548

An Innovation Lab 
in Coleford 

Public Computers 

Hours of Public Use

261
161,844

LET'S CELEBRATE 
Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020

Page 173



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Investing in digital skills for library staff
Using digital innovation through our network of Labs to improve customer experience

Seek to increase diversity within our workforce
Review our strategies & policies to ensure they are inclusive to all
Participating in equality and inclusion learning and development
Providing a range of stock that reflects the diversity of the Gloucestershire population 

Explore further opportunities for co-location or re-location of library services
Demonstrate how libraries can offer additional social, economic, and environmental benefits for local
people and communities through the delivery of services, events and activities

Work with partners to introduce wildlife and tree planting in library gardens and encourage participation
in conservation activities
Explore installation of electric vehicle charge points in identified library car parks
Work with communities and partners to increase local recycling opportunities
Education and information – we will raise awareness of the things we can all do to reduce our impact on
the environment, providing ‘Greener Together’ collections in all our Libraries and actively promote key
messages and events

 
How Libraries link with the County Council’s Strategy

 
Building Back Better in Gloucestershire

 
Our core services and ambitions assist in the delivery of the County Council strategy in the following ways:

GETTING OUR OWN HOUSE IN ORDER

ICT

Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion

Maximising the use of our estate

TACKLING CLIMATE CHANGE

Page 174



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Connect businesses, schools, and entrepreneurs with the digital technology of the future
through our network of Innovation Labs
Support individuals to develop new skills, confidence and understanding in digital
technology through our network of Innovation Labs
Partner with Adult Education and Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Hub to ensure
skills, training and education are directly accessible in local communities
Shape our library services to make sure they adapt to the needs and aspirations of local
residents

Explore whether Family Hub services can be delivered from identified library locations
Provide children’s library services that support literacy, learning and confidence
Deliver an inclusive immersive storytelling experience from our Oakley centre
Deliver a programme of events aimed at reducing social isolation in both younger and older
people
Deliver a programme of events aimed at supporting those with Dementia
Explore how the digital technology within our Innovation Labs can support the county
councils Technology Strategy to support people to live independently

Signpost customers to right part of the County Council so they can get the advice or support
they need
Refresh library customer service and presentation standards
Train and support staff and volunteers to deliver a consistently positive/fair experience for
all customers

SUSTAINABLE GROWTH AND LEVELLING UP OUR COMMUNITIES

TRANSFORMING CHILDREN’S AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE

IMPROVING CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE

Page 175



Gloucestershire Libraries are welcoming,
inclusive, innovative, and inspiring.

 
Vibrant safe spaces at the heart of our diverse
communities, they encourage connections and

creativity, providing equality of access to
reading, culture, technology, trusted

information, and learning opportunities.
  

Working with and for their communities,
libraries will continue to adapt and respond to

their changing needs, championing
sustainability and promoting health &

wellbeing.
  

Vision for the 
Library Services 

in Gloucestershire

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Page 176



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

THE 5 C'S 

CORE

CLIMATE

COMMUNITY 

CONNECT

CREATIVITY 

Page 177



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

KEY AIMS & OBJECTIVES

GREENER 
TOGETHER 

HEALTH & 
WELLBEING 

DIGITAL & 
INNOVATION CHILDREN & 

FAMILIES 

READING & 
LITERACY

WORKFORCE & 
VOLUNTEERS

EQUALITY & 
DIVERSITY

CREATIVITYBUSINESS 
DEVELOPMENT 

Page 178



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Free access to reading through physical and electronic book stock. Access to
information through the network of Gloucestershire Libraries, the Virtual Reference
Library (VRL) and Ask Us.  

Promotion of the benefits of reading for pleasure and support basic literacy skills to
adults and children.

Provide access to local studies collections within libraries. 

Support Home Educators through the provision of resources and spaces.

A trained workforce who can signpost to partner and other council services. 

Free access to books that support mental and physical health and wellbeing
including books on prescription.

Provide home delivery services to housebound residents. 

Providing welcoming, accessible, inclusive, safe spaces for all and a positive
experience for people using library services or volunteering with us. 

Provide self service options so that customers can access the services they want
when they want. 

Provide access to the internet, printing and Wi-Fi through our network of buildings

Support people to build digital skills and confidence.

Offer a core programme of events and activities including those that aim to reduce
social isolation. 

Work with housing developers to secure contributions so libraries can continue to
meet the needs of residents of new developments. 

CORE A comprehensive and efficient Library Service for Gloucestershire  

Libraries are more than just books, my local library
is full knowledge and support 

Page 179



Equip staff and volunteers with the skills to deliver a progressive service and
encourage development at all levels.

Commit to investing further skills and training opportunities through work
experience, apprenticeships, and volunteering.

Further develop and expand customer self-service options, enabling easier and
extended access to library services. 

Work with Adult Education to expand access to basic reading and other training
opportunities. 

Become more inclusive and better reflect the equality and diversity of our
communities through our book stock, accessible events, and recruitment of staff
and volunteers.

Strengthen support and accessibility to reading for reluctant readers and those in
local communities whose first language is not English.  

Ensure libraries physical and digital services are fully accessible to all, including
use of digital platforms such as 360-degree virtual tours. 

Develop opportunities for library membership at each stage of a child's
development and reading journey.

Develop a strong marketing strategy that promotes the relevance of libraries and
encourages greater use.

Develop further opportunities to deliver the County Council's 'Build Back Better in
Gloucestershire' strategy.  

Develop a programme of income generation to support the delivery of ambitions.

Work with schools to support class visits to local libraries to promote reading for
pleasure to children. 

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

AMBITION 

Libraries store the energy that fuels imagination, they open
windows to the world and inspire us to explore 

Sidney Sheldon

we will...

Page 180



CHELTENHAM CARE HOME DELIVERY SERVICE 

Cheltenham Library provided a full service to the most
vulnerable and isolated in the community called the Care Home
Delivery Service. From June 2020 the library staff have been
delivering books and their time to local care homes. 

This project has been such a success, following the pandemic
the aim is to support care home residents to physically visit the
library and choose books. 

"I am always very pleased to have books delivered, without this very
helpful service my life would be greyer without a selection of books". 

CORE
CASE STUDY 

A SAFE SPACE FOR ALL 

Libraries are safe spaces, designed for community use: 

"I just wanted to say a huge thank you to your kind staff who allowed six staff and seven disabled children to
have lunch in the library when our alternative plans fell through and had nowhere to go in the rain. We didn't
feel rushed at all and there was a lovely clam atmosphere which was exactly what our children need whilst
they are eating. 

Many thanks to the staff and volunteers".  

- Karen Childs from St Roses School, Stroud 

Page 181



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Provide Greener Together stock collections and initiatives that promote Information
and resources related to sustainable living, the environment and wildlife so that
people can make informed choices.  

Plant trees and wildlife gardens within our library outdoor spaces. 

Engage communities in activities, events and conversations that address the climate
crisis to promote and affect change. 

Provide local access in communities- avoiding the need for people to travel to
access wider council services. 

Work with Gloucestershire County Council partners assisting with the delivery of the
Council's Climate Strategy. 

Choose suppliers and partners who demonstrate environmental integrity and
sustainable work practices.

Deliver initiatives that encourage and promote swaps, re-use and repair. 

Invest in book stock and e-lending to promote re-use rather than single use. 

CLIMATE Borrow Don't Buy 

Libraries by their nature are recyclers - reuse is
the way forward  

Page 182



Challenge and adapt our behaviours to embrace positive change in respect of
climate and sustainability. 

Roll out successful local initiatives that support climate and sustainability across our
network of libraries. 

Explore more sustainable travel options for people wishing to visit libraries including
a review of cycle parking provision and exploring car e-charging points in libraries. 

Explore the provision of free water re-fill points in libraries.

Offer local recycling points at libraries for residents (i.e batteries).

Strengthen policies and procedures to address climate issues and sustainability.

Review and reduce the carbon footprint of our library van deliveries.

Work with property colleagues to ensure the environmental impact of future library
refurbishments are considered and libraries, where possible, become carbon
neutral.

Explore the provision of a Library of Things to enable people to borrow useful items
rather than having them buy them. 

Develop a programme of Environmental events to be delivered through the network
of libraries.

Partner with local community groups to enhance and expand the use of the
outdoor spaces - creating community gardens to support healthy living. 

Develop outdoor spaces to provide library activities and events in a garden
environment, encouraging better health and wellbeing. 

Work with suppliers to ensure our book stock has the lowest possible
environmental impact. 

Explore and implement more sustainable work practices in libraries.

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

AMBITION we will...

Page 183



GREENER TOGETHER 

In 2021 the library service created a sub-group of a cross
section of staff to form the Greener Together committee, this
group take on responsibility for thinking about how the library
service can promote re-use and the climate change agenda
through book stock, events and partnerships. 

COSTUME SWAP 

One of the biggest achievements, so far, has been the
costume swap initiative promoted by individual libraries. The
concept is that residents bring in unwanted costumes for
children into the library and swap it with another size or
theme of costume. 

This initiative has worked really well around halloween and
World Book Night, with an emphasis that children will dress up
to promote the occasions . 

CLIMATE
CASE STUDY 

In 2022 we included free sewing workshops alongside the swaps, to try and encourage customers to make
and mend. We held supportive sessions of the elements of sewing and the positive impact it can have on the
environmentif clothes are mended not thrown away.  

Page 184



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28

Provide open and accessible library buildings which sit at the heart of our diverse
communities.

Encourage community use of library buildings.

Communicate and consult with all residents when changes to library services are
planned. 

Support the network of community run libraries. 

Provide a network of community library access points in local venues where there is
sufficient demand from people unable to access a static library.  

Provide temporary and ad hoc pop up libraries in targeted areas.  

Use developer contributions to ensure local libraries can continue to meet the
needs of growing and changing communities. 

Provide local access to partner organisations and wider council services. 

Work with local partners to attract funding and deliver community projects. 

Launch and embed the new Stroud Library within the Five Valley's Shopping Centre.  

Provide volunteering opportunities for local people to provide skills, experience and
reduce social isolation.  

Provide activities and events that are aimed at the individual needs of the residents.

COMMUNITY

I am passionate about my local library space. I help out
where I can in this essential space for the community  

Page 185



Explore how the pop up library programme can reach people who do not use
libraries, through increased use of local venues. 

Explore targeted expansion of the community library access points where people
cannot access a library building. 

Co-create library services which reach the heart of communities and engage with
new audiences. 

Create a programme of library refurbishment to ensure libraries align with
community needs and to provide a modern accessible library service. 

Work with the University of Gloucestershire on the relocation of Gloucester Library
to the new City Campus building. 

Work with developers to ensure new library provision is considered within identified
strategic allocation sites and continue to review library provision in the light of new
housing developments ensuring growing communities have access to public library
services. 

Advocate for public libraries role in the regeneration of high streets and explore
further relocation opportunities that will enable easier access to library services.

Set up a youth advisory board to ensure young people are able to influence how the
services can meet the needs of customers. 

 

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28

AMBITION

These dynamic and modern institutions and the librarians
who staff them add immeasurably to our quality of life 

George W Bush

we will...

Page 186



POP UP LIBRARIES

During the refurbishment of Matson Library in 2021,
Gloucestershire Libraries provided a continued service for the
community at four different sites around Matson. 

This was a great time for the Library Service to reach out to
pockets of communities and rebuild relationships with
customers. At the pop up sites customers are able to join the
library, borrow and return items, request stock, talk about
book choices as well as having a general chat. 

The four sites included: Matson Baptist Church, The Phoenix
Centre, The Venture and The Redwell Centre. The venues were
welcoming and accomadating. Each pop up, due to it's
location had a different emphasis and characteristic and it has
been an uplifting opportunity to talk directly with communities,
many of which hadn't been in the library. 

Due to the success of this project pop up libraries have been
integrated into core activities as an excellent way to reach hard
to reach groups.

In 2021 this project won the David Vaisey Prize.  

COMMUNITY 
CASE STUDY 

THE IMPACT - POP UP LIBRARIES  

For non library users, recreating the library experience in an external setting has done away with some
barriers that have prevenyed them in the past from coming through the doors of Matson Library.

The mission of creating the pop up was generated by countering customer comments like:

"I wouldn't borrow a book, I might lose it" or "There's so much going on in my life, I'll never remeber to bring it
back".  

Mural at the newly refurbished Matson Library

Member of staff manning a pop up library

Page 187



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Provide access to ICT and language courses through Adult Education.

Deliver STEAM and code clubs in local libraries. 

Connecting people with digital technology.

Offer digital device surgeries.

Partner with businesses and deliver school workshops through Innovation Labs to
spark interest in STEAM. 

Connect children and young people with library services through liaison with early
years, schools and education providers.  

Connect new parents with library services providing membership and BookStart
packs at birth registration appointments.

Provide access to information that supports businesses through Growth Hub access
points and Ask Us.

Connect people with stock through the inter library lending services.

Connect people to reduce social isolation through clubs and activities.

Connecting people with information and providers through signposting to wider
council information and partners.  

CONNECT

The Lab space is such a treasure trove of tech! 

Page 188



Connect people with skills and opportunities by partnering with Adult Education and
Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Hub.

Expand the provision of meeting spaces within libraries.

Explore the expansion of the network of Innovation Labs and continue to invest in
up-to-date equipment that supports business start-ups and entrepreneurs.

Continue a programme of modernisation introducing new digital services such as 
Wi-Fi printing and improving digital access to library buildings. 

Continue to develop the provision of library services, including digital engagement
with the development of reading and literacy. This includes using provisions such as
Immersive Reality to provide new and engaging interaction. 

Develop partnership which support more resilient, fairer and healthier
communities.

Introduce an ask a librarian service.

Explore 'Human Lending libraries' with the aim of reducing social isolation by giving
people someone to talk to.
 

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

AMBITION

Libraries promote the sharing of knowledge, connecting people
of all ages with valuable information and resources.

George W Bush

we will...

Page 189



AWARD WINNING LAB 

An Innovation Lab run by Gloucestershire Libraries has achieved national recognition for a series of
school workshops it delivered in partnership with SPP Pumps.The Contribution to Skills and Training
Award was given to SPP Pumps at the Pump Industry Awards 2020, recognising its work with the
Innovation Lab at Coleford Library.

It was among four finalists in that category at the awards, which were held recently after being
postponed last year due to Covid.

The STEAM (Science, Technology, Engineering , Arts and Maths) based workshops took place at the lab
throughout 2019 and were aimed at primary aged children from local schools, to raise awareness of
local job opportunities and to inspire future careers.

The sponsorship and support from SPP Pumps enabled more than 300 children to get hands on with
digital technology including 3D printing, virtual reality, digital design and 360° photography.

YOUR BOOK CLUB FACEBOOK GROUP

An online area on social media for users of the library service
to connect. This was formed during Covid-19 as a way of
connecting people through discussions of books and reading. 

As at April 2022, the book club has over 1.7K members. 

CONNECT
CASE STUDY 

Page 190



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Develop and promote reading through initiatives like the David Vaisey Prize, which is
an internal competition designed to encourage libraries to work with partners on
encouraging reading and literacy. 

Use librarian blogs and social media to promote reading. 

Use creativity within the library workforce and volunteers to deliver activities and
events.  

Provide Innovation Labs as spaces for customers to try new and emerging
technology and gain skills and confidence.

Creation of an Immersive Reality centre to encourage digital and creative
engagement - Oakley digital immersive and storytelling centre.  

Deliver a programme of online events and activities. 

Use creative ways to tackle social issues. 

Work with partners on a creative use of library spaces to develop and highlight new
and emerging talent. 

Deliver a programme of activities and events which are accessible to all as an Arts
Council National Portfolio Organisation.

 
 

CREATIVITY

Creativity and community equals libraries of
the future  

Page 191



Embed Gloucestershire Libraries at the forefront of existing cultural groups and
activities.

Develop and deliver a programme of touring events to library sites.

Expand and further develop creative writing workshops and activities, supporting
local talent.

Expand the network of our creative partnerships and identify existing creative talent
within the local community.

Challenge ourselves to come up with a creative approach to the promotion and
marketing of our services. 

Create a skills camp to develop talent within the library team and wider community. 

Further promote Gloucestershire libraries as spaces to trial local creative talent,
including creative businesses. 

Develop creative and flexible uses of library services when closed to the public to
offer cultural activity.

Use the network of libraries to deliver the Arts Award.  

Reflect the rich and diverse communities in library programming to make events
accessible to all. 

Expand and develop social prescribing.

Submit a bid to become a part of the Arts Council National Portfolio Organisation
funded scheme. 

 

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

AMBITION

Libraries are all things to all people

we will...

Page 192



ART OF LIBRARIES TOOLKIT

The toolkit marks the culmination of Art of Libraries, a three year 
pilot project to re-imagine libraries as a first place for creativity, 
discovery and play for children, families and young people.

The pilot was led by Create Gloucestershire with 
Gloucestershire Libraries, with investment from 
Esmée Fairbairn Foundation and support from Real 
Ideas and The Barnwood Trust.

During these uncertain times, libraries play a vital and 
tangible role in the local cultural, social and economic 
recovery. As trusted spaces in the community, libraries 
are needed more than ever; helping children and young 
people reconnect in a safe, local space, supporting their 
physical and mental wellbeing and engaging those 
individuals and communities who are most isolated or disadvantaged.

This toolkit is designed to inspire anyone working with libraries whether as a librarian, artist, arts company or
library user. It shares our learning about how to incubate creative and innovative approaches and
partnerships.

CREATIVITY
CASE STUDY 

Page 193



This page is intentionally left blank



Project Report
13 April 2021 - 29 September 2022

Have Your Say Gloucestershire
Gloucestershire Libraries have drafted a new Library Strategy, setting

out their aims and ambitions from 2023 to 2028.

Highlights

TOTAL
VISITS

979  

MAX VISITORS PER
DAY

111
NEW
REGISTRATI
ONS

0

ENGAGED
VISITORS

273  

INFORMED
VISITORS

560  

AWARE
VISITORS

796

Aware Participants 796

Aware Actions Performed Participants

Visited a Project or Tool Page 796

Informed Participants 560

Informed Actions Performed Participants

Viewed a video 0

Viewed a photo 0

Downloaded a document 243

Visited the Key Dates page 0

Visited an FAQ list Page 0

Visited Instagram Page 0

Visited Multiple Project Pages 304

Contributed to a tool (engaged) 273

Engaged Participants 273

Engaged Actions Performed
Registered Unverified Anonymous

Contributed on Forums 0 0 0

Participated in Surveys 1 0 272

Contributed to Newsfeeds 0 0 0

Participated in Quick Polls 0 0 0

Posted on Guestbooks 0 0 0

Contributed to Stories 0 0 0

Asked Questions 0 0 0

Placed Pins on Places 0 0 0

Contributed to Ideas 0 0 0

Visitors Summary

Pageviews Visitors

1 Jul '22 1 Sep '22

200

400

600

 

Page 195



Tool Type
Engagement Tool Name Tool Status Visitors

Registered Unverified Anonymous

Contributors

Survey Tool Gloucestershire Libraries have drafted a new

Library Stra...
Archived 506 1 0 272

Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

ENGAGEMENT TOOLS SUMMARY

0
FORUM TOPICS  

1
SURVEYS  

0
NEWS FEEDS  

0
QUICK POLLS  

0
GUEST BOOKS

0
STORIES  

0
Q&A S  

0
PLACES

Page 2 of 26

Page 196



Widget Type
Engagement Tool Name Visitors Views/Downloads

Document
DRAFT Lib Strategy 22 June-compressed.pdf 243 274

Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

INFORMATION WIDGET SUMMARY

1
DOCUMENTS  

0
PHOTOS  

0
VIDEOS  

0
FAQS  

0
KEY DATES

Page 3 of 26

Page 197



Visitors 506 Contributors 273 CONTRIBUTIONS 277

Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

ENGAGEMENT TOOL: SURVEY TOOL

Gloucestershire Libraries have drafted a new Library Strategy, setting
out their aims and ambitions from 2023 to 2028.

ABOUT YOU Are you currently a member of Gloucestershire Libraries?

262 (95.6%)

262 (95.6%)

12 (4.4%)

12 (4.4%)

Yes No

Question options

Page 4 of 26

Optional question (274 response(s), 3 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 198



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

Are you responding to this survey as a:(please select one answer)

227 (82.2%)

227 (82.2%)

9 (3.3%)

9 (3.3%)10 (3.6%)

10 (3.6%)8 (2.9%)

8 (2.9%)2 (0.7%)

2 (0.7%)15 (5.4%)

15 (5.4%)3 (1.1%)

3 (1.1%) 2 (0.7%)

2 (0.7%)

Library user Non-user (Gloucestershire resident, student or worker) Parent/carer of a library user Library staff

Community Library Trustee Volunteer Councillor Other (please specify)

Question options

Page 5 of 26

Optional question (276 response(s), 1 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 199



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

Which district do you live?

53 (19.2%)

53 (19.2%)

75 (27.2%)

75 (27.2%)

29 (10.5%)

29 (10.5%)

31 (11.2%)

31 (11.2%)

41 (14.9%)

41 (14.9%)

37 (13.4%)

37 (13.4%)

10 (3.6%)

10 (3.6%)

Gloucester Cheltenham Cotswolds Tewkesbury Stroud Forest of Dean

Other (please specify)

Question options

Page 6 of 26

Optional question (276 response(s), 1 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 200



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

Do you visit one of our library buildings to use the services on offer there?

261 (94.6%)

261 (94.6%)

15 (5.4%)

15 (5.4%)

Yes No

Question options

Page 7 of 26

Optional question (276 response(s), 1 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 201



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

Which library do you use?(please select the one you use the most)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

10 (3.9%)

10 (3.9%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

14 (5.4%)

14 (5.4%)

35 (13.5%)

35 (13.5%)

12 (4.6%)

12 (4.6%)

18 (6.9%)

18 (6.9%)

11 (4.2%)

11 (4.2%)

12 (4.6%)

12 (4.6%)

8 (3.1%)

8 (3.1%)

11 (4.2%)

11 (4.2%)

12 (4.6%)

12 (4.6%)8 (3.1%)

8 (3.1%)6 (2.3%)

6 (2.3%)4 (1.5%)

4 (1.5%)6 (2.3%)

6 (2.3%)9 (3.5%)

9 (3.5%)6 (2.3%)

6 (2.3%)13 (5.0%)

13 (5.0%)2 (0.8%)

2 (0.8%)6 (2.3%)

6 (2.3%)8 (3.1%)

8 (3.1%)3 (1.2%)

3 (1.2%)14 (5.4%)

14 (5.4%)4 (1.5%)

4 (1.5%)3 (1.2%)

3 (1.2%)11 (4.2%)

11 (4.2%)3 (1.2%)

3 (1.2%) 3 (1.2%)

3 (1.2%)

Berkeley Community Library Bishops Cleeve Library Brockworth Community Library Charlton Kings Library

Cheltenham Library Chipping Campden Library Churchdown Library Cinderford Library

Cirencester Library Coleford Library Dursley Library Fairford Library Gloucester Library

Hesters Way Library Hucclecote Library Longlevens Library Lydney Library Matson Library

Minchinhampton Community Library Moreton-in-Marsh Library Nailsworth Library Newent Library

Newnham Community Library Prestbury Library Quedgeley Library Stonehouse Library Stroud Library

Tewkesbury Library Tuffley Library Up Hatherley Library Winchcombe Library

Wotton-under-Edge Library

Question options

Page 8 of 26

Optional question (259 response(s), 18 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 202



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

On average, how often do you use library services by visiting the library buildings?

7 (2.7%)

7 (2.7%)

109 (42.1%)

109 (42.1%)

129 (49.8%)

129 (49.8%)

14 (5.4%)

14 (5.4%)

Once a day Once a week Once a month Once a year

Question options

Page 9 of 26

Optional question (259 response(s), 18 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 203



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

Do you use the Open+ system that allows members to use the library outside of
staffed hours?

4 (40.0%)

4 (40.0%)

6 (60.0%)

6 (60.0%)

Yes No

Question options

Page 10 of 26

Optional question (10 response(s), 267 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 204



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

If you don’t visit the library, please let us know your reasons why?

I only use online library services I stopped using libraries during the pandemic and haven't returned yet

I feel that I don't need the services public libraries offer I don't know how to use the library

I didn’t know the library was free There is no library close to me

The opening hours of my local library aren’t convenient for me Other (please specify)

Question options

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

9

3 3

1 1 1

4

3

Page 11 of 26

Optional question (16 response(s), 261 skipped)

Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 205



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

Do you use any of the following library services? (please tick all that apply)

Borrow items in person Use e-books and e-audio books Use e-magazines

Use of the computers and internet facilities Use of the free wi-fi Access the Virtual Reference Library

Access to business support, such as Growth Hubs, Ask Us Use of the Innovation Labs

Events and activities, such as Baby Bounce and Rhyme Use of library space e.g. Study space

Open+ (Bishops Cleeve only) None of the above Other (please specify)

Question options

25

50

75

100

125

150

175

200

225

250

275

240

96

49

57 59

48

10 9

49
42

4
8

32

Page 12 of 26

Optional question (276 response(s), 1 skipped)

Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 206



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

Where do you hear about library services and events? Please select all that apply

Library website Library email or newsletter Facebook Twitter Instagram Library staff

Friends or family Local newspapers I do not hear about what is happening Other (please specify)

Question options

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

117

140

41

12

6

90

41

15

24
22

Page 13 of 26

Optional question (275 response(s), 2 skipped)

Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 207



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

Overall, how satisfied are you with the following aspects of your public library
service?

N/a

Not at all satisfied

Unsatisfied

Satisfied

Very satisfied

Question options

50 100 150 200 250 300

Range of Books –
hardbacks, paperbacks,

large...

Range of eBooks and
eAudiobooks

Range of eMagazines

Public PCs and printing

Virtual reference library

Opening hours of your
public library

Overall physical
condition and

appearance of ...

Programming of events
and activities at your ...

Standard of customer
service

Study space

Local history and
archives

Newspapers and
magazines

85

27

21

34

27

61

103

32

172

28

35

17

150

81

57

69

64

166

138

110

86

81

86

54

20

28

9

8

9

29

20

21

4

8

22

21

3

2

2

1

4

2

4

2

2

2

8

14

126

171

145

156

10

3

93

5

141

123

161

Page 14 of 26

Optional question (273 response(s), 4 skipped)

Question type: Likert Question

Page 208



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

Overall, how satisfied are you with your public library service?

121 (44.2%)

121 (44.2%)

139 (50.7%)

139 (50.7%)

13 (4.7%)

13 (4.7%) 1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

Not at all satisfied Not satisfied Satisfied Very satisfied

Question options

Page 15 of 26

Optional question (274 response(s), 3 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 209



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

THE VISIONThe following statements have been taken from the Vision on page 10 of
the strategy.How do you feel about these statements?

Strongly disagree

Disagree

Agree

Strongly agree

Question options

50 100 150 200 250 300

Gloucestershire
Libraries are

welcoming, incl...

Libraries encourage
connections and

creativit...

Libraries provide
equality of access to

readi...

Libraries champion
sustainability and

promoti...

Libraries are vibrant
safe spaces?

Libraries provide
trusted information?

Libraries offer learning
opportunities?

90

72

104

62

90

121

116

154

155

144

161

146

137

139

22

32

12

35

26

5

9

1

2

1

1

2

1

2

Page 16 of 26

Optional question (272 response(s), 5 skipped)

Question type: Likert Question

Page 210



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

THE STRATEGY DOCUMENT How much do you agree with the following statements?

Strongly disagree

Disagree

Agree

Strongly agree

Question options

50 100 150 200 250 300

The Library Strategy is
easy to understand

The case studies are
relevant

The Core offer
demonstrates what I

can expect...

The ambitions within
Core are relevant

The ambitions within
Climate are relevant

The ambitions within
Community are relevant

The ambitions within
Connect are relevant

The ambitions within
Creativity are relevant

Do you feel the strategy
reflects your opinio...

33

33

45

37

42

50

41

39

45

181

178

163

167

161

153

160

161

145

33

20

26

24

19

20

21

22

29

2

3

1

3

7

4

5

4

9

Page 17 of 26

Optional question (252 response(s), 25 skipped)

Question type: Likert Question

Page 211



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

Do you feel you know more about what the library service has to offer after reading
this Strategy?

186 (76.9%)

186 (76.9%)

56 (23.1%)

56 (23.1%)

No Yes

Question options

Page 18 of 26

Optional question (242 response(s), 35 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 212



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

What is your overall opinion of the strategy?

46 (19.2%)

46 (19.2%)

167 (69.6%)

167 (69.6%)

24 (10.0%)

24 (10.0%) 3 (1.3%)

3 (1.3%)

Very poor Poor Good Excellent

Question options

Page 19 of 26

Optional question (240 response(s), 37 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 213



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

Equality questionnaire: some information about youThe following questions are to
ensure we take the views and needs of differing people into consideration and to

understand your responses to the previous questions a little better. It is a legal req...

68 (25.8%)

68 (25.8%)

177 (67.0%)

177 (67.0%)

18 (6.8%)

18 (6.8%) 1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

Another gender – please identify Prefer not to say Female Male

Question options

Page 20 of 26

Optional question (264 response(s), 13 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 214



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

Is the gender you identity with the same as your sex registered at birth?

242 (92.4%)

242 (92.4%)

2 (0.8%)

2 (0.8%) 18 (6.9%)

18 (6.9%)

Prefer not to say No Yes

Question options

Page 21 of 26

Optional question (262 response(s), 15 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 215



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

How old are you?

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

5 (1.9%)

5 (1.9%)

23 (8.6%)

23 (8.6%)

34 (12.7%)

34 (12.7%)

32 (12.0%)

32 (12.0%)

51 (19.1%)

51 (19.1%)

72 (27.0%)

72 (27.0%)

26 (9.7%)

26 (9.7%)

23 (8.6%)

23 (8.6%)

Prefer not to say 75 or older 65-74 55-64 45-54 35-44 25-34 18-24 16-17

Question options

Page 22 of 26

Optional question (267 response(s), 10 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 216



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

Which race or ethnicity best describes you?

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

1 (0.4%)

215 (80.8%)

215 (80.8%)

2 (0.8%)

2 (0.8%)
14 (5.3%)

14 (5.3%)

23 (8.6%)

23 (8.6%) 6 (2.3%)

6 (2.3%)

Another race or ethnicity – please identify: Prefer not to say White: European White: Irish White: British

Mixed Race: Other Mixed race: Asian & White Mixed Race: Black & White Black/British Black: African

Asian/British Asian: Other Asian/British Asian: Chinese

Question options

Page 23 of 26

Optional question (266 response(s), 11 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 217



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

Do you have a disability, long-term illness, or health condition?

54 (20.4%)

54 (20.4%)

187 (70.6%)

187 (70.6%)

24 (9.1%)

24 (9.1%)

Prefer not to say No Yes

Question options

Page 24 of 26

Optional question (265 response(s), 12 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 218



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

Which of the following terms best describes your sexual orientation?

3 (1.2%)

3 (1.2%)

9 (3.5%)

9 (3.5%)

2 (0.8%)

2 (0.8%)

4 (1.6%)

4 (1.6%)

181 (70.2%)

181 (70.2%)

54 (20.9%)

54 (20.9%)

5 (1.9%)

5 (1.9%)

Other – please identify: Prefer not to say Heterosexual or straight Gay woman or lesbian Gay man

Bisexual Asexual

Question options

Page 25 of 26

Optional question (258 response(s), 19 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 219



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 29 September 2022

What do you consider your religion to be?

2 (0.8%)

2 (0.8%)

123 (47.3%)

123 (47.3%)

2 (0.8%)

2 (0.8%)

88 (33.8%)

88 (33.8%)

41 (15.8%)

41 (15.8%)
4 (1.5%)

4 (1.5%)

Other religion – please identify: Prefer not to say No religion Jewish Christian Buddhist

Question options

Page 26 of 26

Optional question (260 response(s), 17 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 220



ash

REPORT TITLE: Financial Monitoring Report 2022/23

Cabinet Date  23rd November 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Lynden Stowe, Deputy Leader/Cabinet Member for Finance and Change 

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To provide an update on the year-end forecast for the 2022/23 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets

Recommendations

That the Cabinet:

1. Notes the forecast revenue year end position based on September 2022 
(Period 6) forecasts for the 2022/23 financial year, which is an overspend 
of £9.930 million all of which relates to non-Covid-19 expenditure. The 
Covid-19 related expenditure and income outturn is forecast to be a 
balanced position. 

2. Notes the action in the report to reduce the in year overspend currently 
identified.

3. Notes the forecast capital year end position as at the end of August 2022, 
forecast made in September 2022 (P6) of £151.125 million against the 
current budget of £163.924 million. 

4. Notes the intention to re-profile the capital budget to reflect the current 
forecast.

5. Approves the £225k decrease to the capital programme and changes as 
detailed in Section B

Reasons for 
recommendations

To ensure that Councillors and the public are made aware of the Council’s 
current financial position. 

To utilise funding provided by the Government across a number of financial 
years, in line with the purpose of the grant.

To reflect the effects of minor changes within the Capital Programme.
Resource 
Implications

These are detailed within the report

Page 221

Agenda Item 11



Background 
Documents

MTFS Report to 16th February 2022 County Council and Financial Monitoring 
Report to Cabinet 21st September 2022

Statutory Authority

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

County Wide

Officer Paul Blacker, Finance Director (01452) 328999 
 Paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926

jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Timeline Not applicable

Page 222

mailto:Paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Revenue Expenditure 2022/23

A. Revenue Forecast Outturn Position 2022/23

1. The current forecast of the year end revenue position is an overspend of £9.930 million 
against the revenue budget of £521.330 million, based on forecasts in September 2022 
(Period 6) after utilising grants for Covid-19 expenditure. 

2. The largest variances are the £11.642 million forecast overspend in Children and Families 
and £1.350 million forecast overspend in Economy, Environment & Infrastructure –partially 
offset by the £3.439 million underspend in Technical & Countywide. 

3. The Council’s forecast additional cost from the Covid-19 pandemic (excluding expenditure 
funded from specific grants) is estimated to be £8.674 million in 2022/23 which matches the 
funding carried froward from the 2021/22 Covid-19 Emergency Grant. A balanced position 
is therefore forecast for Covid-19 related activity. 

4. An analysis of the current forecast outturn position is provided in the table and narrative 
below. 

Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position September Forecasts 2022 (P6)

Variance

Revised 
2022/23 
Budget

Forecast 
excluding 
Covid-19

%

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 %

Adults 164,055 164,055 0 0 0 0.00%

Prevention & Wellbeing 35,693 35,535 -158 0 -158 -0.44%

Children & Families 142,961 157,953 14,992 3,350 11,642 8.14%

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 83,909 85,259 1,350 0 1,350 1.61%

Community Safety 21,087 21,330 243 8 235 1.11%

Corporate Resources 39,578 45,662 6,084 5,316 768 1.94%

Total for Services 487,283 509,794 22,511 8,674 13,837 2.84%

Technical & Countywide 34,047 30,140 -3,907 0 -3,907 -11.48%

Total 521,330 539,934 18,604 8,674 9,930 1.90%

Additional Funding Covid-19 
including carry forward to be 
allocated

8,674 0 -8,674 -8,674 

Revised Total 530,004 539,934 9,930 0 9,930 1.87%

Service Area

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance

Covid-19 
Forecast

Page 223



Adult Social Care 

5. Adult Social Care (ASC) is forecasting a balanced position, with an underlying overspend of 
£2.170 million. The outturn forecast includes unachieved MTFS savings targets totalling £2.470 
million for 2022/23 and £2.896 million brought forward from 2021/22. Although no formal 
request is being made to Cabinet to use ASC reserves at this point, the current forecast 
overspend could be covered within the Vulnerable Adults Reserve if required at the end of the 
financial year. 

6. Adult Social Care reserves currently stand at £11.926 million. £9.164 million as Vulnerable 
Adults Reserve, £2.144 million Care Act Reserve, and £618k Ordinary Residents Reserve.

7. There are several significant ongoing financial risks impacting on Adult Social Care budgets; 
the ongoing impact of COVID-, responding to winter/hospital pressures, the Adult 
Transformation Programme (ATP), Assurance Self Evaluation report and work commencing on 
the Adult Social Care Reforms.

8. Learning Disabilities (LD) External Care including the Transforming Care Programme (TCP) is 
forecasting a £1.274 million underspend, which includes £433k of savings achieved to date. 
This forecast acknowledges that some of the current individuals under the TCP will not now 
move during 2022/23, which is an underspend of £1.380 million. LD External Care budget 
excluding the TCP underspend is overspending by £106k relating to increases in ongoing 
cases. The underspend relating to the TCP is a one-off underspend, being used to cover the 
overall overspend against Disabilities this financial year, as the funding will be required when 
the individuals move in future financial years.

9. Older People (OP) and Physical Disabilities (PD) External Care is reporting a £4.238 million 
overspend, which includes £1.083 million of savings and additional income achieved to date. 
The overspend is split across individual service budgets with OP forecast at £964k and PD 
£3.274 million. The current overspend relates to the brought forward underlying financial 
position, voids relating to homes run by a major provider (forecast £1.605 million, partially 
covered by COVID grant last financial year), increased cover for bad debts and additional 
demand and winter/hospital pressures.

10.The Mental Health position, as calculated by the Gloucestershire Health and Care NHST 
Finance Team, is a £686k overspend. A long-term plan continues to be developed with 
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Trust to address the underlying overspend. The S117 
backdated refunds for former residents discharged from the service will continue to be 
progressed during 2022/23 with refunds of £520k being paid and £960k remaining.

11.Housing, Community Equipment Service and Telecare is reporting a £814k underspend. 
Funding held by the Programme Director – Housing, Health and Care is reporting an 
underspend of £375k, with Telecare forecasting to underspend by £669k, which is being offset 
by an overspend of £231k in the Community Equipment budget. The Programme Director is 
undertaking further negotiations with the NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board to secure 
recurring funding for the Housing Strategy.

12.Other Services comprise of staffing budgets for Adult Social Care, as well as several specific 
commissioned contracts. Forecasts for these services net to a £373k overspend, including the 
following significant variances:

 £2.094 million significant overspend largely relating to 2022/23 MTFS savings of 
£1.708 million. 

Page 224



 £1.721 million significant underspends, mainly due to vacancies: £984k OP/PD 
Integrated Social Care Management (ISCM) largely due to vacancies; £614k LD 
Assessment, Support Planning & Management Teams; and £122k net underspend 
comprising of smaller variances. 

13. The Unallocated Budget is reported as £1.039 million underspent, which is currently used to 
offset the External Care overspend.

Prevention and Wellbeing 

14. Services within this area include Public Health, Supporting People and a number of smaller 
budgets covering the prevention hub team and grants. In total Prevention Services are 
forecast to be £158k under-spent with the significant part of the variance due to supporting 
people framework lots not being called off due to grant funding being used prior to further 
procurements and delays due to staff capacity.

15. The Covid-19 grants (COMF and Test and Trace) carried forward totalled £8.262 million and 
this funding is committed in year to supporting the recovery of vulnerable groups and 
communities following the impact of the pandemic.

16. In total Prevention and Well Being is forecast to be £695k under-spent. Public Health services 
are funded by a ring-fenced grant which, if unspent, is required to be carried forward in a 
specific reserve. The Public Health (PH) position is forecast to be £537k under-spent as a 
consequence of activity related costs in sexual health and healthy lifestyles, commitments 
against contracts for healthy lifestyles and substance misuse and lower staffing costs in year. 
Any balance will be transferred to the PH reserve at year end therefore the forecast under-
spend, net of the transfer to the PH Reserve, is £158k.

Children & Families

17.The outturn forecast for non-DSG funded services is an over-spend of £14.992 million (10.49% 
of budget). Included within these figures is the forecast additional cost of the impact of Covid-19 
on budgets which totals £3.35 million and will be covered by COVID grants brought from 2021/22. 
This results in an underlying forecast over-spend of £11.642 million. The over-spend continues 
to be primarily against the external placements budget, due to increasing numbers of children in 
care and the cost of placements due to limited market availability, both of which are national 
issues. The forecast also includes an estimate for the additional cost of contract uplifts for home 
to school transport providers to support the sustainability of the market due to rising costs. 

18.Additional forecast expenditure linked to the impact of Covid-19 covers two areas including the 
additional cost of accommodation for care leavers, with the majority of care leavers planned to 
be moved to more appropriate accommodation by the end of September, and support to 
vulnerable pupils. 

19.Activity levels within social care continue to cause significant budgetary pressures, in particular 
for external placements and social care staffing. Referrals so far in 2022/23 are in-line with the 
2021/22 average whilst children in care numbers in August were 872, compared to 2021/22 
average of 830. Gloucestershire’s number and rate of children in care (67 per 10,000 children in 
care) is above statistical neighbours (54) and the same as the England average (67).

Page 225



20.The current forecast over-spend against the external placement budget is £9.737 million (24.5% 
above budget). The forecast also includes the impact of Covid-19 on care leavers which totals 
£3 million, resulting in an underlying over-spend of £6.737 million. The underlying over-spend is 
due to the number and cost of residential placements (58 FTEs) and support packages for young 
people. The forecast has increased by £2.37 million since the last report due to the unforeseen 
need to accommodate young people with complex needs. There are currently 491 external 
placements, of which 126 are residential and 140 supported living placements. 

21.Against safeguarding staffing budgets, there is a forecast over-spend of £2.6 million (12.3% 
above budget). Turnover of staff continues to rise and has been between 24% and 28.7% over 
the last six months. At the end of August there were 126 agency workers in post, and this 
compares to 85 agency workers in August 2021. To reduce costs action has already been taken 
to replace interims with permanent appointments and increase the number of newly qualified 
staff.

22.Services for children with disabilities are forecasting to over-spend by £1.124 million due to the 
increased cost and number of care packages and agency costs within disability service staffing.

23.Home to school transport is forecast to overspend by £1.2 million which is the estimate for the 
additional cost of contract uplifts for providers to support the sustainability of the market due to 
rising costs and ensure the availability of provision. 

24.Offsetting variances include in-house fostering and adoption services which are under-spent by 
£694k due to activity being below budgeted assumptions at the beginning of the year and also 
funding allocated for commissioning development being released to offset placements costs 
(£700k).

25.To continue to support vulnerable families during this year, Gloucestershire has been awarded 
£5.286 million from the DfE to provide holiday activities, food provision and essential items and 
a further grant of £3.692m for the Household Support Fund has just been awarded for the period 
October to March 2023.

26.To address the significant over-spend position the senior leadership team has established a 
budget working group which is meeting weekly to review the budget recovery position. Further 
impetus will be provided by a Financial Recovery Oversight Group comprising of the Council 
Leader, Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer, along with children’s services senior 
leadership. The financial recovery strategy aligns with the improvement strategy by focussing on 
early intervention to avoid the need for a costly social care response and bringing the child in 
care population more in line with statistical neighbours over the coming years. This will involve a 
range of workstreams, each with a designated lead, which aim to impact on both numbers and 
associated costs, including:  
 Further developing our edge of care offer to support children at home and avoid entry into 

care, linking with youth support and early help teams.
 Continuing to develop our permanence planning to reduce drift and delay by achieving 

permanence or reunification as appropriate in a timely manner.
 Reviewing the entire children in care population to ensure care packages continue to reflect 

needs, ensuring value for money and taking advantage of where costs can be reduced while 

Page 226



continuing to deliver the right outcomes for the young person.  This will include work with 
partners around their contributions.

 Transformation of the in-house fostering service to drive up capacity, improve matching and 
increase family/connected carers.

 Continuing to develop our own placement capacity with providers to exert a greater influence 
on the market and control costs.

 Detailed review of staffing establishment, supply lines for practitioners and use of agency 
workers.

 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position

27.Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be over-spent by £27.072 million 
in 2022/23, which includes the deficit carry forward of £20.8 million on high needs and the in-
year deficit budget for high needs of £6.347 million. The deficit budget results from setting 
realistic budgets within high needs services, reflecting growth trends and existing activity 
demands on special school and independent provision and top up budgets.

28.Gloucestershire’s high needs block, like most LAs nationally, is currently in deficit and in the 
Autumn, we will be participating in the second tranche of the DfE programme of reviewing Local 
Authority expenditure on SEND ‘Delivering Better Value.’ The review will assess local processes 
and plans, carry out data analysis leading to identifying the cost drivers and the cause of the 
pressure on budgets and look at what action can be taken to resolve the deficit position setting 
out improvement and DSG management plans. 

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure

29.Economy, Environment, and Infrastructure are currently forecasting a overspend position of 
£1.35million against a total budget of £83.984 million which is 1.61% of the overall budget. 

30.£450k of the overspend is due to additional investment on roads and repairs in year and £900k 
relates to loss of income which is split £800k against parking and £100k for libraries. The loss 
of income forecast is based on quarter two actual income achieved which will fluctuate from 
month to month, so we hope to be able to firm up the numbers as we go through the year. 

Community Safety Directorate

31.The Community Safety Directorate has a forecast year end position which shows an overspend 
of £243k including costs attributed to COVID-19 of £8k. Excluding COVID 19 costs the forecast 
outturn shows an overspend of £235k.

32.There are some underlying risks to achieving this position which include:

 Potential higher overtime costs due to vacancies and sickness. Pressure within the 
NHS has seen some long-term sick operational firefighting staff waiting longer than 
anticipated for treatment. Staff are required to back-fill to sustain agreed staffing levels 
on station.

 Within Coroners, on-going negotiations with pathologists over post mortem 
examination charges.

Page 227



Corporate Resources

33.Corporate Resources are forecasting an overspend of £6.084 million (15.37% of the budget). 
Included within these figures is the forecast additional cost of the impact of COVID-19 on 
budgets which totals £5.316 million giving a revised overspend of £768k of which £747k relates 
to additional external cost for Children’s cases within the Legal Services budgets.

34.The additional forecast expenditure of £5.316 million for the impact of Covid-19 includes 
£4.898 million for costs associated with post covid recovery.

Technical and Countywide

35.Following the in-year service budget realignment of specific contingencies and corporate 
transport savings, the forecast outturn position for Technical and Countywide budgets is a 
£3.907 million underspend. The main areas of variance are highlighted in the paragraphs 
below.

36.Positive interest rate credits on cash balances are forecast to produce a £2.209 million under 
spend during the year. This is lower than previous years as a result of lower interest rates 
introduced to mitigate the economic impact of Covid-19. 

37.The 2022/23 budget includes a savings contingency. This was approved by Council to reflect 
the high-risk nature of some of the savings programmes in demand led areas in 2022/23. 
£1.230 million is being used to support the overall budget position for 2022/23. 

38.The approved 2022/23 budget included a provision of £1.124 million for the additional costs 
associated with an additional 1.25% social care funding increase within the national insurance 
contributions. The Government announced under the recent autumn mini budget that this 
increase will be reversed in November 2022. Formal approval of the House of Commons for 
the mini budget is awaited. A budget saving of £468k for 2022/23 has been reflected in the 
Technical and Countywide forecast. Full year impact will incorporate within the 23/24 MTFS 
budget proposals. 

2022-23 Pay Awards

39.The approved 2022/23 budget included a provision of 2% increase for staff salaries. The latest 
information on the national negotiation process is that a final offer of a flat rate increase of 
£1,925 will be awarded to council employees (excluding Firefighters and Teachers). We have 
now received and will be implemented at the end of November. The impact of this pay award 
has been assessed and it is estimated that this would result in an additional cost in 2022/23 of 
£7.038 million. It is proposed that this would be funded from a transfer of £1.8 million from the 
pay & prices contingency included within the budget, leaving a funding shortfall of £5.238 
million which will be funded from General Reserves. The future year impact of this award is 
being considered under the current MTFS review process. 

Options for improving the financial position 

Page 228



40.The council is currently reviewing all options for improving the financial position by year end. 
These include delays the filling of vacant posts and making sure these are reflected in 
projections as well as considered what other one of measures can be undertaken to reduce in 
year spend.

B. Capital Expenditure 

Current Spend 2022/23

41.The current capital budget for 2022/23 is £163.924 million. Actuals spend against the capital 
programme based on forecasts made in September (P6) is £38.894 million.

Budget and Forecast Outturn Position 2022/23

42.The forecast outturn position for 2022/23 is £151.125 million, against the budget of £163.924 
million, giving a forecast in-year slippage of £12.799 million.

43.The current year budgets will be re-profiled in October to reflect the current forecast spend in 
each service areas and the revised budget set at £151.125 million. This ensures the latest 
figures are included in the MTFS 2022/23. This does not affect the whole life cost of capital 
schemes. 

Page 229



Service Area

Reprofiled
Budget
2022/23

Current
Year

Spend
2022/23

% Current
Year

Spend
Against

Reprofiled
Budget

Forecast
Outturn
2022/23

Forecast
Year-end
Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Capital Receipts Works Before Sale 0 0
Adults 11,452 3,468 30 10,984 -468
Childrens Services

Schools 33,556 10,812 32 24,917 -8,639
Non-Schools 2,585 137 5 2,796 211

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure
Transport & Highways 79,874 22,268 28 79,874 0
Planning & Economic Development 5,434 105 2 5,057 -377
Environment & Waste 1,078 6 1 1,078 0
Libraries & Registration 1,170 68 6 770 -400

Community Safety
Fire and Rescue Service 734 141 19 781 47
Trading Standards 39 16 41 39 0

Corporate Services
AMPS 9,813 1,554 16 8,098 -1,715
ICT Projects 6,234 319 5 4,836 -1,398
Business Service Centre 145 0 0 145 0
Archives & Information Management 90 0 0 30 -60
Corporate Resouces Misc 0 0 0 0 0
Digital Innovation (Customer) 20 0 0 20 0
Investment and Transformation Fund 11,700 0 0 11,700 0

Total 163,924 38,894 24 151,125 -12,799

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2022/23

Adults Capital Programme 2022/23

44.The Adults capital programme is forecasting slippage of £468k against the current budget. This 
is mainly due to delays to the GIS office refurbishment and Home Ownership for Long-term 
Disabled (H.O.L.D) Scheme.

Schools Capital Programme 2022/23

45.The schools capital programme is forecasting slippage of £8.639 million against the current 
budget. This is mainly due to the delay in progression of the New Greenacres Primary 
Academy for Bishop’s Cleeve. This is primarily associated with the need to provide additional 
information to support the planning application.

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure Capital Programme 2022/23

Planning and Economic Development

46.The Planning and Economic Development Capital programme is forecasting slippage of £377k. 
This includes the Flood Alleviation Capital Programme which is forecasting slippage of £398k 

Page 230



against the current year budget and the Strategic Transport Model project is forecasting 
advanced spend of £21k, approved budget is available to cover this advanced spend. 

47.The Flood Alleviation slippage relates to five distinct projects, three of which are GCC-led and 
two Gloucester City Council. The delays in the GCC schemes are primarily associated with a 
shift in focus from the original planned approaches based on initial modelling and feasibility 
scoping, for example adoption of a more holistic, catchment-based approach as opposed to a 
single flood alleviation scheme close to communities. Delays with the Gloucester City Council 
schemes are primarily a result of supplier and contract management complications and delays 
with key project milestones.

Libraries and Registration

48.The Libraries Capital programme is forecasting slippage of £400k. This relates to the Libraries 
Customer (Services) Programme due to delays in the anticipated rollout of Open+ caused by 
the relocation of libraries taking priority in year. Also, the developer funded Bishops Cleeve 
library project which has been delayed due to implementation of the Oakley library project.

Corporate Resources Capital Programme 2022/23

Asset Management & Property Services (AMPS)

49.The AMPS Capital Programme is forecasting slippage of £1,715 million; this is due to slippage 
on the various schemes below: -

 £350k Cotswold Hub – Lewis Lane, due to the works required and the ongoing dialog 
with service areas the project has been delayed, a contractor has now been appointed 
and works will start shortly.

 £291k Coroners Court Refrigeration Replacement, due to delays in global markets, 
development of new refrigerants and a change in legislation. 

 £200k County Offices Cheltenham – Refurb & Reconfiguration, due to ongoing lease 
conversations and agreements being finalised the project has been delayed. 

 £300k Social Care Services Remodelling, due to the changing face of agile working 
and ongoing property decisions with teams.

 £500k Quayside – Multi-Storey Car Park, awaiting confirmation from other parties on 
phase 3 of the quayside development opportunities.

ICT Projects

50.The ICT Capital Programme is forecasting slippage of £1.398 million against the current budget 
mostly due to the WAN/LAN scheme, due to the project board changing the scope of the 
deliverables to ensure focus on the key deliverable of an improved network. This has resulted in 
elements of the project (e.g. UPS provision) being moved to 2023/4.

Other Services Capital Programmes

51.All other services are forecast to spend within £250k of the current budgets.

Changes to the Capital Programme in 2022/23 and future years

Transport & Highways

52. It is proposed that Cabinet support a net increase of £277k in the Highways capital budget as 
summarised below:

Page 231



 £30k Revenue contribution Barriers to Mobility carried forward 21-22 funding towards 
the Pilley bridge Pedestrian Crossing Project. 

 £119k developer contribution towards Lydney Highway Strategy, Albert Street junction 
project.

 £2k contribution from Gorsley and Kilcot Parish Council towards the Oxenhall Lane 
Footbridge Community Offer project.

 -£11k developer contribution from the Bus Shelter - Gretton Road Winchcombe project 
and returned to the developer. This contribution is specifically granted for the shelter 
only and the Parish which would take responsibility for maintenance of the shelter do 
not want it.

 -£4k developer contribution which as previously overallocated.
 -£2k contribution from First Great Western for the Cheltenham Spa Railway Station RTPI 

project. The capital project is now complete, it has been confirmed the remaining 
contribution can be used to support the revenue costs of implementation.

 £13k Revenue contribution from the Rural Mobility Grant Fund to finance the purchase 
of ticketing hardware for the Rural Mobility Minibuses.

 £130k Revenue contribution from the Highways Locals revenue budget to finance 
Highways Locals capital projects.

Corporate Resources

53. It is proposed that Cabinet support a £502k transfer to revenue: -
 £500k C&F ICT Systems Rationalisation Scheme in ICT (£250k 22/23 & £250k 23/24). 

There is Capital approval and funding held in the Capital Fund to support this transfer. C&F 
ICT Systems Rationalisation scheme is going to be used for the move of liquid logic and other 
future on premise social care systems to the cloud. Cloud-based schemes are now assessed 
to be revenue in nature.

 £2k Housing Land Availability Database unspent revenue contribution no longer required as 
the Capital project is complete.

Overall

54.  As a result of the above changes, the overall capital programme will decrease by £225k. 

Page 232


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 28-Day Emergency Fostering, PACE and Remand Beds
	6 Children & Families Capital Programme Update
	7 Home to School and Social Care Transport
	8 Support to Refugees on the Homes for Ukraine (HFU) Scheme
	9 Gloucestershire Road Safety Policy
	Appendix A Draft Road Safety Policy Draft
	Appendix B - Road Safety Consultation
	Project Report
	13 April 2021 - 12 September 2022

	Have Your Say Gloucestershire
	Gloucestershire County Council Road Safety Policy
	Highlights



	10 Library Strategy 2023-2028
	DRAFT Lib Strategy 09 Nov 2022-compressed
	1_Project_Detailed_Report_Gloucestershire_Libraries_Have_Drafted_A_New_Library_Strategy_Setting_Out_Their_Aims_And_Ambitions__13_April_21_To_29_September_22
	Project Report
	13 April 2021 - 29 September 2022

	Have Your Say Gloucestershire
	Gloucestershire Libraries have drafted a new Library Strategy, setting out their aims and ambitions from 2023 to 2028.
	Highlights



	11 Financial Monitoring Report 2022/23

